China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd.
PERAREERERAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESHEEMRIZERAR)
Stock Code &% : 1117

ERAFRREFARAETEXS

- i e

2019

ANNUAL REPORT £ #

r!"}r"E::FF!.Xﬂ
E d

Ty TR A

II'“ 7
o N e .



CORPORATE PROFILE
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Modern
Dairy” together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is currently the
largest dairy farming operator and fresh raw milk producer in the
People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") in terms of its herd size and
milk yield. Modern Dairy operates 26 dairy farms in the PRC with
dairy cows over 233 thousand heads and annual milk yield over 1.39
million tons. The Company initiated the production model of “Zero-
distance Integration of Forage Grass Planting, Cows Breeding and Milk
Processing within Two Hours”, which is the first and the only enterprise
at present in the PRC that applies integrated production model with
SGS certification. Modern Dairy’s products have been awarded the
Gold Prize of Monde Selection which is generally regarded as the
“Nobel Prize” in the food industry, for the past six consecutive years.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FEIRRHMEZRER D E

HIGHLIGHTS
S

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER BZ12A31BLLEE
2019 2018 Change
20194 20184F #E)

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) (BR4EBIZIBASN - FrE & EE L
million unless otherwise stated) ARBTARE D BEERTIR)

Highlights BE
Revenue WA 5,514.2 4,956.8 11.2%
Gross profit before raw milk FERHD A FEAEMOER 2,101.9 1,546.1 35.9%
fair value adjustments
Cash EBITDA (Nete ) I8 £ EBITDAM®ED 2,045.5 1,528.4 33.8%
Net gearing ratio M2 FHERR R (=2 77.0% 97.4% (20.4) ppt
Eha-1]
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of ZNATHEAB AEE ST, 341.3 (496.1) 837.4
the Company (E18)
Net operating cash inflow LIRS FRA 2,049.1 1,406.0 45.7%
Free cash flow MNote3) B AR e meEy 1,023.2 344.4 197.1%
Net asset value per share (RMB) Nete4 &% & 2 ) F{E (AR ¥ o) Wis 1.12 1.07 4.7%
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) BILAEF, (E1E) (AREE)
Basic HAK 5.54 cents?? (8.15) cents?>  13.69 cents?
Diluted e 5.52 cents? (8.15) cents? 13.67 cents?
Annualised milk yield of KIAFFLES 10.6 10.1 5.0%
milkable cow (tons/head) (W@, 58)
Annualised milk yield (tons '0,000) FEDNE(BM) 139 128 8.6%
Herd scale (heads) ERAE(EE) 233,618 231,530 2,088
e Modern Dairy's pure milk was for the sixth consecutive year o  RAKEMEFNEESFETRRMMEA

awarded the Gold Prize of Monde Selection.

o The brand of Modern Dairy has been shortlisted as the e
"Strategic Partner of China’s Aerospace Industry”, marking
our premium quality branded milk widely recognized by all
sectors of the society.
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Production volume of raw milk (tons’0,000)

REmEE (BW)

CAGR/ CAGR/
EEFIYRRE 1 85%

2017 2018 2019 2017
Annual milk yield of milkable cow (tons/head/year) 4
R4 FEE (W 8] F) ®

9.4
9.1
8.9
8.4
8.1
7.8

] I I
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Notes:

1. Cash EBITDA is defined as profit/(loss) before finance costs and tax
having added back: i) depreciation for property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets charged to profit or loss; ii) amortization; iii)
other gains and losses, net; iv) impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net of reversal; and v) loss arising from changes in
fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows.

2. The net gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of the amount of
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank
deposits as a percentage of the total equity.

3. Free cash flow is defined as net cash from operating activities having
added back net cash used in investing activities.

4. Net assets at year end divided by the number of ordinary shares in
issue at the end of the Reporting Period.
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Sales volume of raw milk (tons’0,000)

REE (BW)

HEFWHERE 1 9.0%

2018 2019
10.6
10.1
2017 2018 2019
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FARM MAP
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2019 was a very memorable year for China as our country was
celebrating its 70" birthday. While the global economy slowed
down, the domestic economy remained generally stable. GDP

grew by 6.1% over the last year which showed steady growth and
demonstrated the strength of China.

During the year, all the staff of the Company worked together,
achieving excellent results. Our financial performance has made
a full-scale and high-quality leap with total revenue recorded
RMB5,514.2 million and net profit turning from a deficit to a profit
of RMB349.9 million. We have made it through tough times and the
Company has returned to profitability.

-
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CEO'S STATEMENT

Fifteen-year persistence
on exclusively producing
pasture milk

TEFESF
R 47 4 5 47

( Ms. Gao Lina,
SEMzt

Chief Executive Officer
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CEO’S STATEMENT

The upstream dairy industry continued to forge ahead in 2019. With
the continuous deepening of favorable policies for the revitalization
of the dairy industry, the levels of the scale, standardization
and systematism of the domestic dairy industry have gradually
increased, and the price of raw milk has entered an rising cycle. The
dairy industry is recovering, entering a new period.

We continued to further our collaborative partnerships both
upstream and downstream. With introducing New Hope Dairy
Company Limited (“New Hope”) as a strategic shareholder, we
are forming strong alliances both upstream and downstream. We
continued to build the complete industrial chain and to create pure
and fresh consumption experience for consumers together with our
downstream customers.

Healthy cows and excellent quality of raw milk are of vital
importance to us. During the year, we took a multi-pronged
approach to increase raw milk volume and improved herd health.
Adhering to the philosophy that “Cows are Fundamentals”, we
ensured the comfort and safety of the cows. The total annual raw
milk yield reached 1.39 million tons, with the unit yield reaching
10.6 tons per milkable cow, both breaking a record.

Over the past year, we thoroughly implemented "increase,
decrease, replace and stop” measures by all means. The cash cost
per kilogram of raw milk fell significantly to RMB2.32, breaking
a record low. In 2019, we purchased 1.42 million tons of silage,
breaking a record high. We also continued to raise our standards
for silage procurement and to secure it's cost-effectiveness.

2019%F - R EHBRBELETIRARN—F - BB
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In the past year, we continued to adhere to quality which we are
proud of. At the 2019 Monde Selection, our “Premium Pure Milk”
product was once again awarded the Gold Award, setting a record
for six consecutive championship, and won the “International High
Quality Trophy”. Our “Gold Award Pure Milk” product took part in
the evaluation for the first time and won the Gold Award. Making
an appearance at the 10" China Dairy Congress and the 2019 China
Dairy Exhibition, our products demonstrated to the world the
production model of “Zero-distance Integration of Forage Grass
Planting, Cow Breeding and Milk Processing within Two Hours”,
and presented consumers with our “Pure and Fresh” farm milk,

winning unanimous praise from the public.

Over the past year, we continued to build on our upstream business
and to strengthen upstream and downstream integration, striving
to build the first raw milk brand in China. With New Hope Dairy
being our second largest shareholder, both parties will continue
to work closely in the raw milk business. The strategic cooperation
will not only help us to establish more reliable raw milk customers,
but also allow us improve the herd size in a flexible way in line with
customers’ needs, to meet the growing demand of high-end raw
milk market in China and to fully enjoy the advantage of rising raw
milk price. We established a joint venture company with the energy
saving and environmental friendly platform of an industrial fund
owned by CITIC Environment Investment Group Co., Ltd. and had
transferred the Companies’ holding of the energy assets of the
two farms in Bengbu and Feidong to the joint venture company.
The introduction of professional teams in non-core areas is able
to improve the professional management of energy projects and
the efficiency of asset utilization, which will enable us to focus on
upstream dairy farming.

In 2019, we have improved the Group’s overall operational
efficiency and as a result the unit milk yield has been uplifted and
cost been reduced. We adhered to high standards, stuck to our
principles, focused on implementation, paid attention to details
and improved efficiency to fulfill the Company's original aspiration.
In the future, we will continue to fulfill the social responsibility as
industry leader and contribute to the revitalization of the national
dairy industry!
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CEO’S STATEMENT

The start of 2020 is bound to be extraordinary. The outbreak of
COVID-19 in China has affected the tourism, entertainment and
retail industries, causing pressure on both domestic industrial
production and international trade. There have been outbreaks
of the pandemic across the globe afterwards. China has a difficult
start to 2020, facing challenges and unknowns.

As the largest producer of raw milk in China, we are keeping an
eye on the development of the pandemic. We are working hard
together with society and actively fulfilling social responsibility.
We donated “Modern Dairy” branded dairy product worth up to
RMB10 million to anti-pandemic front-line areas such as hospitals,
disease control and prevention centres and security posts. During
the pandemic period, our raw milk is produced and sold normally
to meet society’s milk consumption demand. We strengthen our
disinfection measures in production areas and use remote software
for flexible working, taking our employee safety seriously and
putting the production quality first.

20205 R/ - OXENF L - BAREE T
REMA  IRE - RE TEEXFE BEAT
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After several years of industry adjustment, China’s cow herd size
has decreased and milk price has made a significant recovery. In
terms of supply, the upstream dairy is gradually being upgraded to
large-scale dairy farming. Small-scale farms and family-owned farms
are gradually phased out. As cyclical nature of the dairy farming
industry weakens, raw milk will be provided mainly by large-scale
farms in the future. With the high industry entry barriers to large-
scale dairy farming, we will fully enjoy the advantage of rising raw
milk cycle. In terms of demand, looking forward to the next three
years, consumption upgrades in first-tier cities and consumption
growth in low-tier cities will continue to support the steady growth
of demand for dairy products. The demand for high-quality raw
milk is even greater as it is used as raw materials for UHT milk, low-
temperature pasteurized milk and other products.

Looking ahead to 2020, the original aspiration remains unchanged
despite of the difficulties. 2020 will be the 15" year since the
Company was established and the 10* year since we were listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. We insist on being self-reliant,
continuously improving yields, reducing costs and improving
operational efficiency; facing the market, we grasp the cyclical
trend, keep up with market development, moderately increase
the herd size and rise the raw milk yield to enhance the Group's
market competitiveness. As the largest dairy farming company
and the largest producer of raw milk in China, we will continue
to strengthen collaborative integration both upstream and
downstream to create a complete chain distribution of raw milk
production and forge China’s first raw milk production brand.

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company, | would like
to take this opportunity to express my deep gratitude to all our
employees for their loyal service and dedication, as well as to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their trust and
support.
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES

SEREEQAREM

FRESH RAW MILK
LR

We operate a total of 26 dairy farms with 233,618 dairy
cows in total across seven provinces in mainland China.
Each milkable cow on average can produce 10.6 tons of
fresh pasture milk each year.

AP B A EE R & E26EH05 - f18E H233,61858
L4 BRI TFHBFEELE10.6M B HUST) o

PURE MILK

it

5"‘%’. - 250mi

PURE MILK WITH GOLD AWARD
SHRA S

The pure milk is awarded Gold Prize at Monde Selection
for six consecutive years, produced by self-owned farms
with high-quality milk sources within two hours from
milking to processing.
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
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HIGH CALCIUM MILK WALNUT MILK

=85 415 L3

High in calcium from good dairy farms, Modern Dairy High  Made of finely-selected walnuts and fresh quality raw milk,
Calcium Milk has 125 mg calcium for each 100 m. Vitamin  the color walnut milk has made its successful debut in July

D is specially added to facilitate calcium absorption. The  2019.

milk is nutritious, pure and rich in taste. BIERZHKC - BRABERY - HENEERKG - &
SR B FHE  BRBESENHEI00mIEE125mg © mEIR2019F7 4 L -

FRIMAKERD  RETGHRY  £8LE  HEF

N::|
= °

oA
1‘ B

WALNUT MILK

#HU’J

HIGH CALCIUM WTILK
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Limited (“Modern Dairy” or the “Company”) is pleased
to present the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2019 (the “Reporting Year”).

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

China’s economic development was stable with moderate
progress in 2019 with GDP grew by 6.1% year-on-year, in line with
expectations.

According to the McKinsey China Report 2019, China’s dependence
on the world economy has declined relatively, while the world's
dependence on China’s economy has risen relatively, to a certain
extent, reflecting that China’s economic focus has gradually shifted
back to the domestic consumer market and that domestic demand
has grown strongly.

In 2019, Chinese residents’ income growth basically kept pace with
the economic growth and urban-rural per-capita income disparities
continued to decrease. As a result, China’s internal consumption
continued to grow and consumer market witnessed a structural
upgrade. The sales of consumer goods grew steadily, which has
contributed 57.8% to the total economic growth in 2019.

Data from the 2019 China Milk Industry Quality Report shows
that in 2018, China produced a total of 31.77 million tons of milk,
equaling a consumption of 34.3kg of dairy products per capita. The
proportion of farms with more than one hundred cows reached
61.4%, all adopting the mechanized milking. The unit yield per
dairy cow reaches 7.4 tons annually. The milk quality of scaled
farms has reached the standards of developed countries, with
more than 99.9% of dairy products passing national inspection for
five consecutive years. Furthermore, quality, safety and nutrition
indicators basically met the international standards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2019, the international milk powder auction price remained
stable with some growth. The domestic raw milk price showed
significant growth, implying that the domestic dairy industry is
under recovery. The rebound in domestic raw milk price in 2019 was
a result of multiple factors. On one hand, the medium- and small-
scaled farms were phased out the market and the herd size shrank
over the past few years attributable to the raw milk downcycle and
the strict environmental regulations. Research by the National Dairy
Industry Technology System showed that in 2018, there were an
estimated 5.04 million Holstein cows in China, maintaining a steady
downward trend in herd size. On the other hand, stable growth
of resident income has led to stronger purchasing power and a
continuous upgrade on consumption structure with expansion on
consumption sectors. The sustained growth of dairy products in
2019 was benefited from the vigorous development of UHT and
fresh milk products. Domestic demand for high quality raw milk has
been growing, continuing to exceed supply for the next few years.

The evident rebound in the raw milk price, combined with the
significant decline in unit price of and weakened demand for
soybean meal due to the swine flu in 2019 and relatively stable corn
price have all benefited the dairy industry.

In early of 2020, Sino-US trade negotiations have reached the
first stage of economic and trade agreement which brought a
favorable outlook for global trade. The January COVID-19 outbreak
has hit the tourism, entertainment and retail industries. Industrial
production and international trade have also been impacted.

Without doubt, the pandemic has a short-term impact on the
economy, but the solid fundamentals of the dairy industry remain
unchanged. Through the active promotion of the official and the
media, consumers are more fully aware of the importance of milk
in improving immunity. As the consumption upgrades and the
consumption potential of low-tier cities is gradually explored,
the demand for high-quality raw milk is increasing constantly.
Prospects of dairy industry remain favorable and the market
potential is colossal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

2019 marked the Company’s 15th anniversary since its founding. By
increasing unit milk yield, reducing production cost and uplifting
operation efficiency, the overall financial indicators have improved
and recorded a strong free cash flow, returning to profitability.

During the Reporting Year, the Company mainly engaged in the
dairy farming (primarily the production and sale of raw milk to
clients for processing into dairy products) and also profit sharing
initiatives by the associates established for the business of our self-
branded liquid milk products with Mengniu. The Company focused
on the upstream dairy farming business, producing high quality raw
milk products for consumers.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

For the Reporting Year, the Group has achieved significant
improvement in major operating targets. The external average
selling price ("ASP") of raw milk stood at RMB4.04/kg (2018:
RMB3.85/kg), representing a year-on-year growth of 4.9%. The
annual milk yield (“AMY") per milkable cow amounted to 10.6
tons (2018: 10.1 tons), representing a year-on-year growth of 5.0%.
With the uplift of milk yield and the number of milkable cows, the
total annual milk production hit 1.39 million tons (2018: 1.28 million
tons), representing year-on-year growth of 8.6%. In 2019, the Group
has achieved 11.2% income growth year-on-year up to RMB5,514
million (2018: RMB4,957 million). Benefiting from an increase in ASP
of raw milk and higher milk yield, the gross profit margin (before
raw milk fair value adjustment) increased by 6.6 percentage points
("ppt”) to 38.1% in 2019 (2018: 31.5%) year-on-year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MODERN FARMING

BLECHL
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The Group still successfully kept the unit cost of (excluding
depreciation of property, plant and equipment) one kilogram
of raw milk (“"UCM") at RMB2.32/kg (2018: RMB2.45/kg), even
though the feed prices had significantly increased, globally and
domestically as a result of the Sino-US trade war. This was the
results achieved by continuous improvement in the health of cows
and increase in the use of silage as feed. Out of which, the feed
cost amounted to RMB1.77/kg (2018: RMB1.89/kg), representing
year-on-year decrease of 6.3%. The Company also consolidated
and streamlined procurement process so as to reduce purchasing
costs. Additionally, the Company also increased the use of silage
feed and adjusted the feed mix so as to achieve continuous drop in
feed cost and secure the health of dairy cows.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was dedicated to the
objectives of “Increase output, reduce cost and stop losses”. The
Company has lowered operating costs through improving the
formula, adjusting the feed mix, broadening sources of income
and reducing expenditure. Through the modernized management,
the Company has optimized the herd structure and raised unit
production for each milkable cow.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEB W IO

DAIRY FARMS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group operated a total of 26 dairy
farms (herd size of each close to or over 10,000 dairy cows) with
233,618 dairy cows (2018: 231,530 heads) spread across seven
provinces in mainland China. The proportion of milkable cows to
the total number of dairy cows was approximately the same as
last year at 57.9% (2018: 58.0%). Total sales volume of raw milk
amounted to approximately 1.37 million tons (2018: 1.25 million
tons) for the downstream dairy enterprises to produce high-end
milk products. Leveraging on the world's first model of “integration
of forage planting, cow breeding and milk processing”, Modern
Dairy has become the largest leading dairy farming company and
the largest producer of raw fresh milk in mainland China in terms
of the herd scale and production volume. As a nationwide farm, we
are endowed with unique geographical advantages that most of
our farms are located in regions with fine climate and ample supply
of feed, in the proximity of processing plants of dairy products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E & Mo T

Herd Scale BERE

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
201945 HR20184F
12A31H 12A31H
Head Head
| 58

Dairy cows A
Milkable cows ELA 135,185 134,315
Heifers and calves INEHE RN 98,433 97,215
Total number of dairy cows FLE4aET 233,618 231,530

The Company'’s financial performance is highly correlated with
market prices and costs of raw milk and also affected by the milk
yield of each milkable cow. In general, when milk prices increase,
the Company'’s profitability will increase correspondingly under
normal operation condition. When milk yield improves, the UCM
will correspondingly decrease relatively. Milk yield is affected
by a number of factors, including the frequency of lactation,
breed, comfort level, genetics and feed mix. The Company has
continuously been conducting research on each factor, inviting
foreign cow experts to regularly station and give guidance at the
farms, and, through exchange amongst industry experts and staff
training, improving milk yield and cow health.

Milk Yield

During the Reporting Year, we recorded annual milk yield of 10.6
tons per milkable cow (2018: 10.1 tons), up by 5.0% year-on- year.
The annual milk production of the Group grew 8.6% year-on-
year to 1.39 million tons (2018: 1.28 million tons). The increase in
milk yield was attributable to effective herd management, genetic
improvement over generations and generations, and increase in
the number of cows reaching peak stage of lactation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OPERATION STRATEGIES

Raise Unit Output and Raw Milk Quality by Scientific
Breeding and Feeding Techniques Improvement

We keep improving our operation efficiency and average AMY. At
present, our average AMY per milkable cow is among the highest
of all dairy companies in the mainland China. We believe that both
the unit production and quality of raw milk of our milkable cows
will continue to rise as we keep improving the genetic mix of herd
across generations, and increase the proportion of milkable cows
to total herd size. In addition, we are committed to continuous
research so as to alleviate the heat damage to UHT milk, and
further reduce the content of furosine in milk, subject to eligibility
of various indicators such as microorganisms in the products.

Enhance Feed Nutrients and Optimize the Feed Mix

We will continue to collaborate with local farmers and agricultural
research institutions in pursuing research and planting high
quality feed suitable for our dairy cows. Moreover, according to
the locations of our farms, we collaborate with local farmers of
particular regions to jointly build customized and efficient feed
supply chains with the objective to reduce transportation cost
of feed and to ensure the quality, nutrition content and a stable
supply of feed.

Heat Stress Alleviation Measures

Heat stress as a result of high temperature in summer has become
a seasonal problem for milkable cows. The yield of each milkable
cow is generally slightly reduced due to the impact caused by
heat stress. To minimize the impact, the Group has implemented
alleviation plans. The Group equipped cowshed with efficient
ventilation system, such as powerful fans, upgraded the facilities in
barns and enhanced the health of each dairy cow.

Quality Management

The overall execution of the quality management of Modern Dairy
is based on the principle of “Four Don't”: don't cooperate with
unqualified suppliers, don't stock unqualified raw feed materials,
don’t feed unqualified inventory of raw feed materials, don’t
release raw milk from farms that fail inspection.
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For the quality control of raw feed materials, the Group ensures
the source control by inspecting suppliers on-site and establishing
a database of suppliers; ensures feed arrival control by having
a stricter standard of testing than that of the national standard;
ensures the process control by sampling the inventory of raw
feed materials and controlling indicators on daily basis; ensures
that the feed in cows’ mouth are of the right mix consistent with
the relevant formula by conducting real-time sampling during
the production process with reference to formula data at close
to infrared calibration. For the process control, Modern Dairy
establishes a process-oriented quality management system,
establishes CCP point on key production stages, and set process
food safety indicators for monitoring, and timely rectify and track
the potential risks discovered. For the delivery quality control, there
are various quality inspections to comprehensively control the
quality of raw milk. For the whole chain quality tracking system, the
quality information platform is traced by quick response code, to
achieve the traceability of whole chain quality information from the
raw feed materials arrival and delivery for feeding, milking on the
milking parlor to raw milk delivery.

The safe and high quality milk of Modern Dairy is ensured by
source control, process monitoring and terminal control.

Herd Management

Modern Dairy adopts the means of lean management in managing
herd, values scientific breeding and precise formula. With the
innovation of a comprehensive herd management system, the
Group overcomes the “information isolation” of farms, establishes
an efficient information collection system and improves the system
integration of cows from individual, breeding, feeding, health to
milk-producing module. All barns of farms are covered of wireless
communication, the information of herd can be inquired and
undated anytime and anywhere through the handset equipment
and APP; by using the low frequency scanners which show timely
and accurate reminders of cow breeding process to raise the
conception rate to cows, simplify and improve cow breeding; with
pedometers and yield sensors (ie. low frequency ear tags), which
record and analyse milk yield of cows automatically, to identify
and alert diseases among cows in advance. The comprehensive
utilisation of advanced data analysis systems enables us to achieve
scientific decision-making, improve the level of production
management, and achieve sustainable consolidated profitability.
Regarding "high standard, high positioning and high starting
point” as the principles, the Group achieves the objectives of
“increase unit production output, reduce operation cost, optimise
herd structure” in herd breeding.
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Environmental Protection and Epidemic Prevention

With the mission that “create the world’s most advanced farms,
produce the highest quality milk, and achieve harmonious
development of people and nature”, the Group actively fulfills its
social responsibilities. The Group continuously improves on various
aspects such as product quality, dairy cow disease control and

environmentally friendly production to maximize social benefits.

The Company’s various milk quality indicators are better than
the EU standards. Food safety indicators are set in the raw milk
production process, and the whole process is strictly monitored
to ensure that the raw milk quality meets the standards. Since
Mengniu increased its stake in the Company, the Group and
Mengniu have enhanced cooperation in product testing, unified
inspection standards and processes, improved testing efficiency
and product quality. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations for epidemic prevention management, conducts
health rating management for dairy cows, cautiously controls the
environment of farms, refines the management of farms, provides
epidemic prevention and protection for dairy cows, and establishes
quarantine and health check plans for cows, to ensure the health of
cows.

Based on resource recycling, the Group has built a green recycling
industrial chain of “forage planting — cow breeding — fertilizer
treatment — biogas power generation — fertilizer back to the field".
Each farm is equipped with large-scale biogas power generation
facilities and comprehensive utilization facilities for biogas fertilizer,
which absorbs, digests and indiscriminately treats the manure. For
sustainable development, the Group will continue to implement
high-standard environmental protection policies and implements
rigorous epidemic prevention measures in our farms. The Group
expects, through co-operation with CITIC Environment Investment
Group Co., Ltd. ("CITIC Environment”), it could enhance industrial
efficiency and expand the scale of green production.
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ASSOCIATE FACTORIES

The Company's associate factories with Mengniu were officially
established in the second quarter of 2018. Riding on the marketing
strategies and competitive advantage of the sales channels of
Mengniu, a new product “high-calcium pure milk” being promoted
with “Good Calcium from Good Farms” was officially launched
in early 2019 and contributed to the profit of the Company. The
branded milk of “Modern Dairy” was relaunched in the market
with the positioning of “fifteen-year persistence on exclusively
producing pasture milk” and leveraging on Mengniu’s strategic
marketing in aerospace plans to do rebranding. We adopt
differentiation strategies, focusing on the blue ocean market in the
third and fourth tier cities in China. With the market's increasing
knowledge and experience of the Company’s high-quality milk
source and milk products, the associate factories start to contribute
more earnings to the Group.

2N EAE
2-hour Production Line
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Cooperation with CITIC Environment

The Company and CITIC Environment and one of its subsidiaries
entered into a letter of intent on cooperation framework in
September 2018, to jointly establish a joint venture on the
transformation and operation of manure anaerobic fermentation
system and other assets of farms under the Group, which involved
the treatment of plug flow reactor for anaerobic fermentation
being the principal manure treatment. Biogas produced during
fermentation can be deployed for power generation and steam
production; biogas residues after drying can be used as beds in
cowsheds, while biogas slurry is partially returned to cowsheds and
the remaining biogas slurry will be reused as organic fertilizers. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28
September 2018.

On 23 August 2019, Modern Farming and Jiangsu Agriculture
Environment Energy Technology Co., Ltd.* (T# BIREERRI A
R 2 F]) ("Jiangsu Agriculture”), an entity designated by CITIC
Environment, entered into a joint venture agreement in relation to
the formation of Jiangyin Dairy Energy Environment Technology
Co., Ltd (the "JV Company”). The JV Company is held as to
30% by Modern Farming and 70% by Jiangsu Agriculture and is
established with the total registered capital of RMB560,000,000.

On 31 December 2019, Modern Farming entered into two share
transfer agreements with the JV Company in relation to the
disposal of Modern Energy (Wuhe) Co., Ltd.* (RCEEIR (FF) B IR
A d]) and Modern Energy (Hefei) Co., Ltd.* GRREER(GE)BRA
7)), both of which were indirectly non wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company holding energy assets of Bengbu and Feidong farms,
at an aggregate consideration of RMB148,124,000. For details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 31 December
2019. The disposal have been completed in February 2020.

SYNERGIES WITH MENGNIU

The Group and Mengniu have achieved satisfactory synergy in
terms of purchasing, sales, cost control, resource utilization and
even corporate management. In early 2019, the Company entered
into a cooperation agreement with Yashili International Holdings
Ltd, a subsidiary of Mengniu, to provide premium raw milk for its
high-end new dairy products. With the increase in the demand of
diversified high-end raw milk, the high-end raw milk is expected
to become the Company’s high value-added business and a new
engine of growth. During the Reporting Year, the Group reduced
its operating cost through the integrated procurement platform “Ai
Yang Niu".
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

The quality of Group’s dairy products are comparable to the
average standard of imported milk products in terms of milk fat,
milk protein, somatic cells count, total colony count and other fresh
milk key indicators, which is among the top rankings in the world.

The Company is the first and only company in China that passed
the “Quality Milk Project” for its pasteurized milk and UHT milk.
During the Reporting Year, four of our Group's products were all
awarded the Gold Prize of Monde Selection 2019. The pure milk
was awarded the Gold Prize for six consecutive years.

In early 2019, the brand of Modern Dairy has been shortlisted as
the “Strategic Partner of China’s Aerospace Industry”, marking our
premium quality branded milk widely recognized by all sectors of
the society.

INTRODUCTION OF STRATEGIC

SHAREHOLDER

On 18 July 2019, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with New Hope pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and New Hope or its
designated subsidiary has conditionally agreed to subscribe for
276,228,409 subscription shares (the “Subscription Share(s)”) at
the subscription price of RMB1.1920 (HK$1.3535) per Subscription
Share. The Subscription Shares were allotted and issued under
the general mandate granted to the Directors by the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 6 June 2019. In addition, as disclosed in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements, certain pledgors have pledged
a total of 318,697,354 shares of the Company (the “
Share(s)") in favour of the Company. New Hope or its designated

Collateral

subsidiary has agreed to purchase the Collateral Shares at the
purchase price of RMB1.1920 (HK$1.3535) per Collateral Share from
the Company.
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The issue and allotment of the Subscription Shares and the sale of
the Collateral Shares by the Company completed in September
2019, and the total proceeds resulting from the transactions were
approximately RMB709 million. Amongst which, the gross proceeds
from the Subscription Shares was approximately RMB329.26 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$373.87 million). The net proceeds
from the Subscription was approximately RMB329.19 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$373.79million). As at 31 December
2019, the Company has fully utilised such proceeds from the
Subscription Shares for the following purposes: (i) approximately
50% (approximately RMB164.59 million) for the expenditure of farm
and expansion of herd size; (ii) approximately 30% (approximately
RMB98.76 million) for repayment of borrowings; (iii) the remaining
balance of approximately 20% (approximately RMB65.84 million)
for the Group's general working capital and for other general
corporate purposes. Upon completion of the above transactions,
New Hope holds approximately 9.28% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company and becomes the second largest strategic
shareholder of the Company.

The Board considers that the transactions above enable the
Company to achieve the following synergies: (i) raise capital
to enable the Company to appropriately increase its herd size,
maintain reasonable cow herd structure and maintain a stable
growth of raw milk yield; (i) strengthen the cooperation between
New Hope and the Company so as to maintain a stable customer
base of the raw milk of the Company; (iii) decrease the amount
of liabilities borne by the Company and control the Company'’s
financial risks; and (iv) realize the value of the pledged Collateral
Shares.

The above transactions have been completed on 20 September
2019. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 18 July and 20 September 2019.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW B &R
Revenue A
Business Analysis EBDW

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the consolidated ~ TxR#HFIEZZ BB IEFE A FIARL :
revenue for the years ended:

2019 2018
20195 18F
External Internal External Internal
Sales Sales Subtotal Sales Sales Subtotal
MEBEHE REEE et SNBEHE MEEE gt

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR

Sales of raw milk business ~ REBIEE £ 5,514,210 - 5,514,210 4,715,942 116,787 4,832,729
Sales of liquid milk products RENERHFEEK

business = = = 240,869 - 240,869
Consolidated revenue AHBA 5,514,210 = 5,514,210 4,956,811 116,787 5,073,598

The Group's revenue increased by 11.2% to RMB5,514.2 million AREBEMWRA EFA11.2%E ARKS551428E T
(2018: RMB4,956.8 million). The increase was mainly due to the (20184 : ARM4,956. 8B &) c EAMNEZER
increase in sales volume of raw milk and increase in ASP of raw EARNESEINLBELNFEHEB FFRAE

milk.
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The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales T&XR#EFIARFENRBDNBHEKA - HES

volume and ASP of raw milk for the years indicated: NFEHEBHE
2019 2018
2019% 20185
Sales Sales Sales Sales
revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP
HEBA HEER THER HERA HEE THEE
RMB'000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMB/ton
ARET R B AR¥n/B  ARETR B ARET/H
Raw milk JREH
External sales e 5,514,210 1,365,739 4,038 4,715,942 1,225,441 3,848
Internal sales MEHE - - - 116,787 25,891 4,511
Subtotal NG 5,514,210 1,365,739 4,038 4,832,729 1,251,332 3,862
e Dairy farming business e  HA4BEXEWR
Total sales revenue of raw milk (as an aggregate of external JREHT 85 & AU A (OMEB R B 85 & 48 51)
and internal sale) grew by 14.1% year-on-year to RMB5,514.2 /AR5 514288 7T(2018%F : AR
million (2018: RMB4,832.7 million). 483278 &7T) * FLLER14.1% -
ASP of raw milk grew by 4.9% year-on-year to RMB4.04/kg REDFEHEERERERFER/ARKLN
during the Reporting Year (2018: RMB3.85/kg). 7t/ A (20184 : ARM3.857L, AT) ¢

A8 R4.9% ©

Total sales volume of raw milk increased by 9.6% year-on- RE I 4RE S 4 R137 8 M (20184 - 1258
year to approximately 1.37 million tons (2018: 1.25 million WE) - RILLIEAND.6% « FERBNTEYF
tons), mainly due to the rise in AMY per cow and number of BFEEDNE FFA R BEE MR -

milkable cows.
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COST OF SALES BEFORE RAW MILK FAIR
VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

The Group's cost of sales before raw milk fair value adjustments
primarily consisted of cost of dairy farming and cost of liquid milk
products. The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost

of sales of our products for the years indicated:

Cost of sales before raw milk fair value adjustments

B E & Mo T

R D P E A AT R 85 & AN
AEBENEHNATERRAHERELERRE

P RTAKA RREINEMKA - TREFIAE
[ 2 dn 0 PR R RO 3H B AN B A

R S E AR A B 8 & A

e Dairy farming business: o HABEHEW:
2019 2018
2019F 20184
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR®TR Bl ARETTL BolL
Direct materials &M 2,492,360 73.0% 2,449,233 73.9%
Labor cost BIMA 276,311 8.1% 243,406 7.4%
Utilities NGES 338 102,526 3.0% 96,414 29%
Depreciation of property, nx - BERRENE
plant and equipment 249,817 7.3% 250,422 7.6%
Other costs of farms BMBEMMAX 291,316 8.6% 272,676 8.2%
Subtotal of cost of sales before REHATFEBEA
raw milk fair value adjustments ﬁ)?qlﬁéﬁ%’]%ﬁ%
JINE
of the dairy farming business PRt 3,412,330 100% 3,312,151 100%
Internal cost elimination PIRBAR A 1 8 = (68,381)
Cost of sales before raw milk FRPRFHEFEAH
E W
fair value adjustments of §¢§ﬁ¥%$ﬁ =
the dairy farming business * 3,412,330 3,243,770

Direct materials (mainly forage) cost (before eliminating
cost of sales in relation to internal supply of raw milk) during
the Reporting Year amounted to RMB2,492.4 million (2018:
RMB2,449.2 million), approximately the same as last year.

.

RAEREE  BEEME(EEAFER)K
AR (35 88 A 56 R R ) 4L R AR BE 8E & A AR AT
BANRKED 492 4F BT (20184 : AR
24492B87T) © RLLAEE -

- o7
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Despite the impact of the Sino-US trade war, we lowered
the use of alfalfa by regulating the formula of the feed, and
effectively managed to control the forage costs. During the
Reporting Year, the cost (excluding depreciation of property,
plant and equipment) of raw milk sold (before eliminating cost
of sales in relation to internal supply of raw milk) amounted to
RMB2,316/ton (2018: RMB2,447/ton), representing a decrease

BEXTEEFIEFNFE  ARABRBHA
EERIEE T - MRETEBNERE - BRUD
THIFERKAR - RAERFE - HMED
B BRI K 2N (8 P9 30 R R 470 45 e 4R 2 6
ERARE) (BYE - BERRENEIIN A
AR#E2,.31670, /M8 (20185 + AR¥E2,447
JL W) R A5.4% o

of 5.4%.
Gross Profit and Profitability E IR B FIRE
The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and N &R FRE FI A FEFHEFTHEF K& EF =8
gross profit margin before raw milk fair value adjustments: i
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Gross Profit Gross Profit
Gross profit margin  Gross profit margin
EF ER=E EM ESYIES
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Dairy farming business A EREER
Before elimination SEFEH AT 2,101,880 38.12% 1,520,578 31.46%
After elimination K& 2,101,880 38.12% 1,472,172 31.22%
Liquid milk products business REETE B EK
Before elimination ESEi 0 - - 19,908 8.27%
After elimination HH1& = = 73,969 30.71%
J Dairy farming business i A BEER

Gross profit of our dairy farming business before raw milk fair
value adjustments (before eliminating cost of sales in relation
to internal supply of raw milk) amounted to RMB2,101.9
million during the Reporting Year (2018: RMB1,520.6 million),
representing an increase of 38.2% year-on-year, which was
mainly due to the increase in price and sales volume of raw
milk. Gross profit margin of our dairy farming business before
raw milk fair value adjustments (before eliminating cost of
sales in relation to internal supply of raw milk) stood at 38.1%
during the Reporting Year (2018: 31.5%), representing an
increase of 6.6 ppt year-on-year.

BPOAFEBEBH RN AT EFHER
T (85 P9 30 B 4 e 4B B8 35 &S R AN AT
RATERFE A AREE2101.98&7T(2018
F: ANR#1,5206B87T)  BHIEIES
382% ' TEZRHARERNNERHEEHE
EANFTER - RIS EEERN RN A
B R B E N 2 (85 A AR R B 9 L AR
8 38 B K AR B IR AR BE 3R F 5 & 38.1%(2018
F 1 31.5%) ' [FILIgEA66EB DS -
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Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value Less Costs to
Sell of Dairy Cows

As at 31 December 2019, the biological assets of the Group were
valued at RMB7,459.4 million (31 December 2018: RMB7,717.1
million) by an independent qualified professional valuer,
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
representing a slight decrease of 3.3% year-on-year.

Losses arising from changes in the fair value of dairy cows less costs
to sell dairy cows were RMB1,039.2 million as at 31 December 2019
(31 December 2018: RMB870.1 million), representing an increase
of 19.4% year-on-year which was mainly due to the change in herd
internal structure and market factors.

Gains Arising on Initial Recognition of Raw Milk at Fair
Value Less Costs to Sell at the Point of Harvest

The gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk at fair value less
costs to sell at the point of harvest amounted to RMB1,938.4 million
(2018: RMB1,371.5 million), representing an increase of 41.3% year-
on-year, mainly due to the increase in sales volume of raw milk and
its market price.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) required that
raw milk harvested was initially measured at fair value less costs to
sell, and the difference between the fair value less costs to sell and
the actual costs incurred was charged to profit or loss.

Other Income

During the Reporting Year, other income amounted to RMB51.1
million (2018: RMB66.1 million) which mainly consisted of
government grants and interest income, of which interest income
accounted for RMB11.2 million (2018: RMB11.0 million), while the
government grants amounted to RMB32.6 million (2018: RMB43.7
million). Government grants mainly consisted of subsidies for
agricultural projects such as “"Grain to Fodder”.

B E & Mo T

AR FESYRIAFHEXFREENER

R2019%F12A318 » AEEMNEMEEEE L
AERBEGEMPERTOETIGLENRE
AR EAARE7,459.45 & (20184512
A318 : AR¥E7,7171587T) © R A TR
3.3%°

MR2019F12A318 » ILFERFEZEBFRILFHE
BAFTEEMNEIBBARE1,039.25877t(2018
F12A31H : ARBES70.1EE L) RLLEM
19.4% - A IR E B h R F BRI A EE U
RiEAEREELR -

RERDKRERZE AL EREER A NG TE
REEHWE

A REH U FE B 4% N B R 3R B A AR ) s FE R E
A A ANRE1,9384B87T(20184F « AR
1,371.5887T) - RALBIEAL 3% TEZHRN
RENEEHE RSB -

B B B 75 R o Y Al B SR A PR SH B AN V148
SFEDWENREY) - A FERHEE KA E AT
EENEBRRAZBNERFABRA -

Hag A

RAERFE  EHABARBS1I1HEE T
(20185 : ARM661EEBT) TE0RBTH
B - FIBMALE  ERFBRABARE11.28
EL(2018F : AR 0BET) - B A
AR#32658T(20185F : ARB43ZTEETT)
B @ T EaEENa SHEEBENE
Bf o
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Operating Expenses RERX

2019 2018

2019F 20184

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREFT

Selling and distribution costs THE K5 HAR 175,487 172,256

Administrative expenses TEBRAX 276,739 232,450

Total operating expenses AR R 452,226 404,706
The total operating expenses was RMB452.2 million (2018: &M BEBEAAREKL522HE7T(2018: AR

RMB404.7 million), representing an increase of 11.7% year-on-year.  #404.78&7T) + R IN11.7% °

o Selling and distribution costs ("S&D costs”) o HERIHEAER(HERDHAAK])
The following is an analysis of the S&D costs: HERDHEADITAT -
2019 2018
20194 20184F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Dairy farming business M BEFK

Transportation costs and others BEHENEM 172,057 163,130

Liquid milk products business REMERZES
Transportation, loading and unloading costs  B#ZE E & = 982
Staff remuneration B3k T % B = 1,718
Publicity expenses 5EE - 546
Others HAith = 2,444
Business tax and surcharge EER SR 3,430 3,436
Total selling and distribution costs HERDHK AL 175,487 172,256

J:sé .
:‘-’\. 13
i
S
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S&D costs stood as RMB175.5 million for the Reporting Year
(2018: RMB172.3 million) mainly consisted of, among other
things, transportation costs for sales of raw milk, salaries of
sales personnel and daily expenses.

Transportation costs for sales of raw milk recorded at
RMB172.1 million (2018: RMB163.1 million), representing
an increase of 5.5% year-on-year, mainly attributable to an
increase in the sales volume of raw milk.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included remuneration of
management staff (including equity-based share award
expenses) and depreciation charges of office building, staff
quarters and facilities. The Company recorded administrative
expenses of RMB276.7 million during the Reporting Year
(2018: RMB232.5 million), representing an increase of 19.0%
year-on-year. The increase was mainly due to the Company’s
rewards and continuous incentives for staff to create good
performance for the Company and the increase in the
management’s remuneration.

B E & Mo T

HERDHEAARAEREEAARKE
17558 8L (20185 : ARM1723E &
T0) c EEBFERENEENEHER - 5
EABIEMBERYS -

RENEENEGER/ARKI721EE
TL(2018%F - AR¥163.1B&T) © ALLIE
M5.5%  ETBEHNEHYHEREL N
FTEK

THEX

TR EEREEEABFH (S ARRE
HEEHRORER) RRAE  BIGES
HEBITES - ARRNRAERTFESE1T
BASX ARB27678ETL(2018F « ARE
23258 &7T) ' RLIEIN19.0% - B RHIZHE
FTERREARTARBUFELIHET AR
RIAIERITEELE - BB ABFHIIRFFTE -
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Impairment Losses under Expected Credit Loss Model, REABEESREEENBRESRNRERD

Net of Reversal

2019 2018
2019F 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Impairment losses recognised on: TR IR R R RE
E1E -
— Trade receivables — liquid milk product - B S EUGK & REY
(the Distributors) Em(n ﬁﬁﬁ) - 358,891
— Trade receivables — liquid milk product B Z UK - RAEL
(other customers) EmnEHAER) = 5,365
— Other receivables — E fth R IE 953 3,569
Impairment losses reversed on: MNP B BB ARE
518
— Trade receivables — liquid milk product - B 5 RIGRIE - RAED
(the Distributors) Em(D %ﬁﬁ) (160,451) -
— Trade receivables = liquid milk product - B o REWIE - RED
(other customers) Fuu(ﬂﬁﬂ%}i) (1,837) (163)
(161,335) 367,662

During the Reporting Year, the Group conducted an impairment RAEREE - KAEBRBEHBHREZEHEB (B
test based on the expected credit loss ("ECL") model and S8 EDELETTHENS @ WE L EEH
recognised a reversal of impairment loss of trade receivables in R (F & B4R A T BREM L5 BREDNER D
respect of the distributors of liquid milk business of approximately $HEERE FEWKEICNEEBEOHARE

RMB160.45 million resulting from selling the Collaterals (as defined ~ 160.45H &7t °
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements).
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Other Gains and Losses, Net Hislh sz RSB FH

During the Reporting Year, net losses arising from other gains and ~ RAERFE - Hlham REEMEANEERF
losses amounted to RMB121.0 million (2018: net losses of RMB138.6 HEEAAR121.068 & L(2018%F : [HiEFHEAR
million) mainly consisting of net amount of foreign exchange  ¥138.65&70) * T EZBEINEFIEBFE - Bx

losses, impairment provision for fixed assets and impairment loss  EEBEREE - BEREERKLS - EMRERE

on gooduwill. The breakdown of other gains and losses is as follows: BRI T :
2019 2018
2019%F 20184F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETT
Other gains and losses: Hih 5 % B518
Net foreign exchange loss HMNE BB F FE 82,952 126,957
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEMZE - BRERZRED
equipment g =] 16,879 4,768
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBE A RM K = (18,193)
Impairment loss on property, plant and W% - BEREREREAE
equipment 518 45,287 36,444
Impairment loss on goodwill E AR EEE 27,323 25,950
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets BAVEFABRSBE
at FVTPL ENAFEWES)EE
Foreign currency forward contracts INERHIE 4 (17,971) (35,394)
Foreign currency option contracts HNE HAE A 4 (32,585) 872
Bills receivable JEUL =ik = (1,427)
(50,556) (35,949)
Gains on derecognition of financial liabilities RIrERTRAENKE (839) (1,352)
121,046 138,625
Other Expenses HtpAx

Other expenses amounted to RMB9.1 million (2018: RMB23.1 HthFAS AAREKI1HET(2018F : ARK23.1
million), representing a drop of 60.6%. There was a one-off E&JT) * AL TFE60.6% o 1 E—(EERFERA
compensation expenses of RMB12.0 million for early termination of IR IEE MRS —XEHERIARK12.0

e —

contract in last reporting year. A& °
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Finance Costs
Finance costs amounted to RMB376.8 million (2018: RMB338.6
million), representing an increase of 11.3% year-on-year.

Among the finance cost, borrowing costs amounted to RMB337.8
million (2018: RMB335.1 million), approximately the same as last
year.

The fair value loss on interest rates swaps incurred by the Company
amounted to RMB39.0million (2018: 3.5 million). In view of the large
finance costs, the Company will adopt various feasible measures to
reduce interest bearing liabilities.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

The Group's cash EBITDA amounted to RMB2,045.5 million during
the Reporting Year (2018: RMB1,528.4 million), grew by 33.8% year-
on-year. The cash EBITDA margin increased to 37.1% (2018: 30.8%),
up by 6.3 ppt.

Taking into account the above factors, profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB341.3 million (2018: loss of
RMB496.1 million).

Basic earnings per Share of the Company (the “Share”) was
RMB5.54 cents (2018: loss RMB8.15 cents per Share).

Diluted earnings per Share was RMB5.52 cents (2018: loss RMB8.15
cents per Share).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the Reporting Year, the amount of net cash generated from
operating activities of the Group was RMB2,049.1 million (2018:
RMB1,406.0 million), representing a 45.7 % increase year-on-year,
as a result of the decrease in cost, the uplift in total milk production
and increase in raw milk price.

As at 31 December 2019, the net gearing ratio, which was
calculated on the basis of the amount of total borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits as a percentage
of the total equity, was 77.0% (31 December 2018: 97.4%).

Lo

B
B AARKI76.8FHETT(20184F : AR
338.6BETT) © RIELIEINI1.3%

HEARERKAARE337.8ET(2018F : AR
%335.18 8T - RLEE -

ARREENNRIEHRAFEBE/ARE39.0
BET(2018% : 3588 T) - EXNMIBH R
R ARABHBERSAEATHEAREEER

5 o

RRABEEAEBERER

REERFE - FEENIESEBITDARARKE
2,04558 87T (20184F « AR¥1,528.4H87T)
B LL 38 £ 33.8% » B S EBITDAR BRI E37.1%
(20184F : 30.8%) + & MN6.3MEH 7 B o

etk FitEAER - KAREE AEEZFAA
R¥341.35 8L (20184 : FHIBARKL96.18 8
JT) ©

BRARRRS ((REDEAEFAARIES 54D
(2018 : BRBEARKS155) ©

FR#EERNA/ARKS529 (20185 : BREE
AR®8.155) o

RBEE BHERREER

RAERTE  AEELETHEENRSFA
BARE2,049 18 87T (20184F : ARM1,406.0
BETT)  FALIERIST%  TEHRRAREE -
ESRARRDEGBEAN -

R2019F 124318 « FEERLE(REEFRRE
FESEBYRIBHRTFREERIE DL
HEAE) A77.0% (20185128318 : 97.4%) -
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s available and unutilized
credit facilities were approximately RMB3,753.4 million (31
December 2018: RMB4,954.7 million). Having considered the (i)
forecast cash flow from operating activities of continuing operation;
(i) existing financial resources and gearing level of the Group; and
(i) save for the above disclosed credit facilities, subsequent to the
balance sheet date up to the reporting date, the Group obtained
additional credit facilities from banks of approximately RMB2,650.0
million, the Directors believe that the Group's financial resources
are sufficient to meet its debt repayment, day-to-day operations,
contracted capital expenditures as at 31 December 2019.

Operating Activities

During the Reporting Year, the net cash inflow from operating
activities of the Group was RMB2,049.1 million (2018: RMB1,406.0
million). The surge of net cash inflow from operating activities was
mainly due to the increase of income in the Reporting Year and the
Group has strengthened recovery of accounts receivable.

Investing Activities

Net cash outflow from investing activities was RMB1,025.9 million
(2018: net cash outflow RMB1,061.6 million), approximately same as
last year.

Financing Activities

Net cash outflow from financing activities was RMB832.1 million
(2018: net cash outflow of RMB307.9 million), mainly due to the
increase in debt repayment during the Reporting Year.

B E & Mo T

R2019F12A31H » A"EEMAIEA LK AEAE
EREBREHARK3753.48 8T (20185F12 A
318 : ARMA9SATEE L) - KB E()WFELE
EBMEETEHBARSTE (A EENREB
BB R MABREKTE - MGk LB EER
BN REEABRAPREZREAHIEASE
ERRITIGEIMcERERE N ARE2,650.0
BEL EERE AEEERRYBEREE
Bl REHHBEKEENN2019F12A3188
BEHEAATREES -

KESEE

RABRRFE  AEENCETHESFRAA
REE2,0491HET(20185F + ARK1,406.08 &
T0) © FEERIR S MAINE B AR AERFER
AIEHN - RIS A S [ hnos FEUR BR iR B o

BREEH
RERPEENRSFARHA/ARE1,025958
7L(2018%F « BMEFMIARK1,061.6B8T)
RILLAEE -

A& ES
MEEHMELRSFRLAARKSIEET
(2018%F : JHRHAREEIN7OBET) » TEEARX
[ESRFEEBERIE AT -
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS BEEAR
As at 31 December 2019, the total interest-bearing borrowings was 720196 12H31H0 + BB ERBEAARE
RMB6,589.9 million (2018: RMB7,148.1 million). 6,589.988L(2018 : ARM7,1481EE7T) ©
Details are set out as below: ARSI
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Borrowings: B
Bank borrowings RITIEK 5,538,474 4,437,502
Medium-term notes FHEIERE = 621,880
Corporate bonds NAEMES = 1,087,568
Other borrowing HA B R 1,051,413 1,001,111
6,589,887 7,148,061
Carrying value repayable: FEEEREE
Within one year —F LR 4,874,056 4,401,668
Between one and two years —Z2ZFR 1,525,831 2,316,393
Between two and five years —Z2RHFRN 190,000 430,000
6,589,887 7,148,061
The following is an analysis of the respective borrowings: FEERSWAT
e Bank borrowings o HRITER
During the Reporting Year, the annual interest rate of bank RAERFEA - RITEROFHNEEER
borrowings varied from 3.2% to 5.17% (2018: from 0.45% to 3.2%%5.17%(20184F : 0.45%%5.00%) °
5.00%).
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The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2019:

B E & Mo T

TRINEFR2019F12 831 B R AR KR

T

2019 2018
20194 20184F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
Bank borrowings: IRITE :

Unsecured borrowings ARG TR 5,320,114 3,972,022
Secured borrowings BHHEME 218,360 465,480
5,538,474 4,437,502

Carrying amount repayable: FEEEREE
Within one year —F R 3,822,643 1,691,109
Between one and two years —EFEEMER 1,525,831 2,316,393
Between two and five years MEZHER 190,000 430,000
5,538,474 4,437,502

Medium-term notes and corporate bonds FHRBERDEES

On 23 March 2016, Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company (“Modern Farming”) issued
medium-term notes with an aggregate principal amount
of RMB600 million which would mature in three years. The
medium-term notes bear a fixed interest rate of 4.75% per
annum. Related transaction costs amounted to RMB1.8
million. The effective interest rate is 4.86% per annum. The
medium-term notes has been repaid during the Reporting
Year.

In June 2016, Modern Farming obtained approval from
China Securities Regulatory Commission to issue corporate
bonds in the PRC of an aggregate principal amount up to
RMB2,000 million within 24 months from the approval. On
12 August 2016, Modern Farming issued the first tranche
of the corporate bonds of an aggregate principal amount
of RMB250 million with terms of three years. The corporate
bonds bear a fixed interest rate of 5.30% per annum. Related
transaction costs amounted to RMB1,125,000. The effective
interest rate is 5.47% per annum. The corporate bonds have
been repaid during the Reporting Year.

“

BR2016F3H23H + ARARMMBRARRR
WEEBBRAR(TRAKE(E®) )3
THHEE  A2BEAEAREMET K
—FBIE P HREENETHEAESF
4.75% - AR ZRABARE18HET °
BB & S5TE486%  HHIZEHE D AAE
REEEE -

MN2016F6H - RMAKME(RE)LHEZES
EEEEEE e AN EZ BB24EA
RNEFRETASBERS ARE20ET
R ARMES - H20165FE8 128 » WA E
(EE)ETEMRRES  A&LBAA
RS0 BTT  —FH - AIEENET
PR BEFF530%  HEAZXZK A EARE
1,125,0007C ° ERFE BEF5.47% © B
NAEFENAERFTEERE -
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On 28 March 2017, Modern Farming issued the second
tranche of corporate bonds of an aggregate principal amount
of RMB800 million with terms of three years. The corporate
bonds bear a fixed interest rate of 5.49% per annum. Related
transaction costs amounted to RMB3.6 million. The effective
interest rate is 5.66% per annum. The corporate bonds have
been repaid prior to its maturity during the Reporting Year.

e  Other borrowing

72017382808 - MARME(ER)ETEH
—HRARES  AeRBEAEARESNEE
T =FH . AREFNEENERAETSF
5.49% > AR B AABAREIEETT
BERMEAGF5.66% - BEEAREBERCR
AEEFRFEREE A RTIRATEE -

o HAERK

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
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Amounts due after one year

—F R B IR
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Note: On 26 February 2019, the Group entered into a loan contract
with a financial institution, pursuant to which the Group
borrowed RMB50 million from the institution which will
mature on 28 February 2020. The loan is unsecured and bears
a fixed interest rate of 5.00% per annum. The borrowing was

repaid upon expiry subsequent to the balance sheet date.

GROUP STRUCTURE
Save for disclosed in this report, during the Reporting Year, there
was no material change in the structure of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the total number of ordinary shares in
issue of the Company was 6,407,635,115 shares (2018: 6,131,406,706
shares).

The Group had interest bearing borrowings of approximately
RMB6,589.9 million as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:
approximately RMB7,148.1 million), of which the current interest
bearing borrowings amounted to RMB4,874.1 million (31 December
2018: RMB4,401.7 million), non-current interest bearing borrowings
amounted to RMB1,715.8 million (31 December 2018: RMB2,746.4
million).

As at 31 December 2019, the net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately RMB7,081.5 million
(31 December 2018: approximately RMB6,445.3 million), the net
borrowings of the Group (interest bearing bank borrowings and
other borrowings, net cash and cash equivalents restricted bank
deposit) amounted to approximately RMB5,547.9 million (31
December 2018: approximately RMB6,383.7million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE OF

ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, no buildings and equipment of the
Company (31 December 2018: Nil) were pledged as security for the
Group's borrowings.

As at 31 December 2019, biological assets with carrying value of
RMB838.7 million (31 December 2018: RMB875.5 million) were
pledged as security for the Group's borrowings.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2019 and 2018.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s capital commitments in
relation to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB21.5 million (31 December 2018: RMB7.8 million).

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Group continued to closely manage financial risks to safeguard
the interest of the shareholders of the Company. The Group
applied its cash flows generated from operations, bank loans and
proceeds from the issuance of bonds and ordinary shares of the
Company to satisfy its operational and investment needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEB W IO

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group proactively fulfills its social responsibility, adhering
to the principle that safety and quality come first, and actively
develops and implements modern scientific breeding and feeding
know-how. The Group puts great effort to strike a balance between
business growth and social responsibility, so as to convey the
Group's care and blessing to all stakeholders.

The COVID-19 erupted in China in January 2020. As China's largest
raw milk producer, The Company concerns about the spread of
the pandemic and proactively takes up our social responsibility.
During the pandemic, the Company maintained normal production
and sales, thereby guaranteeing a supply that meets consumer
needs. The Company also paid great attention to the frontline,
and donated “"Modern Dairy” branded dairy products worth up to
a total value of RMB10 million in order to assist frontline facilities
such as local hospitals, disease prevention and control centers and
public security posts. The Company prioritizes safe production by
sterilizing production zones and pays great attention to employee
health by continuously monitoring the health of our employees and
adopting remote online working procedures. The Company also
implemented rigorous disease prevention and control measures.

To better illustrate the Group's social responsibilities,
environmental protection and social and corporate governance,
a report on the environmental, social and governance report (the
"ESG Report”) will be separately released in due course.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION

OF EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately 5,053
employees (31 December 2018: 4,735) in mainland China and Hong
Kong. Total staff costs during the Reporting Year (including staff
compensation capitalized to biological assets) were approximately
RMB491.0 million (2018: RMB435.7 million).

The Group values recruiting, training and retaining quality
personnel. We recruit qualified employees from local universities,
vocational schools and other technical schools, and we provide
these employees with various pre-employment and on-the-job
training. The Group also offers remuneration at competitive rates
with the aim of retaining quality personnel.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

In the past two years, favorable to dairy industry, the central
government fostered the development of local dairy industry by
successively introducing a number of policies to strengthen dairy
industry support. In February 2020, the No. 1 Central Document
stressed the need to ensure the effective supply of important
agricultural products, support the production of dairy, poultry,
cattle and sheep, and guide the optimization of meat consumption
structure.

Currently, raw milk market is short in supply and it is expected that
the shortage of raw milk will continue. With the withdrawal of small-
and medium-sized dairy farms from the market, the cyclicity of the
dairy farming industry has weakened, and raw milk will be mainly
provided by large-scale dairy farms in the future. The industry entry
barriers of large-scale farming are high, and the Company will fully
enjoy the benefits of the industry cycle and the advantages as
industry leader.

In 2020, the Company enters its 15" year of establishment and 10*
year of listing. In the new dairy industry cycle, the Company adheres
to its own base, continuously improves unit production, reduces
costs and improves operational efficiency. Facing the market, it
grasps the cyclical trend, keeps abreast of market developments,
moderately increases its production and expansion and improves
the Group's market competitiveness. The Company will continue
to strengthen the coordination and integration of upstream and
downstream, create a full-chain layout of raw milk production,
enhance the market competitiveness of the first domestic brand
of raw milk production, create greater value for shareholders,
and provide consumers with nutritious raw milk, so as to make
unremitting contributions to the upgrading and transformation of
the dairy industry in China.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GAO Lina, aged 63, is an executive Director, Chief Executive
Officer and Deputy Chairman of the Company. Ms. Gao is one of
the founders of the Group and is currently also a director of Modern
Farming. Ms. Gao has significant experience in cross-border
trading, resource integration and administrative management.
Prior to joining the Group in August 2005, Ms. Gao was the general
manager of Taian Foreign General Trade Corporation between
October 1993 and June 2005. Ms. Gao was the director general of
Taian Municipal Taian Promotion Bureau between October 2003
and June 2005. Ms. Gao developed her experience in managing
dairy farms since joining the Group and was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 14 November 2008. Ms.
Gao was awarded “Taian City Excellent Entrepreneur in Reforming
and Enterprising Endeavours” in 2004. Ms. Gao was awarded the
"Scientific and Technological Progress Award (Class 1 of Promotion
Category)” by the Ministry of Education of the China in January
2013, and Ms. Gao was granted the honour of Top 10 Business
Leaders in China Economy at the 2014 China Economic Summit
Forum & The 12th Annual Meeting of China Economic Characters.
Ms. Gao was awarded Best CEO in “Institutional Investors — Survey
Report on All Asian Management Team 2016" and “2017 China
Financial Market Awards e Best Corporate Leader of the Year”.

Mr. HAN Chunlin, aged 47, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operation Officer of the Company. Mr. Han is also a director of
Modern Farming and Helingeer Modern Farming Co., Ltd. Mr.
Han has more than 15 years of experience in China’s food and
beverage industry. Prior to joining the Group in September 2008
and his appointment as an executive Director of the Company
on 14 November 2008, Mr. Han worked as the marketing vice
general manager of Nowara Shinnosuke (Fujian) Food Industry
Company from February 2006 to July 2008. From January 1999 to
September 2004, Mr. Han served at the liquid milk department of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu as marketing manager. Prior to that, Mr.
Han was a branch-plant manager at the Milk Powder Department
of Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Company Limited from July
1994 to January 1999. Mr. Han received a bachelor's degree in
biology from Inner Mongolia University in China in July 1994.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Minfang, aged 51, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and chairman of the board of Directors of the Company
in March 2017. Mr. Lu is currently the executive director and
chief executive officer of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(stock code: 2319 HK) (“Mengniu”), and is a member of the
strategy and development committee of Mengniu. Mengniu is the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lu is also a director
of International Dairy Federation. Mr. Lu is also the chairman and
a non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(stock code: 1230.HK) (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of Mengniu. He
was the executive director and chief executive officer of Yashili
before his appointment as chairman of the board of directors of
Yashili. Mr. Lu was also a director of the following subsidiaries of
Yashili, namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili International Group
Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co., Limited and Scient
International Group Limited. Mr. Lu was the vice president (Greater
China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China and had been
with the Danone Group and Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over
10 years. During his tenure at the Danone Group, he demonstrated
strong strategic business and market planning capabilities. With
strong leadership, management skills and in-depth knowledge of
markets, Mr. Lu had contributed significantly to the success of the
Danone Group's baby nutrition business in China. Prior to joining
the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years with Johnson & Johnson
(China) Company Limited and approximately 4 years with General
Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience
in sales and marketing and has been serving in general manager
or executive level roles for over 7 years. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in the management of fast-moving consumer goods
and dairy companies and has an excellent grasp and in-depth
knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his bachelor’s
degree from Fudan University in Shanghai.
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EELSAEREERE

Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul, aged 46, is a non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Wolhardt joined the Group in July 2008
and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company
on 30 July 2008, and has since been involved in the corporate
development and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Wolhardt
was the Chairman of the Company from 17 September 2012 to
28 June 2013. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the chief executive officer
of DCP Advisors, Limited and also the independent director in
Niu Technologies, a company listed on Nasdag. Mr. Wolhardt
previously worked with KKR Asia Limited and Morgan Stanley,
being responsible for private equity business in China. Mr.
Wolhardt is currently the director of Fujian Sunner Development
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
Mr. Wolhardt is also an independent non-executive director of
Mengniu and a non-executive director of COFCO Meat Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 1610). Mr. Wolhardt was an independent non-
executive director of China Cord Blood Corporation, a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (Stock code: CO) from April
2012 to May 2015. Mr. Wolhardt is a certified public accountant
and certified management accountant. Mr. Wolhardt received
a Bachelor Degree in Accounting from the University of lllinois
(Urbana-Champaign) in the United States.

Mr. ZHANG Ping, aged 55, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2016. Mr. Zhang is a vice
president and the chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. Zhang
holds several directorships in certain subsidiaries of Mengniu
including the director of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy Co., Ltd.. Mr. Zhang also takes
the position of non-executive director in Yashili since 27 April
2015. Mr. Zhang graduated from Beijing Information Science
and Technology University with master’s degree in management
engineering, and has over 24 years of experience in the industry of
fast-moving consumer goods, specializing in the management of
operation, finance and audit as well as risk control. He successively
worked as manager of internal audit and system development,
finance director at Swire Beverages Co., Ltd, general manager of its
bottler manufacturing company and chief executive officer of Coca-
Cola Bottler Manufacturing Holdings Limited.
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Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, aged 43, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2019, Mr. Zhao is currently
the vice president and the head of milk sourcing and supply chain
business unit of Mengniu. Mr. Zhao has served successively as
regional manager, sales director, general manager of operation
and general manager of planning and logistics. Mr. Zhao
graduated from Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics
with a master degree in information engineering and management.
Mr. Zhao has over 18 years of experience in the dairy industry
and specializes in both sales management and supply chain
management. Mr. Zhao has in-depth knowledge of PRC dairy
market and great foresight in the PRC dairy industry.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kong Wai Conway, aged 65, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive director of West China Cement Limited
(stock code: 2233), Chaowei Power Holdings Limited (stock code:
951), GOME Electrical Appliances Holding Limited (stock code:
493), NVC Lighting Holding Limited (stock code: 2222), Yashili
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1230), GCL New Energy
Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), WH Group Limited (stock
code: 288), China Rundong Auto Group Limited (stock code: 1365),
companies listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and Guotai
Junan Securities Limited Co., Ltd (stock code: 2611), a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lee was the independent non-executive director
of CITIC Securities Company Limited, a company listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 6030) and Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600030) until May 2016, he was also the
independent non-executive director of Tibet 5100 Water Resources
Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1115), until February 2020. Mr. Lee is a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
The Chartered Accountants, Australia and New Zealand, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Macau Society of
Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Lee was a member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan Province from
2008 to 31 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience
in public accounting and auditing, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition and initial public offerings. From September 1980 to
September 2009, Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young
and held key leadership positions in his development of the firm in
China.
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Mr. LI Shengli, aged 54, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Li graduated from Shihezi Agricultural College
with a bachelor’'s degree in animal husbandry and veterinary
science in July 1987. He then obtained his doctorate degree in
animal nutrition science from China Agricultural University in July
1996. Since 2003, Mr. Li has been with China Agricultural University,
working as an assistant professor and professor in multiple times.
Mr. Li is currently the vice-director (Animal Nutrition) of the State
Key Laboratories, director of the Sino-US Dairy Research Center
of China Agricultural University, director of the Sino-Dutch Dairy
Development Center, chief scientist in national dairy products
industry technology system, a specialist to the China School Milk
Programme and a specialist in the Cattle and Poultry Research
Centre of Beijing Sanyuan Breeding Technology Co,. Ltd. Mr.
Li is a specialist to the Working Committee of National Dairy
Herd Improvement Programme (DHI) of the Dairy Association of
China and the chairman of China Institute of Animal Husbandry
and Veterinary Cattle Chapter. In 2007, Mr. Li obtained a patent
on Rubeili ($LfZ#), a type of high-energy and high-protein
supplementary feed for dairy cows. Mr. Li was awarded the second
prize and a prize of the Beijing Science and Technology Award in
2000 and 2007, respectively, and was recognized by the Beijing
Municipal Government as “"Top 10 Scientists with Contribution to
the Economic Development in Rural Villages of Beijing” in 2009.
He also received the first prize for advancement in science and
technology awarded by the Education Department in 2012, the first
prize for Chinese Agricultural Science awarded by the Ministry of
Agriculture in 2013 and the second prize of National Scientific and
Technological Progress Award in 2014.

Mr. KANG Yan, aged 44, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Kang graduated from the Renmin
University of China in 1998. Mr. Kang is a qualified practicing
attorney in China and is currently a partner of Fangda Partners. Mr.
Kang joined Beijing Commerce & Finance Law Offices in 2002 and
was promoted as a partner in 2008. Mr. Kang has over 18 years of
experience in legal corporate advisory on mergers and acquisitions
and initial public offerings.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SUN Yugang, aged 39, is executive vice president of the
Group, assisting the chief executive officer in overall Group's
affairs. Mr. Sun re-joined the Group in November 2019. He was
a manager of the finance and investment department of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd. between May 2002
and March 2007. Mr. Sun was the chief financial officer, executive
director and vice president of the Company from March 2007 to
September 2016 and the non-executive director of the Company
from October 2016 to March 2017. Subsequently, Mr. Sun worked
for Hebei Yinong Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (Wit & B #8345 %}
FABRAA)) as a director, vice president and chief financial officer
from October 2016 to August 2018 and for Jiangsu Yuguan Modern
Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.* (T #ERNR ZERIL AR
‘A /]) as a vice president and chief financial officer from August
2018 to October 2019. Mr. Sun graduated from Inner Mongolia
Finance and Economics College, majoring in accounting. Mr. Sun
has extensive experience in financial management and corporate
development.

Mr. CHEN Hongbo, aged 42, is the vice president of the Group.
Mr. Chen joined the Group in September 2008 and has been
responsible for equipment operation since then. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chen was with Mengniu from May 2002 to September
2008 during which period Mr. Chen was in charge of operating
several factories of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and worked as the
manager of the Mengniu (Wuhan) Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd. Mr.
Chen worked for Inner Mongolia Yili Industrial Group Co., Ltd. as
an equipment supervisor from July 1996 to May 2002. Mr. Chen
obtained a master’'s degree in light industry technology and
engineering from Hubei University of Technology in September
2010.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELSAEREERE

Mr. DONG Xianli, aged 55, is the vice president of the Group
to supervise the function of internal control, risk management,
legal compliance and investment of the Group. Mr. Dong is also a
director of Modern Farming. Mr. Dong joined the Group as chief
financial officer of the Group in December 2016 until 1 March 2019
when he was redesignated as the vice president of the Group.
Mr. Dong has extensive experience in financial management with
accountant and valuation qualifications in the People’s Republic of
China. Mr. Dong graduated from Beijing Forestry University with
a bachelor’'s degree in soil and water conservation in July 1985
and from Inner Mongolia University of Technology with a master’s
degree in project management in January 2010. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Dong was the assistant vice president of Mengniu.
During his tenure of service with the Mengniu Group for more than
12 years, Mr. Dong has developed strong expertise in financial
management in milk industry and was primarily responsible for risk
management, internal audit and project investment of the Mengniu
Group, including holding various senior managerial positions and
directorships in certain subsidiaries of Mengniu.

Mr. SU Jiangong, aged 44, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group in July 2019. Prior to that he was the assistant
to the chief executive officer and head of the financial center of the
Group. Mr. Su joined the Group in October 2008 and is responsible
for the management of the Group's financial center. Prior to joining
the Group, from January 2005 to October 2008, Mr. Su served
in Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited as
the director of performance appraisal and head of the financial
accounting department. Mr. Su is a certified public accountant in
the People’s Republic of China and has over 20 years extensive
experience in the areas of financial management and accounting
work since 2000. Mr. Su was engaged in the initial public offering
of the Company, and he is familiar with corporate finance, mergers
and acquisitions, auditing and internal control. He graduated from
Inner Mongolia University in 1997, majoring in financial accounting.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHAO Zunyang, aged 41, is the assistant to the chief
executive officer of the Group and head of the nutrition center.
Mr. Zhao joined the Group in April 2010 and was responsible for
the production management for two years in the Group's ranches.
From April 2013, Mr. Zhao was in charge of the nutrition of the
herd. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhao had work experiences in
the dairy industry at state-owned enterprises, foreign companies
and American ranches. Mr. Zhao obtained a bachelor’s degree in
animal husbandry from China Agricultural University in July 2000
and a master’s degree in animal nutrition from China Agricultural
University in June 2003. In May 2008, he was awarded a master’s
degree from Virginia Polytechnic Institute University in cow nutrition
professional doctorate.

Mr. GUO Zhigang, aged 38, is the assistant to the chief executive
officer of the Group and head of the technical support center of
the Group. Mr. Guo joined the Group in February 2010 and is
responsible for the management of herd disease treatment in the
Group. He has been responsible for the Group's technical support
center since April 2017. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Guo worked
at Wen's Dairy, Feihe and dairy farms in the US. In 2017, he was
awarded outstanding young cow veterinarian of China Veterinary
Medical Association. Mr. Guo received his bachelor’'s degree in
animal medicine from Southwest Agriculture University in June 2004
and his master’s degree in animal medicine from China Agricultural
University in September 2016.

Mr. SONG Weizheng, aged 39, is the assistant to the chief
executive officer of the Group. Mr. Song joined the Group in
January 2020 and is in charge of the Group's purchasing center.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Song joined Mengniu Group in
December 2001. He has previously served as the director of quality
inspection, production department, manager of milk source
department, general manager of milk source region, general
manager of Damu Procurement. Mr. Song obtained a master’s
degree in bioengineering from Inner Mongolia University in July
2010.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

The board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and the management
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are
committed to upholding a high standard of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) and the Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
("CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company has, throughout the
year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this report,
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code except
for the deviation from code provisions A.6.7.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that non-
executive Directors should attend general meetings and develop
a balanced understanding of the views of the Shareholders. One
non- executive Director was not able to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 6 June 2019 due to other
business engagements.

THE BOARD

Role of Directors

The Company is headed by the Board which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board is accountable
to the Shareholders for managing the Company in a responsible
and effective manner. Every Director is committed to act in the
best interest of the Company and to contribute their expertise
and knowledge to the Company. The Board decides on overall
strategies and monitors the Group's performance on behalf of the
Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

The Board determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the
Group. In addition, the Board monitors and controls operating and
financial performance in pursuit of the Group's strategic objectives.
The day-to-day management of the Group's business is delegated
to the chief executive officer and the management of the Group
under the supervision of the executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Matters reserved for the Board and Board Committees are those
affecting the Group's overall strategic policies, financial objectives,
dividend policy, changes in accounting policies, material acquisition
and disposal of assets, investments and other significant matters.

As at 31 December 2019, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely Ms. GAO Lina, Mr. HAN
Chunlin, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LU Minfang, Mr.
WOLHARDT Julian Juul, Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr. ZHAO Jiejun,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LI
Shengli, Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway, and Mr. KANG Yan.

The biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
"Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 42
to 49 of this annual report.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual
responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties
of care, skill and diligence. Comprehensive directors and officers
liability insurance coverage is in place to provide protection to the
Company, the Directors and senior management.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise, varied
background and experiences. Through active participation in Board
meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision making of the Group.

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term

of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under the articles of
association of the Company (”Articles of Association”).
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Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for
a specific term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under
the Articles of Association. Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway, one of
the independent non-executive Directors, has the appropriate
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Board has received
from each independent non-executive Director a written annual
confirmation of their independence and is satisfied with their
independence in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all independent non-executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors of
the Company is three and represents at least one-third of the
Board as required under Rule 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway holds more than seven listed
issuer directorships. As advised by Mr. LEE that he is a full time
professional director and has high attendance for all kind of board
meetings, such that the Company believes Mr. LEE can devote
sufficient time to the Board and each of Board Committee he
engaged with listed issuers and in compliance with Appendix 14
A.5.5 to the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. All Directors have access to the
advice and service of the Company Secretary to ensure that board
procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
The Company Secretary complied with the professional training
requirement with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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(¢)  to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(e) to review existing employee incentive schemes of the
Company; and

() to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 (the "Reporting Year"),
the Board has fulfilled the corporate governance functions by
reviewing the Company’s corporate governance practices.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO")

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices
and procedures. He also steers the Board and the Company
towards its corporate goals. The CEO is responsible for the
effective implementation of the overall strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board as well as the daily operation of the Group.
For the Reporting Year, the Chairman of the Board is Mr. LU
Minfang. The CEO of the Company and Vice Chairman of the
Board is Ms. GAO Lina.

With the support of the CEO and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues brought up at Board meetings and that they receive
adequate and reliable information in relation to matters discussed
at Board meetings and also other affairs of the Group on a monthly
basis in order to enable the Directors to assess the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details.
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BOARD PROCEDURES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board has held four
meetings to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operations

and financial performance of the Group. The Directors participated

in person or through electronic means of communication. Details
of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and Board Committee

meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company held on

6 June 2019 are set out as follows:

EESER

HE2019F12A31MHILFE - EFLL8THK
i RERRBUALKER B LIMER
B BERARFAEBETRAMAAEG - TH
LEEEY  FEEZEBLLHELAREN2019
FOACHBITHRIBEF A B ROFBEERYI
—F :

Number of Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and

general meetings attended/held

L/ BTEZESH ESZRLERRRRAEARY

Annual
General Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director ESfg RRBFAE EZe  ENZEE  HMZRE  REZRE
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. GAQ Lina (Vice Chairman and CEQ) RENLL FLERER) 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER @R
Mr. HAN Chunlin (Chief Qperation Officer) BB (£1E44TE) 1/1 44 N/A N/A N/A
TR a¥ek: TR
Non-executive Directors FHTESE
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman of the Board) BRNEEEFELE) 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1
TER TER
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul WOLHARDT Julian Juul% 4 11 44 33 N/A N/A
TaR T
Mr. ZHANG Ping KELE 1/1 44 N/A 11 N/A
TER TER
Mr. WEN Yongping " AT R N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
TER T TER TER @R
Mr. ZHAQ Jigjun M BEERE 01 N/A N/A N/A N/A
TR TR TR TR
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. LI Shengli ZHHEE 1/1 4/4 N/A 171 N/A
TER TER
Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway TRELE 1/1 44 33 N/A 11
ek
Mr. KANG Yan RELE 1/1 44 33 11 /1

Note: Mr. WEN Yongping resigned on 15 January 2019, while
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun was appointed on the same date.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for information and
may make inquiries if necessary. Directors of the Company who
considers it necessary to seek independent professional advice in
order to perform his/her duties as a Director of the Company may
convene, or request the Company Secretary to convene, a meeting
of the Board to approve the consultation of independent legal
or other professional advisor for advice at Company’s expenses.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying board
papers of the meeting are sent to all Directors before the proposed
date of a meeting. Additional Board meetings, if necessary, are
arranged and held as and when required. During the Reporting
Year, the Chairman met with the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors to exchange views on matters concerning the
business development, management and corporate governance of
the Group.

Every Director is entitled to access the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are complied
with. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by any Director during normal office hours with
reasonable advance notice.

Appointment, Re-election of Directors and Removal

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years. Each
Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years. The Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with article 17.18 of the Articles of
Association. Directors appointed as an addition to the Board or to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be subject to re-election by
the Shareholders at the following annual general meeting or the
following general meeting of the Company after the appointment.
Also, when an independent non-executive Director proposed for
re-election has served the Company for more than nine years, his
or her re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved at the annual general meeting.
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THE BOARD'S DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted diversity policy, which sets out the
approach to diversity of Board members. In determining the
Board's composition, the Company considers a range of diversity
elements, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and education background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based
on merit and objective criteria while taking into full account of the
interest of Board's diversity.

As at date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors
with both gender, three of which are independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of gender, nationality,
professional background and skills.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The
Company shall be responsible for arranging suitable training for
all Directors at the Company'’s expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. For newly appointed Director a induction
package will be given to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the operations, business and governance policies of the Group.
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A summary of training received by the Directors during the year
ended to 31 December 2019 according to the records provided by

the Directors is as follows:

Annual Report 2019 Z=Z—AFFH

CORPORATE GOVERNA

RIFEEMREHEMNLE  EFREE2019F12H
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Type of trainings

Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement

C:  Attending or delivering seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

Directors 5= R
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. GAO Lina =Rkt A B
Mr. HAN Chunlin FEMEE A B
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman of the Board) ESMEE(EEZ F/F) A B,C
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul WOLHARDT Julian Juulfc 4 A B, C
Mr. ZHANG Ping R A'B
Mr. WEN Yongping mKCE e A, B
(resigned on 15 January 2019) (FR20194 1 A 158 B )
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HEE L A B
(appointed on 15 January 2019) (201951 H15AEZE )
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITEE
Mr. LI Shengli FHANEE A B, C
Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway FABEE A B, C
Mr. KANG Yan REES A A, B
A:  Reading materials, journals and updates relating to the business and ~ A: HEBBEEBLITERRNED T EEHE
industry development #
B: Reading materials relevant to the latest development of the Listing B : HEARE WAL REMEAEERTHNED

C: HEXEHHNER KRR LiniE
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In order to oversee particular aspects of the Group, the Board
had established a Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee
a Nomination Committee and a Strategy and Development
Committee with the defined terms of reference in line with the
CG Code. The terms of reference are published on the respective
websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company.
The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances upon request.
Details of these Board committees including their composition,
major responsibilities and functions and work performed are as

follows:

Remuneration Committee

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. LI Shengli
and other members are Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr. KANG Yan.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and the majority being independent non-
executive Directors of the Company.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration for all the Directors and senior
management of the Group, and make recommendations of
the remuneration packages for all the executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and the senior management to the Board.

The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees including executive Directors
and senior management of the Group is based on the skills,
knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s
and the Group's affairs. The remuneration packages are also
determined by reference to the Company’s performance and
profitability, remuneration level in the industry and the prevailing
market conditions. The emolument policy for independent non-
executive Directors, mainly comprising Directors’ fees, is subject
to annual assessment with reference to the market standard.
Individual Directors and senior management would not be involved
in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
has been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.
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During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed,
discussed and approved the remuneration for the executive
Directors and senior management of the Group, reviewed the
remuneration policy and made recommendation to the Board for
the remuneration for the non-executive Directors for its approval.
Remuneration Committee has also reviewed the existing employee
incentive schemes of the Group.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:
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RAERFE - FHEZESEHN - fmMILER
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SREEBHRERE2019F12A318 ILEE 2
TEENT

Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) persons
& 25 E (%8 T) REAH
0-1,000,000 1
1,000,001-2,000,000 1
2,000,001-3,000,000 2
3,000,000—4,000,000 2

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 12 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LEE Kong
Wai, Conway and Mr. KANG Yan and one non-executive Director,
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul. Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway and
Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul posses the relevant professional
qualifications required under the Listing rules. The Chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to oversee
the Group's financial reporting system, risk management system
and internal control procedures, and to review and monitor
the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standard. The Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2019. Major work completed by the Audit Committee
during the year includes:

J reviewed the Group’s annual report, interim financial
information and annual consolidated financial statements;

J reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

J reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, independence
and performance;

J reviewed the external auditor's management letter and the
management's response;

J reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

J assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of
financial reporting procedures and internal control system;

J reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
systems of internal control and risk management and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function, including advising
on identification of connected parties and formulating
relevant policies;

o reviewed the connected and continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group or subsisting during
the Reporting Year; and

J reviewed the utilisation of annual caps on certain continuing
connected transactions of the Group.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprised one non-executive Director
Mr. LU Minfang and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. KANG Yan. The
Chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. LU Minfang.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive. The Nomination Committee has
been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting and has reviewed and recommended the structure, size
and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board. It reviewed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors. It also made recommendations to the Board
on retiring Directors for re-election at the annual general meeting
held on 6 June 2019.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for directorship
(the "Nomination Policy”) in 2018 which supplemental to the
Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee of the Board (the
“Nomination Committee”). It aims at setting out the processes
and criteria for the nomination of a candidate for directorship in
the Company and ensure that all nominations of Board members
are fair and transparent in order to facilitate the constitution
of the Board with a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business.
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Nomination Policy sets out as below:

1. Objective

1.1.

1.2

This policy was approved and adopted by the
board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company by
resolution passed on 17 December 2018 upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

This policy sets out the selection criteria and procedures
to be adopted when considering candidates to
be nominated to the Board for it to consider or
recommended to the shareholders of the Company for
election, whether new appointment or re-appointment,
as directors of the Company at general meetings or as
directors to fill casual vacancies to ensure the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet various needs of the Company.
It is the Board which has the ultimate responsibility for
selecting and appointing the directors.

2. Selection criteria

2.1.

When considering a candidate nominated for
directorship or a director’s proposed re-appointment,
the Nomination Committee will take into account the
following factors as a reference:

o whether the qualification, skills, experience,
industry knowledge of the candidate meet the
business needs or are in line with the long term
development of the Company;

o effect on the board’s composition and diversity in
all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and
the compliance with the diversity policy of the
Company;
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o commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient
time to effectively discharge his/her duties. In
this regard, the number and nature of offices
held by the candidate in public companies or
organizations, and other executive appointments
or significant commitments will be considered;

o any potential/actual conflicts of interest that may
arise if the candidate is selected;

o for the appointment or re-appointment of
independent non-executive directors, the
independence of the candidate and his/her
immediate family from the Company; and

o in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an
independent non-executive director, the number
of years he/she has already served.

The above factors are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person,
as it considers appropriate on a case by case basis.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form,
together with their written consent to be appointed as
a director of the Company and to the public disclosure
of their personal data on any document or the relevant
websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a director of the Company.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates
to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

22
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3. Nomination procedures

3.1.

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s Articles

of Association, if the Board recognises the need to

appoint an additional director, the following procedures

should be adopted:

the chairman of the Nomination Committee shall
call a meeting of the Nomination Committee,
and invite nominations of candidates from
Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also identify or select
candidates to be recommended to the Board,
with or without assistance from external agencies
or the Company;

the Nomination Committee may use any process
it deems appropriate to assess the suitability of
and the potential contribution to the Board by
the candidates based on (but not limited to) the
criteria set out in section 2.1 herein, which may
include personal interviews, background checks,
presentations or written submissions by the
candidates and third party references;

the Nomination Committee will hold a physical
meeting to consider the matter and avoid the
making of decisions by written resolutions unless
it is impractical that a physical meeting be held;

the Nomination Committee shall provide to the
Board for its consideration with all the information
required, including information set out in Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the
candidates;

the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board, including the
terms and conditions of the appointment.
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3.2.

3.3

3.4.

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee. The Board shall have the final decision on
all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates
to stand for election at any general meeting.

All appointments of director should be confirmed by
letter of appointment setting out the key terms and
conditions of the appointment of the directors, which
should be approved by the Nomination Committee.

In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting, and to invite nominations from
shareholders, a circular accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting will be sent to shareholders
of the Company. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications
and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidates will be included in the
circular to shareholders of the Company.

Re-appointments of existing directors

In cases of re-appointments of existing directors, a physical

meeting will be held to consider the re-appointment based

on (but not limited to) the criteria set out in paragraph 2.1

above.

Nomination by shareholders
The shareholders of the Company may also propose a
person for election as a director, details of which are set out

in the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for

Election as Director” of the Company.
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6. General
6.1. This policy and the progress towards achieving the
objectives set out in this policy will be disclosed in the
corporate governance report of the Company.

6.2.  This policy shall be reviewed annually by the Nomination
Committee at its annual meeting. This policy shall be
updated and revised as and when necessary in light
of changes in circumstances (e.g. change in business
needs of the Company) and reflect any change in
regulatory requirements, including those under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Any amendment to
this policy shall be approved and resolved by the Board
in writing.

6.3. In case of discrepancy in respect of the language of this
Policy, the English version shall prevail.

Strategy and Development Committee

The Strategy and Development Committee comprised one
executive Director, Ms. GAO Lina, two non-executive Director, Mr.
WOLHARDT Julian Juul and Mr. ZHAO Jiejun who was appointed
on 15 January 2019 and one independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. LI Shengli. The Strategy and Development Committee is
chaired by Ms. GAO Lina.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

6.  —HRFEIHE
6.1. NI Je Z AN 5 BT 8 B 12 i 8
BRARNBILEERREFIEE -

62. AERRGFHIELZRCHAFRE
# L& o NBREWRERE R EAE (W0
AR AR BV EE) L BT
BHHMEET IR EE EKAY(E ]
2t BREEHEXRZAERNA]
B ETHAIBHE © HIABRAE
A EHEFE L EEEAMMER

AR o

63 WMAKFEMZE FHBE  BUHEX

HRA G2

BHRERREZE®
BRLERZESHERTES(FEBIK
+) - MAFEHTTESE (WOLHARDT Julian Juuldt
A R HEAEE A (R 2019F1 BISHESRE) h—
BEUINTES (EHBREEENX - 2 BBL
THEEBBEERZESERF -

BRLERZEGNIERERERARARY
HREMEBENENERNRE  HLEHEAR
HEREAKRERZS  THFEARRERNE
REEETHRRFEHRRE



CORPORATE GOVERNA

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Group's external auditors are Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit services (including any
potential conflict of interest) performed by the external auditors.
The amount of fees charged by the auditor generally depends on
the scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the remuneration to the auditor of the Company
were approximately RMB2.95 million (2018: RMB2.80 million) for
audit services and RMB0.19 million (2018: RMBO0.17 million) for non-
audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the Directors are
responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies
are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments and
estimates made are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, the requirements of the International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations
(collectively "IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the applicable laws were complied with.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group's ability to continue as going concern. The Board has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The reporting responsibilities of external auditors of the Company
are disclosed in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 105 to
111 of this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the management
of the Company have provided all members with monthly updates
giving a fair and understandable assessment of the Company's
performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules during
the Reporting Year.

.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Year, there is no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for annually reviewing the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system of the Group.
The scope of the review is determined and recommended by
the Audit Committee. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. Such review also considers the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Company in relation to its accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget. Risk
management and internal control review reports are circulated to
the Audit Committee members and the Board in accordance with
the approved scope.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has complied with Code
Provision C.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The major
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
set out as below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

The Board together with senior management monitor and assess
risk regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. Based on the risk assessments conducted for
the year under review, no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system. The
framework of the system enables the Group to achieve objectives
regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external

communication to provide the Group with the information

needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

. Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

With aim to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

g
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o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the Reporting
Year, no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the risk management system
and internal control system maintained by the Group is sufficient to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the Group's
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or
disposition, and that transactions are properly authorized and
proper accounting records are properly maintained.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Audit
Committee and senior management of the Group. It provides an
independent and objective assurance to safeguard the Group’s
operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the Group's process on risk management,
internal control and governance. The risk based audit plans ensure
that high risk areas of the Group's operations and resources are
specifically attended to Ad hoc reviews are conducted on areas of
concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill
the requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and
internal control systems in general. During the Reporting Year, the
internal audit department has conduct audit on farms at different
regions of the Group and reported to the senior management.
The internal audit department of the Group has also reviewed
the connected transaction of the Group and report to Audit
Committee.

The senior management has reviewed the risk management and
internal control system of the Group for the Reporting Year and

considered them to be effective and adequate.

The Group will continue to enhance the system to cope with the
changes in the business environment.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy on 17 December 2018 (the
“Dividend Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. The Company'’s ability to distribute dividends will
depend on, among others, the profits, operating results, cash flow,
financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements
and other factors of the Company which the Directors consider
relevant, and the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The
remaining profit will be used for the development and operation of
the Group.

The Company’s distribution of dividends shall also comply with any
restrictions under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
of the Company, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders
of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Effective Communication

The Company discloses relevant information to Shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and consolidated financial
statements, the interim report, as well as the annual general
meeting. The section under “CEQ's Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of the annual report facilitate the
Shareholders’ understanding of the Company’s activities.
The annual general meeting allows the Directors to meet and
communicate with the Shareholders. The Company’s consolidated
financial statements and each of the required disclosure of
information are dispatched within the prescribed period imposed
by laws and regulations.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the
Group meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and
participates frequently in other conferences and presentations.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis.
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SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings may require an extraordinary general meeting by
a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
either via personal delivery or mail (Attn: Board of Directors/
Company Secretary, at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower,
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong) or via email
(info@ moderndairyir.com). The Board shall proceed duly within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition to convene a
general meeting to be held within a further 21 days.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board'’s
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
Secretary forwards communications relating to matters within the
Board's purview to the Board.

Procedures for Making Proposals at Shareholder’s Meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to
the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to
be discussed at general meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the
Board pursuant to the following address via personal delivery,
mail or courier to: Attention: Shareholder Communication, Board
of Directors, Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals
are appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for
approval at next annual general meeting or at an extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate.
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Voting by Way of Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting must be taken by
poll. The chairman of the meeting will therefore demand a poll
for every resolution put to the vote of the annual general meeting
pursuant to article 14.6 of the Articles of Association. The relevant
details of the proposed resolutions, including biographies of each
Director standing for re-election, will be included in the circular
to Shareholders dispatched together with this annual report.
The Company will announce the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all
Directors confirmed they have complied with the required standard
set out in the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company during the Reporting Year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. When the Company announces its
interim and annual results, management will normally meet with
institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media, provide
briefings on the business progress and recent developments of
the Company. The Company has regularly participated in investor
summits and conferences to enhance communication with the
investment community. Investors are welcomed to send their
enquiries to our investor relation at info@moderndairyir.com or
browse the Company’s website (http://www.moderndairyir.com) for
latest update information of the Group.

On behalf of the Board
GAO Lina
Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2020

.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

The Board presents its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of China Modern Dairy Holdings
Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
"Group") for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting
Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries is production and sale of raw
milk to customers for processing into dairy products. The Company
has handover the operations of its production and sale of liquid
milk business to China Mengniu Dairy Company Ltd (“Mengniu”,
together with its subsidiaries, “Mengniu Group”) in 2018.

The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements and the notes on pages 112
to 262.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the Reporting Year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclose in this announcement, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company's listed securities during the Reporting Year, except that
the trustee of the share award scheme of the Company adopted
on 26 March 2018, pursuant to the rules of this scheme, purchased
on the open market a total of 19,962,000 ordinary shares of the
Company as restricted shares at a consideration of approximately
HK$22,924,000 (equivalent to RMB20,405,000). The Group retained
a total number of 10,592,744 vesting shares as a consideration
of approximately HK$12,499,000 (equivalent to RMB10,722,000)
for paying the individual income tax on behalf of those selected
participants under the share award schemes of the Company.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

No interim dividend was paid during the Reporting Year (2018:
nil), and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend (2018: nil) in respect of the Reporting Year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Reporting Year amounted to approximately RMBO0.55 million (2018:
RMBO0.23 million).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business, a discussion on the Group's
future business development and possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing, and an analysis of the Group's
performance using financial key performance indicators for
Reporting Year are provided in the CEO’s Statement on pages 5 to
9 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 12 to 41
of this annual report. These discussions form part of this report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building
up a good corporate and social relationship and motivating
staff and creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are
committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment
and community in which we conduct business and where our
stakeholders live.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As a responsible business participant, the Group strictly
endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopted effective environmental
technologies to ensure our products meet the required standards
and ethics in respect of environment protection.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as
the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options, restricted share award,
employee partnership program and cash-based incentive award
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group

to different levels of success.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS

The Company adopts an open, fair and impartial procurement
policies, and takes the lead in formulating industry standards
as a win-win approach for a healthy development of the dairy
industry. The quality and safety of feed are always our primary
consideration. We have established long-term cooperation
relationship with a number of suppliers, and strived to ensure that
they are in compliance with our undertaking on quality and ethics.
We require the suppliers to observe our undertaking on integrity.
We have stringent requirements in supplier selection and that
they must satisfy the qualification requirements in quality, safety,
nutrients, historical record and overall performance etc. and pass
our constant examination and evaluation before becoming our

qualified suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS

To provide high quality products and services to customers are
always our mission. Customers’ need and demand are always
our top consideration. With the increase of income and the
popularization of health concepts, the demand of dairy products
is increasingly augmented with a growing tendency for diversified
products.

We, together with Mengniu Group expands the sales network and
increases sale forms, setting up outlets in large supermarkets, By
doing so, we hope to gradually develop customers, deliver our
fresh milk products in time, and meet consumers’ demand.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group's main operations are carried out by the Company'’s
subsidiaries in the mainland China while the Company itself is
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group's operations
are regulated by Hong Kong and mainland China laws. During the
Reporting Year and up to the date of this report, the Board was not
aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company. Please refer to the
discussions in this report and the “Corporate Governance Report”
for further details on the Group's compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles of Association (the "Articles of
Association”), every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all loss or liabilities (to
the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of each Director is determined with reference
to the duties, responsibilities, performance of the Directors, the
results of the Group and the prevailing market rate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the corporate governance practice of the Company are
set out on pages 50 to 73 of this annual report.

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

In according to the subscription agreement entered into between
the Company and New Hope (the Subscriber), dated 18 July 2019,
the Company has allot and issued 276,228,409 ordinary shares at
the subscription price of RMB1.1920 (equivalent to HK$1.3535)
per share (“Subscription Shares”), which represents a discount of
approximately 2.63% to the closing price of HK$1.3900 per share
as quoted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on the date of the
Subscription Agreement. New Hope through its subsidiary GGG
Holdings Limited has subscribed the Subscription Shares during
the Report Year. The gross proceeds from the subscription were
approximately RMB329.26 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$373.87 million).
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The issue and allotment of the Subscription Shares and the sale of
the Collateral Shares by the Company completed in September
2019, and the total proceeds resulting from the transactions were
approximately RMB709 million. As at 31 December 2019, the
Company has fully utilised such proceeds for the predetermined
purposes as mentioned under the session "Management
Discussion and Analysis”.

As at the date of this report, New Hope holds 594,925,763 shares of
the Company, representing 9.28% of the total issued shares capital
of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Reporting Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 116 and note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company'’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
Cayman lIslands, amounted to approximately RMB6,097.37 million
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB5,923.10 million).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 263 to 264.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2019 are set out in notes 29, 30, 31 and 32 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

ANBBETREERERD LD EERFROHDER
20199 AT * MR SFAISHIBBEHARE
709B BT - 20195 12A31H » ARG #B 2
HAEHERRINERE N wm RO 3o Frit
WIEEAR o

RAFRE BE - #1755 L35 H KR F)594,925,763%
B+ ARAA BB BT AN ABEH9.28% ©

Al 7k &
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RENCENGEESEBIRREE M EHRERN
5149 - 72019128318 + KA RK A 7 Ik &
EHREHERARATENAARKES097.3788
JC(20184F : AR¥5,923. 1088 7T) °
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The turnover attributable to the Group's primary customers.
Mengniu Group, accounted for approximately 85.3% (2018: 90.0%)
of the Group's total turnover for the Reporting Year. The Group's
five largest customers contributed in aggregate 95.6% (2018: 96.6%)
of the Group's total turnover for the year ended 31 December
2019.

During the Reporting Year, the five largest suppliers of the Group
in aggregate represented 12.7% (2018: 12.7%) of the Group's total
purchases. Purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 4.0% (2018: 3.7%) of the Group's total purchases.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the interest in Mengniu of Mr. LU
Minfang, Mr. ZHANG Ping, Mr. WEN Yongping who resigned
on 15 January 2019 and Mr. ZHAO Jiejun who was appointed on
15 January 2019 as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” below of this report, none of
the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholder (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
top five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. GAO Lina (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HAN Chunlin (Chief Operation Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul

Mr. ZHANG Ping

Mr. WEN Yongping (resigned on 15 January 2019)
Mr. ZHAQO Jiejun (appointed on 15 January 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LI Shengli

Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. KANG Yan

g
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In accordance with Article 17.18 of the Articles of Association
of the Company, Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr.
WOLHARDT Julian Juul will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM") as at the date of this report.

By virtue of Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until
the following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of

the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages
42 to 49.

Directors’ Services Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

Related Parties Transaction

None of the “Related Parties Transactions” as disclosed in note 46
to the consolidated financial statements for the year under review
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS - LONG AND SHORT EZ##%-RNKk®o  HERORES
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES HHAERXA

AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of  #2019F12H31H * EFERA R EETHAER
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company and REZSZEMNBEAREKRA R HERE ZE(T&
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and RS REEEH (BB EPIFES71%) ([FH R
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within BRI ) EXVED) KA - MEER K REHF - #
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance  B1RIEFEFH LB E RO E3I52FEZ LR AR A
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded in  FEME MR LA R + RE EMETA
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 ZEFETEHFR ZHEESFAI([ZESFRI AN
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong @A R R REBE A ER LAB T ¢

Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the ~ RAQTRB REER G HNETE
Company

Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage of
underlying shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares interest
R e HE
EEnA BEMEE HEROGEHE BMAOB D
Ms. GAO Lina® Interest in controlled corporation 221,581,733 3.46%
[S)- i Eeguml P hEE R
Beneficial owner 38,378,476@ 0.60%
BESFEA
Mr. HAN Chunlin Beneficial owner 23,968,1200 0.37%
BEMEE EHFAA
(1) Ms. Gao holds approximately 49.12% of the interests in Jinmu (1) =& 1# A Jinmu Holdings Co Ltd. ([Jinmul)4)
Holdings Co Ltd. (“Jinmu”). Ms. Gao is deemed to be interested in 49 12% M - BIEFEHFMAEIRS - s LHR
the 221,581,733 shares in the Company held by Jinmu under the SFO. B JinmufT#5221,581, 733 N ARG P HEE
g e

(2) This represent legal and beneficial interest of 9,101,560 shares in the (2 469,101,560 B A E R IHAENAR ARG A

Company and 29,276,916 share options in underlying shares of the RARBIFAEEERARESHEIEERERKRE
pre-IPO management options (the “Management Options”) granted ((EEREBRE]ORARN T 29,276,916 8 1%
by the Company. o

(3)  These represent legal and beneficial interest of 2,314,204 shares in ~ (3)  #E182,314,204 R & A Em/HE AR AR H
the Company and 21,653,916 share options in underlying shares of REARBABEHEEEBRENHEBAKRS R
the Management Options granted by the Company. 21,653,916 B #E -

a,.p -
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Interest in Associated Corporation
Long positions in the shares of the associated corporation are set

RIEEE A B R i
RAAROEEBR DRI

HEELE

PERFIARERRAT

Note: Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr. ZHAO Jiejun are non-
executive Directors of the Company. Mr. LU Minfang is an executive
director and chief executive officer of Mengniu. Mr. ZHANG Ping
is a chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr. ZHAO Jiejun who was
appointed as a non-executive Director on 15 January 2019. As at the
date of this report, Mengniu holds 58.15% of the issued share capital
of the Company.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

out below:
Number of Approximate
shares in percentage of
associated shareholdings
Name of Director Name of associated corporation corporation interest
REEE A
EEnA HEEEEE HRGHE BMAOBE D
Mr. LU Minfang China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 11,269,457 0.29%
EHREE PERFIARERATF
Mr. ZHANG Ping China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 2,579,500 0.07%
RFRAE PERFIAEERAA
Mr. ZHAQO Jiejun China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 3,227,303 0.08%

st EHMEL RPEAERBHELEYBARAT
MIERITEE - EFREEARFHRITESHR
BE - RFLEEARFNEREVLEE - BEFL
ER2019F1A1SHEZTERIERITES - KA
HEAH  RERBBARBEEITRAGS.15% °

B EXPREEIN

MR2019%F12A31H 8N

ARBEBITRABRKEESEENBEARER
A A EALAERAE (E & R &5 RS ED
EXVERD By - HERD RESFT - BERE
o RHEEAIEIS2FEABELRARAFEN
B E AR RR - JARBRETRIZAM
GARBREBHZ IO E IS FAR o



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 January
2019 in relation to the supply agreement with Oushi Mengniu (Inner
Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (REH B R4FIAR B ERE
f£/2 7)), ("Oushi Mengniu”) a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yashili,
a connected person of the Company, and the announcement
dated 31 December 2019 in connection with the renewed
framework supply agreement with RXE B2 RBEBREEZAR A
Bl(Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial Corporation
Limited), a connected person of the Company (collectively the
"Transactions”), Mr. LU Minfang is an executive director and the
chief executive officer of Mengniu. Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul is
an independent non-executive director of Mengniu. Mr. ZHANG
Ping is the vice president and chief financial officer of Mengniu. Mr.
ZHAO Jiejun is vice president and head of milk sourcing and supply
chain business unit of Mengniu. Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. ZHANG Ping
and Mr. ZHAO Jiejun hold interest in Mengniu as at 31 December
2019 as disclosed in section headed “Directors’ Interests — Long
and Short Position in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debenture”
above. Accordingly, each of Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. WOLHARDT
Julian Juul, Mr. ZHANG Ping and Mr. ZHAO Jiejun was considered
to have a material interest in the Transactions.

Mr. WEN Yongping (resigned as a Director on 15 January 2019) was
the vice president and the general manager of the chilled product
business department of Mengniu and holds interests Mengniu.
Accordingly, he was considered to have a material interest in the
Transaction.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance, to which the Company, its fellow
subsidiaries, its subsidiaries or its holding company was a party,
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or any time during the
Reporting Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Director named in the paragraphs below have interests in
businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during
the Reporting Year.

As mentioned above, each of Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. WOLHARDT
Julian Juul, Mr. ZHANG Ping, Mr. WEN Yongping (resigned on 15
January 2019) and Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, held offices in Mengniu during
the Reporting Year. Mengniu is a substantial shareholder of the
Company and is engaged in the dairy industry.

The above-mentioned competing business is managed by separate
entities with independent management and administration. The
Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying
on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the
businesses of these entities. When making decisions, the relevant
Director, in performance of his duty as Director, have acted and will
continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any interest in any company or business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group during
the Reporting Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Year.
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PRE-IPO MANAGEMENT OPTIONS

The Company, on 31 October 2010, before the initial public offer
of the Company, granted management options (“Management
Options”) to Ms. GAO Lina and Mr. HAN Chunlin. The following
Management Options were outstanding as at 31 December 2019:

Numb
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BARAAHRENEEEBRE
RAFFHR2010FE10A31THENA R R BN AREE
AR EERZ T RBEMEERDEREERE
((EEEBRED - LLTAR2019F12A31H M
RITENEIRE R -

er of underlying shares of the Company which may be
issued pursuant to the Management Options

BEERERRETHBTNALTRBRGHA

As at Granted Exercised Cancelled Asat

1 January during during during 31 December

Name of grantee Date of grant 2019 the period the period the period 2019

R2019% R2019%

RRALR RiBH 1A18 BARH B ik 12A31R

Ms. GAO Lina 31 October 2010 29,276,916 - - - 29,276,916
REMLL 20106104318

Mr. HAN Chunlin 31 October 2010 21653916 - - - 21,653,916
BEMEL 20105104318

50,930,832 - - - 50,930,832

These options are exercisable at the exercise price HK$0.86 per
share during the period commencing from the listing date of the
Company (26 November 2010) until 10 years from the date of grant.

The number of shares in the Company to be issued upon
the exercise of the outstanding options is 50,930,832 shares,
representing 0.79% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at 31 December 2019.

ZEBEREATRAQT L HE (2010611 H26
B EERH BB 10FEHEIRITEE SRR
0.86/B T 71 o

R2019F 124318 + BAITE M ARTT{E A BE AR
BEITHARR G RMDEE 550,930,8320% @ 1EAA
BB 1T AN0.79% °
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SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 November 2011
(“Share Option Scheme 1”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 17 November 2011, which expired on 16 November 2014. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 5 June 2014 (“Share
Option Scheme I1”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 5 June 2014, which was terminated on 9 September 2016. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 30 September 2016
(“Share Option Scheme I11")

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme on
30 September 2016.

(@)  The purpose of the Share Option Scheme llI

The Share Option Scheme Ill seeks to provide an incentive
for the qualified participants to work with commitment
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares
for the benefit of the shareholders, and to maintain or attract
business relationships with the Qualified Participants whose
contributions are or may be beneficial to the growth of the
Group.

(b) Qualified Participants

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any
executive director, or employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Company, any subsidiary or any invested entity;
(ii) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any subsidiary
or any invested entity; (iii) any customer, business or joint
venture partner, advisor, consultant, contractor, supplier,
agent or service provider of the Company, any subsidiary
or any invested entity who is an individual; (iv) any full-time
employee of any customer, business or joint venture partner,
advisor, consultant, contractor, supplier, agent, customer
or service provider of the Company, any subsidiaries or any
invested entity.

Lo

B

R2011E 11 B17BERAN B IR 8 ([IB AR
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BT - 2R EHN2017F3H218%E
;ﬁ o
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(d

Maximum number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme llI

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme Il shall not exceed 150,000,000 as approved by
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on
30 September 2016, representing approximately 2.34% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.

Maximum entitlement of each qualified participant under
the Share Option Scheme llI

Unless approved by the shareholders at a general meeting
in the manner prescribed in the Listing Rules, the Board
shall not grant options to any qualified participants if the
acceptance of those options would result in the total number
of shares issued and to be issued to that qualified participant
on exercise of his options (including both exercised and
outstanding options) during any 12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company at
the time.

Performance targets and vesting of option

Once the options are granted to the relevant qualified
participant, the granted options will be deemed to be
divided into three tranches, each of which will consist of
one third of the granted options and will be associated
with the performance target. Such performance target will
be determined at the Board’s discretion and specified in
the offer letter when the options are granted. The financial
period for the first tranche will be the financial year ended 31
December 2016, the financial period for the second tranche
will be the financial year ending 31 December 2017 and the
financial period for the third tranche will be the financial year
ending 31 December 2018. The corresponding tranche will
be cancelled if less than 80% of the performance target set
for the relevant financial period is met. The corresponding
tranche will accrue on a pro-rata basis if 80% or more of the
performance target set for the relevant financial period is
met. The corresponding tranche will accrue in full if 100% of
the performance target set for the relevant financial period
is met. The granted options accrued shall vest on a one-off
basis within 30 days after the date of publication of the results
announcement for the year ended 31 December 2018. Any
granted options not accrued as a result of non-fulfilment of
any performance target shall automatically lapse.

g

(c)
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(f)  Timing for exercise of options
The vested options could only be exercised within one (1)
year on the day when they become vested and after such
period the vested options will automatically lapse (to the
extent not already exercised).

(9) Payment for acceptance of option
Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.0
to the Company as a consideration for the grant.

(h)  Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the Board
but in any event shall be at least highest of: (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange'’s daily quotation sheets on the offer
date; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares;

(i) Period of the Share Option Scheme IlI
Subject to earlier termination by the Company at a general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme Il shall
be valid and effective for a period of three years from 30
September 2016.

All the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017 and no new share option has
been granted under Share Option Scheme Il since.

As at the date of this report, there was no outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme |, Share Option Scheme
Il and Share Option Scheme Ill. Other details of the share options
schemes are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The related accounting policy for the fair values of the share
options are set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme which was
adopted by the Company on 9 September 2016 (the “Share Award
Scheme 1”), and on 26 March 2018 the Company adopted a new
share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme Il”) which shall
remain effective for ten years. The goal of the share award schemes
are to motivate the employees to maximize the value of and share
the results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group.

Share Award Scheme |

A total number of 21,011,000 of awarded shares under Share Award
Scheme | was vested to certain members of management and the
eligible employees during the Reporting Year. As at 31 December
2019, the total outstanding awarded shares being unrested was
5,325,000 shares. For the avoidance of doubt, any restricted share
granted prior to 26 March 2018, shall for all purposes continue to
be administered and take effect in accordance with the rules of
Share Award Scheme I.

Share Award Scheme Il

As the total contributed amount of the Share Award Scheme |
has reached its limit in 2017, the Company adopted Share Award
Scheme Il on 26 March 2018.

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be effective from the adoption
date and shall continue in full force and effect for an initial term of
ten (10) years commencing on the adoption date.

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be subject to the administration of
the Board and the scheme trustee in accordance with the scheme
rules and the trust deed between the Company and the scheme
trustee. The Trustee is an independent third party to the Company.

On 29 March 2019, the Board granted 19,962,000 restricted shares
as awarded shares to 51 selected participants under the Share
Award Scheme II. A total of 19,962,000 ordinary shares of the
Company were purchased from open market by the trustee of the
scheme at a total consideration of approximately HK$22,924,000
(equivalent to RMB20,405,000) during the Reporting Year. A total
number of 19,962,000 of awarded shares under Share Award
Scheme Il was vested to certain members of management and the
eligible employees during the Reporting Year.
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The awarded shares granted are subject to the terms and condition
of the scheme and the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to
the vesting of the awarded shares imposed on such selected
participant as specified in the rules of the scheme and the grant
notice.

For details of the Share Award Scheme I, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2018. Further details
of the share award schemes are also set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Employee Partnership Program

As the Company'’s business scale continues to expand, operating
management and incentive system shall keep up with the times.
The traditional rationale of management by objectives has
limitations. How to ignite employees’ working enthusiasm to serve
the company proactively, and enhance their sense of ownership
and strive for the development of the company together are the
topics that the Company needs to cope with in depth. Therefore,
on top of the existing restricted share award schemes, the
Company has specially formulated an employee partnership profit-
sharing program (the “Employee Partnership Program”) with aim
to build a community of shared interests amongst the Company
and its employees.

Many leading enterprises in mainland China realized that
the partnership systems is closely correlated to a sustainable
development of the company, and start to implement the
partnership management system one after another, allowing
employees and company to build a community of shared interests,
business and future.

The Employee Partnership Program is a model of contemporary
management that combines incentives and management.
Leveraging the platform provided by the Company, the program
will motivate the partners on the basis of profit sharing while the
partners will be empowered with more rights as well as to bear
more responsibilities driving to the success of the Company.

The management concept and model of “Employee Partnership
Program” includes two phases. The first phase is to implement the
“employee profit sharing” program, and the second phase is to
facilitate both “profit sharing” and “performance progress reward”
program. As accumulating experience during the implementation
of two phases, the Company will continue to launch a more
comprehensive and scientific Employee Partnership Program in the
future.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Pre-IPO
Management Options”, “Share Options” and “Share Award
Schemes” above, at no time during the Reporting Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company to
have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any
or its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other corporate.

DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE
SFO

As at 31 December 2019 the interests or short positions of
substantial Shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief
executives of the Company and their respective associates, in
the shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), as recorded in the register required to be maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of substantial
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the Company'’s
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shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares Capital
HARATSRIT
FERRBRE B EEME BHEE BABDL
China Mengniu Dairy Beneficial interest 1,317,903,000(L)™ 20.57%
Company Limited gt
FREREIEERAR
Interest in controlled corporation 2,407,866,412(L)@ 37.58%
SR E R
Future Discovery Limited ~ Beneficial interest 2,407,866,412(L)@ 37.58%
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Name of substantial
shareholders

FERREBE

Capacity/Nature of interest

B0 RENE

Number of Shares

RIDEE

Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued Share
Capital
ERRFE BT
&=

Central Huijin Investment
Ltd.
PRESKEFREME

AL

Bank of China Limited
FEISRITIRID B R A A

BOC International
Holdings Limited
R BRI IR A R A A

-

Interest in “other” capacity under
Part XV of the SFO

RIEFE 7 NG G DI EXVER A
[E | 5 #RA RS

Interest in controlled corporation
(through BOCI Financial Products Limited)
REGEEERE BT RER SR
EmBRAR)

Interest in controlled corporation (through
Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited

ZPEGEE R (B BRMIEBERRE
BRAR])

Interest in “other” capacity under Part XV
of the SFO

IR E 7 S B 15 PI SEXVER LA
(B | SRR et

Interest in controlled corporation
(through BOCI Financial Products Limited)
REGEERR(EBTREE SR
EmARAR)

Interest in controlled corporation (through
Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited

Rt EE R GERRPIERETERE
BIRAE]D

Interest in “other” capacity under Part XV
of the SFO

RIEE 7 MG GBI EXVER LA
[t SR AR

Interest in controlled corporation
(through BOCI Financial Products Limited)
HEGEEER(E BT RER SR
EmARAR)

363,903,000(L)
689,438,782(S)

325,535,782(L)

1,500,000(L)

363,903,000(L)

689,438,782(S)

325,535,782(L)

1,500,000(L)

363,903,000(L)

689,438,782(S)

325,535,782(L)

5.68%
10.76%

5.08%

0.02%

5.68%

10.76%

5.08%

0.02%

5.68%

10.76%

5.08%
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Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued Share

shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares Capital
EAQRE BT
FTERRER 54 HBHE R% BB RAE T
BOCI Financial Products Beneficial interest 325,535,782(L) 5.08%
Limited Bmiga
FIREIR S BE G
BRAR] Interest in “other” capacity under Part XV 363,903,000(L) 5.68%
of the SFO 689,438,782(S) 10.76%
RARE 7 K B 15 EEXVER LA
[Ef | SR etk
New Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 594,925,763 (L)® 9.28%
FHELEIAXERNOBRAF (though GGG Holdings Limited)
ZEHEE 2 (B BGGG Holdings Limited)
New Century Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 594,925,763(L)® 9.28%
(though GGG Holdings Limited)
SRS EB (BB GGG Holdings Limited)
Liu Chang Interest in controlled corporation 594,925,763(L)® 9.28%

(though GGG Holdings Limited)

RYEHIEE % (FRGGG Holdings Limited)

(1) Among which up to 689,438,782 shares of the Company have been
lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited pursuant to a securities
lending agreement dated 18 May 2017 entered into between
Mengniu as lender and BOCI Financial Products Limited as borrower.

(2)  The interests refer to the same parcel of underlying shares in the
Company. Future Discovery Limited is a subsidiary of Mengniu.

(3) (S) Indicates a short position.
(4) (L) Indicates a long position.

(5)  The interests refer to the same parcel of underlying shares in the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company or as recorded in the register required to be maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2019.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Off-Take Agreement
The Company started to sell raw milk to Mengniu Group in 2006,

and in 23 October 2008 following arm’s length negotiations,

Modern Farming entered into an off-take agreement (the “Off-

Take Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)

Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), pursuant to which

the Company shall supply raw milk to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Date:

Parties:

Nature of the
Transaction:

Committed
Purchase:

Right to sell to
other parties:

24 October 2008

(i) Modern Farming, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

(i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Mengniu

Modern Farming shall supply raw milk to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu.

Both parties shall start to discuss estimates
of annual supply three months prior to the
beginning of each calendar year.

Should the parties fail to reach an agreed
amount, Modern Farming shall be entitled to
require Inner Mongolia Mengniu to purchase,
subject to certain limitations, all of its raw milk
production in the upcoming calendar year.

Modern Farming may sell up to 30% of its
raw milk produced daily at each dairy farm to
third parties at its discretion, except to two
of Mengniu's competitors. Other than the
aforesaid, the Off-Take Agreement contains no
other restrictions on Modern Farming's sales of
raw milk to third parties or development of its
own dairy products.
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Pricing:

Term:

The pricing of the raw milk sold to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu is determined through a
formula which is calculated with reference to a
base price with upward adjustment for meeting
certain quality standards, such as the level
of fat and protein content and other upward
adjustments if the Modern Farming's farms are
within an agreed proximity to Mengniu Group’s
dairy processing plants. The base price is based
on the price which Mengniu Group at the
relevant time offers to buy raw milk from other
mid- to large- scale dairy farms (which can offer
raw milk of comparable quality) or, if there are
no such mid- to large-scale dairy farms in such
region, other comparable dairy farms in nearby
regions with adjustments (reflecting the prices
in different regions).

The base price and upward adjustment
payable by Mengniu Group under the Off-
Take Agreement shall not be lower than the
base price and upward adjustment it pays
respectively to other mid-to-large-scale dairy
farms in the same region (other than short-term
reward programs offered to milk suppliers that
only account for a small portion of Mengniu
Group’s total raw milk purchases). Inner
Mongolia Mengniu also grants Modern Farming
an option to sell to Inner Mongolia Mengniu the
same amount of raw milk at the same terms and
prices Inner Mongolia Mengniu offers to any
third party suppliers.

The Off-Take Agreement shall be for an term
of 10 years commencing from 24 October 2008
and was automatically extended for another 10
years on 24 October 2018 in the absence of any
force majeure or events of default to 23 October
2028.

Details of the Off-Take Agreement have been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2013. The Off-Take
Agreement was automatically extended on 24 October 2018 for

another ten years in accordance with its terms.
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The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Off-take Agreement
during the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately RMB4,701,837,000 (2018: RMB4,222,146,000).

Framework Supply Agreement with Fuyuan

Modern Farming, after entering into the Framework Supply
Agreement dated 16 June 2017 (as amended by the Amendment
Agreement to the Framework Supply Agreement on 28 November
2017 and renewed on 31 December 2019 (collectively the
“Framework Supply Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Fuyuan
International Industrial Corporation Limited (“Fuyuan” together
with its subsidiaries “Fuyuan Group”), could secure stable and
high quality feedstuffs supply from Fuyuan, which are more cost
effective and could alleviate Company’s production cost.

Date: 16 June 2017 as amended on 28 November
2017 and renewed on 31 December 2019.
Parties: (i) Modern Farming as the buyer; and
(i) Fuyuan as the seller.
Duration: For a term commencing from the effective date

of the Framework Supply Agreement to 31

December 2022.
Principal Terms:  Pursuant to the Framework Supply Agreement,
(i) the Modern Farming agrees to purchase the
feedstuffs that meet the quality requirements
of the Modern Farming which are delivered to
the relevant farms of the Modern Farming, and
(i) the Fuyuan Group agrees to sell and deliver
the feedstuff for dairy cows, which meet the
quality requirements of Modern Farming, to the
respective farms of the Modern Farming.
Pricing: The price payable and other payment terms
by the Modern Farming to the Fuyuan Group
shall be determined by reference to the lowest
quoted price and other payment terms at which
the Modern Farming could obtain the same
type of feedstuffs from independent third party
(whether local or overseas); for this purpose, the
Modern Farming will seek quotations from at
least two independent parties offering the same
type of feedstuffs each time.
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Effective Date: The Framework Supply Agreement is effective

on the date it was signed.
Annual Capacity: The purchase of feedstuffs under the Framework
Supply Agreement for the periods:

1. commencing from the effective date of the
renewed Framework Supply Agreement to
31 December 2020: RMB150 million;

2. From 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2021: RMB180 million;

3. 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022:
RMB210 million.

The aggregate purchase of feedstuff for the year ended 31
December 2019 from Fuyuan amounted to RMB89,719,000 (2018:
RMB65,217,000).

Supply Agreement with Oushi Mengniu

Modern Farming (Shanghe) Co., Ltd ("Shanghe”), an indirectly
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into of a
supply agreement dated 7 January 2019 (the “Supply Agreement
with Oushi”) with Qushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Products Co.,
Ltd. (“Qushi Mengniu”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”) for the supply of raw milk.

Date: 7 January 2019
Parties: (i) Oushi Mengniu; and
(i) Shanghe.
Duration: For a term commencing from the effective date

of the Supply Agreement with Oushi Mengniu
to 31 December 2019.
Principal Terms:  (a) Shanghe agreed to sell, and Oushi Mengniu
agreed to purchase, the raw milks, which meet
the quality requirements of Oushi Mengniu;
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Pricing: The unit price of the raw milk shall be
determined based on a cost-plus approach,
i.e., cost plus a reasonable margin, which varies
within the range of 12% to 16%, with reference
to the market price of raw milk from time to
time. In case of any change in the raw milk
market, the unit price of the Products shall be
adjusted as agreed by the parties.

Effective Date: The Supply Agreement with Oushi Mengniu is
effective on the date it was signed.

Annual Capacity: Annual cap for each of the periods commencing
from the effective date of the Supply Agreement
with Oushi Mengniu to 31 December 2019:
RMB9 million;

The aggregate supply of milk products to Oushi Mengiu for the
year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to RMB313,000.

Mengniu is a substantial shareholder of the Company, and thus a
connected person of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.
As Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Oushi Mengniu are non-wholly
owned subsidiaries of Mengniu whilst Fuyuan is indirectly owned
by Mengniu as to 43.35%, Inner Mengniu, Fuyuan and Oushi
Mengniu are associates of Mengniu and hence are connected
persons of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules. As a result,
the transactions contemplated under the Off-Take Agreement, the
Framework Supply Agreement and the Supply Agreement with
Oushi Mengniu constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As at the date of
this report, Mengniu holds 58.15% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
than terms available from independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them

and on the terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules”), the Board engaged the auditor of the Company
to report the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected transactions
of the Company that are subjected to be reported in the annual
report in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions have been
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and are set out in the announcements of the Company which are
available at the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website and the
Company'’s website at www.moderndairyir.com.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react changes in dairy product quality, food
safety, production, animal disease, environment pollution,
market developments and financial risks. The Audit Committee
reviews risk-related policies and scrutinizes that management has
performed its duty to have effective risk management and internal
control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling risks
arising from the Group's business activities, changing external risks
and regulatory environment, and report to the Board on the above.

Strategic Risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge on
the dairy industry. The Group will invest in good grass plantation,
good dairy cows, quality milk production and promotion of
integrated operation that based on the strategic plan in order to
cope with the market demand and expectation. The Group will
closely review and monitor its short and long-term strategies and
strives for the best interests to its shareholders.
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Operational Risks

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by failure
of internal processes, people, system or external events, such
risk is mitigated by and controlled by establishing sound internal
control, setting out clear lines of responsibility, proper segregation
of duties and effective internal reporting. Management regularly
reviews the Group's operations to ensure that the Group's risk of
losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from fraud, errors,
omissions and other operational and compliance matters, are
adequately managed.

Financial Risks

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures and may
enter into currency forward contracts or currency option contracts,
when necessary, to manage its foreign exchange exposure.
Furthermore, with aim to tackle the risk of interest rate fluctuation,
the management regularly review and assess the Group'’s exposure
to interest rate movement and may consider entering into interest
rate swap contracts or other hedging strategies when necessary.

The principal financial risks are set out in Notes 39 and 40 to
the consolidated financial statements headed "“Capital Risk
Management” and “Financial Instrument”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. LEE Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. KANG Yan
and one non-executive Director, Mr. WOLHARDT Julian Juul.
The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company,
and discussed the risk management and internal control systems
and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
results for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Details of the significant events after 31 December 2019 of
the Group are set out in Note 50 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditors of the Company
and, is eligible to, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
LU Minfang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA MODERN DAIRY HOLDINGS LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 112
to 262, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRELRER

BAREAEE@

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREFLTEERRELSEANG X

Fair value of milkable cows

PR FE

We identified the fair value of milkable cows as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance on the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2019 and the significant degree of estimates made by the
management in determining such fair values.

The Group reported milkable cows of Renminbi (“RMB”) 5,543
million as at 31 December 2019. These biological assets are
measured at fair value less costs to sell at the end of each
reporting period.

As disclosed in Notes 5 and 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, fair values of milkable cows are determined by
using the multi-period excess earnings method, which is based
on the discounted future cash flows to be generated by such
milkable cows. The management’s estimation is primarily based
on the discount rate, the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kilogram (“kg"”) of raw
milk. The management has engaged an independent valuer to
assist it in assessing the fair values of milkable cows.

Details of milkable cows and the related estimation uncertainty
on their fair value are set out in Notes 5, 23 and 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BABDHFNRFESHABERESZER  DTARR_Z—N
FT_A=1T—BENEAMBERAREHRNERE AR EERE
REEEQFERETARERENMGS

RZZE-—NE+ZA=+—H X EBEERESARETAR
WD5543B BT o ILFAEYUEEENRFERS REH
REERAFTE

AR A M MR S RA2PTIREE - AR FETIIRZ B
BMENZEE HIRBZSPFTEENARMAREREE
o BEEBRFERERMRE - Bt RERHMHHE - &MH
AMNESHFEOBRENERETR((FR)RHDMEFE
A - EREERIBE L (HEMBBEFEHFHORFE -

PAERBEREQFENBT RABFBEERN GV BRERME
523842

Lo

Our procedures in relation to the fair value of
milkable cows included:

o Testing the Group's relevant internal
controls over the fair value determination of
milkable cows;

o Evaluating the independent valuer’s
objectivity, qualifications and competence;

° Assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies and the
reasonableness of the discount rate
applied; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions, including the estimated future
market price of raw milk, the estimated
average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kg
of raw milk by comparing to historical and
industry data.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HREXRER
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BAREZEE@

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMEFKTEERRELSEEANG X

Impairment assessment on goodwill allocated to ADH CGU (as defined below)

DB EADHE £ E L El B E R EE (EE L TFX)

We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill arising
from acquisition of Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings
Il (the “ADH Companies”), which comprised a cash-generating
unit engaged in dairy farming operations (the “ADH CGU"), as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance and
the significant degree of estimates and underlying assumptions
made by the management in determining the recoverable
amount.

The Group reported goodwill, net of impairment, of RMB1,061
million relating to the acquisition of ADH Companies as at 31
December 2019. An impairment loss of RMB27 million was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2019.

As disclosed in Notes 5 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, goodwill impairment assessment requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated and the Group
determines the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units based on a value in use calculation. The management’s
estimation is primarily based on the discount rate, the estimated
future market price of raw milk, the estimated average daily milk
yield at each lactation cycle and the estimated feed costs per
kg of raw milk. The management has engaged an independent
valuer to assist it in performing the goodwill impairment
assessment.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment on goodwill allocated to the ADH
CGU included:

o Evaluating the independent valuer's
objectivity, qualification and competence;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies and the
reasonableness of the discount rate
applied; and

° Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions including the estimated future
market price of raw milk, estimated average
daily milk yield at each lactation cycle and
the estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk
by comparing to historical data and the
data used in the prior periods’ impairment
assessment.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.

TEBRRBEZRAERDAE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
8 3% BEh RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lung Kwok Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2020
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FEIRRHMEZRER D

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBakEMEERAER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —T-)\F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
My AR®T T ARETFIT
Revenue WA 6 5,514,210 4,956,811
Cost of sales before raw milk fair value  RENAFEFERRHE
adjustments PR R 8 (3,412,330) (3,410,670)
Raw milk fair value adjustments included FH ASHEKAH REHN A FE
in cost of sales JHEE 8/23 (1,938,360) (1,371,468)
Loss arising from changes in fair value AL R TEESRIATHE
less costs to sell of dairy cows K ARE R EE 23 (1,039,221) (870,099)
Gains arising on initial recognition of TR BRI W5 HE By 2 3 S BLRK 8
raw milk at fair value less costs to sell BRI ERE LN K
at the point of harvest 23 1,938,360 1,371,468
Other income HAd A 7 51,068 66,131
Impairment losses under expected TREEEEEER TRE
credit loss model, net of reversal E518 - R B 10 161,335 (367,662)
Other gains and losses, net E bz MBS RS 58 8 (121,046) (138,625)
Selling and distribution costs HE kDAY (175,487) (172,256)
Administrative expenses TR (276,739) (232,450)
Other expenses HAh A 7 (9,061) (23,091)
Share of profits of associates JFE (5 B 5 2 B ) 34,479 24,873
Profit/(loss) before finance costs and tax ~ BRERVE Ak A K B H ASH A~
(B518) 8 727,208 (167,038)
Finance costs & R A 9 (376,795) (338,622)
Profit/(loss) before tax BEADE R, (BE) 350,413 (505,660)
Income tax expense FriS®i i X 1 (556) (513)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF, (EE) 349,857 (506,173)
Other comprehensive income/ Htt2EBABIX) :
(expense):
Item that will not be reclassified to BN EREEAE -
profit or loss:
Fair value gain/(loss) on investments RAFEGAEMEEYA
in equity instruments at fair value (RAFEFAHMEE
through other comprehensive income WADH#ERZTARE
("FVTOCI") R EWE (R 1,451 (11,526)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FAREMEEWA,(FIX)
for the year, net of income tax NS 1,451 (11,526)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FAREERA (F) 4258
for the year 351,308 (517,699)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RERBEREMEZERESR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
Bff &£ AR¥ET T ARETIT
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: LA RN & 5 4G F REF,~
(E518) :
Owners of the Company ZINNETE 2 =N 341,270 (496,088)
Non-controlling interests JEVER R 8,587 (10,085)
349,857 (506,173)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AT EHEMLERZERA
for the year attributable to: () 4% :
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIE SN 342,695 (507,404)
Non-controlling interests PR = 8,613 (10,295)
351,308 (517,699)
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) BREF, (BB (ARE) 15
Basic HAR 5.54 cents (8.15) cents
5.54% (8.15)7
Diluted s 5.52 cents (8.15) cents
5.52% (8.15)7




China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.

TEBRRBEZRAERDAE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B AR OR &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 R=Z— NF+=ZA=1+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —NE
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
B = ARET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENMEE 16 3,455,068 3,920,685
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 320,161 =
Land use rights T AR 18 = 117,220
Goodwill GRS 19 1,371,266 1,398,589
Interests in associates B SN AR RER 20 215,392 180,913
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFEAEMEZEBAL
EXTA 21 3,959 2,508
Biological assets EYEE 23 7,459,359 7,717,113
12,825,205 13,337,028
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 24 1,078,491 978,508
Trade and other receivables and FEURE 5 BR 30 I H A E W 5R0R
advance payments DA M FE A 5008 25 618,288 781,173
Land use rights + b {s A 18 - 4,002
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTA 22 89,543 80,424
Pledged bank balances and EEMIRITASR IR ARERIRTT
non-pledged bank deposits Tk 26 147,775 61,355
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNMES 26 893,441 703,039
2,827,538 2,608,501
Assets of a disposal group classifiedas DB AFIEHEHHEHET
held for sale BE 27 71,450 =
2,898,988 2,608,501
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables BNESERRREMENTIE 28 1,521,688 2,072,363
Tax payable fﬁ%%ﬂlﬁ 233 322
Bank borrowings RITHERK 29 3,822,643 1,691,109
Medium-term notes FRHAZE R 30 = 621,880
Corporate bonds NEES 31 = 1,087,568
Other borrowings HAnfg sk 32 1,051,413 1,001,111
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 23,238 =
Derivative financial instruments PTESRIE 22 15,274 17,729
Contract liabilities EHEE 34 189 232
6,434,678 6,492,314
Liabilities of a disposal group DERFIEHENHEER
classified as held for sale aE 27 2,196 -
6,436,874 6,492,314
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RE R EFE (3,537,886) (3,883,813)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEME
LIABILITIES 9,287,319 9,453,215

-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BN R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 A= — NF+=ZA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
B = AR®ET T AREFIT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital [N 36 551,007 526,058
Reserves EE 36 6,530,510 5,919,237
Equity attributable to owners of RARER ANEIEHER
the Company 7,081,517 6,445,295
Non-controlling interests FEIERR = 126,184 108,838
TOTAL EQUITY MR 7,207,701 6,554,133
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREEE
Bank borrowings RITHERK 29 1,715,831 2,746,393
Lease liabilities HEEE 33 206,109 —
Deferred income PFRIEA 35 157,678 152,689
2,079,618 2,899,082
9,287,319 9,453,215

HRFBI2E202AMEAMBREN_F_FTF
ZACt-RREESHERRETRLREKRE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 262 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23

March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: E
LU Minfang GAO Lina
E#K )4
Director Director
EE EE
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PERAHEERBERAE)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 HZ=-ZT—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2N
Shares
held under
Share Share  the Share Non-
Share Share Other  options  award Award FVTOCI  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  Schemes reserve  eamings  Sub-total interests Total
RH%E  RATE
BRE RORE FHETH SALM2E
Bx  RGEE EtEE fife i FEORR  WARE REEA Nt FERER GHl
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR
(Note 36) (Note 37(b)) ~ (Note 37(o)
(F&£36) (Hf&E3io)  (fE37(o))
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E-F-B  560% 4641066 979953 5286 14517 (62,137) (11802 874,695 6,967,636 119133 7,086,769
Loss for the year EPEE - - - - - - - (96088 (496,088) (10,085 (50,173
Other comprehensive expense ~ FREMZARY
for the year - - - - - - (11,316) - (11,316) (210 (11,526)
Total comprehensive expense ENZERZAE
for the year - - - - - - (11316) (496,088  (507,404) (10295 (517699
Share purchase for the Share RN ZBE HNRIA
Award Schemes (Note 37(b)) BE(H310) - - - - - (23,583) - - (23583) - (23583)
Recognition of equity-settled RIERELEN
share-based payment BOSULITES
(Note 37(o) (H&E371b) - - - - 4 - - - B - Bk
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NE
TZA=+-H 56058 4641086 979953 526 23163 (85720) (3118) 378607 644529 108838 6,554,133
Adustment Note 3 AR - - - - - - L L U
At 1 January 2019 restated) R=Z-hE-B-H
(&5 526,058 4,641,066 979,953 5286 23163 (85,720) (23118) 357,568 6,424,256 108,447 6,532,703
Profit for the year il - - - = = = - 270 3,270 8,587 349,857
Other comprehensive income ~ EREHBZERA
for the year = = = = = = 1,425 = 1,425 26 1,451
Total comprehensive income ERZENALE
for the year = = = = = = 1425 341,270 342,695 8,613 351,308
Share purchase for the Share A B2l
Award Schemes (Note 37(b)) TRAEE (H:E370) - - - - - (31,127) - - (31127 - (31127
Reversal due to vesting of RERRH SRR
award shares (Note 37(b)) B (F5E370) = = = - (43,806) 59,835 - (16,029) - - -
Recognition of equity-settled DERECEL
share-based payment BOSGEIES
(Note 37(b) (RrEE370) - - - - 25553 - - - 25553 - 25553
Ordinary shares issued (Note 36~ BETTEBR(HE30) 24,949 304315 = = = = = - 329,264 - 329,064
Eouity transactions related to BELEETH
interest free loans (Note 36) RER 5 (3E36) = - 9124 - - - - - (9124 9,124 -
At31 December 2019 RZE-NE
TZA=1-H 551,007 4,945,381 970,829 5286 4910 (57,012) (21,693) 682,809 7,081,517 126,184 7,207,701
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
NOTE RMB’'000 RMB’000
MiaE ARM¥F T ARBTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATD R (E5i8) 350,413 (505,660)
Adjustments for: BLATERE -
Depreciation of property, plant and BiIEEMRETE -
equipment charged to profit or loss = R R EITE 308,783 315,034
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BIEENREEAEEE
charged to profit or loss e 10,563 =
Impairment loss on property, WE - BE KR EREEE
plant and equipment 45,287 36,444
Impairment losses under expected BHEEEEER TRE
credit loss model, net of reversal E51E - MR (161,335) 367,825
Impairment loss on goodwill R EBE 27,323 25,950
Release of land use rights b {5 FRHE AR BR - 4,012
Bank interest income RITHSUA (11,169) (11,034)
Government grants credited to income  5F AU A BB T 8L (19,030) (19,067)
Finance costs BE KA 376,795 338,622
Share of profits of associates FEAG B N B) ) ) (34,479) (24,873)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HENB R RWE - (18,193)
Gains on fair value changes of MESRMIARNTEEY
derivative financial instruments W #5 (50,556) (35,949)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEREREBE
plant and equipment 16,879 4,768
Gains on derecognition of BUAER B ElE
financial liabilities (839) (1,352)
Net foreign exchange loss from KB B REIINE B 18 F R
borrowings 41 84,167 129,611
Equity-settled share award expense VAR 4 45 S B IR A 22 D Al <2 25,553 8,646
Loss arising from changes in fair value A AT EZEFIPERA
less costs to sell of dairy cows EENEE 1,039,221 870,099
Operating cash flows before HEEEHANLERS
movements in working capital meE 2,007,576 1,484,883
Increase in inventories TFEIE 0 (73,937) (100,322)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other  JEWE F B8R R H fih fE UG X
receivables and advance payments B RERRIERD
(120 323,076 (261,521)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B E SR R E A E
other payables FIBCR A,/ hn (206,935) 283,300
Decrease in contract liabilities EHBERD (43) (116)
Cash generated from operations ¥BEANRSE 2,049,737 1,406,224
Income tax paid BT ATISH (645) (193)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REFBFBREFE
ACTIVITIES 2,049,092 1,406,031

.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FEIRRHMEZRER D

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —T-)\F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
My AR®T T ARETFIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEH
Interest received B UH 11,336 10,785
Purchases of property, BAWE  BEREZE
plant and equipment (279,332) (424,087)
Payments for right-of-use assets & AR ENK (95) -
Payments for rental deposits HEZS MR (61) =
Investment in an equity instrument HRTEAEKE - (1,100)
Investments in associates REEZE R RINIRE = (100,000)
Addition in biological assets EMEERE (1,279,678) (1,161,254)
Placement of pledged bank balances FACDEMREITES (47,122) (39,875)
Withdrawal of pledged bank balances TR E EHIRTTE % 28,355 94,987
Placement of non-pledged bank FARZEBBB=FAHLN
deposits with original maturity RERBITER
over three months (67,653) =
Withdrawal of non-pledged bank RRRIIBERBBRE=EA/
deposits with original maturity RERIRITER
over three months - 15,000
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BERREMF
plant and equipment RIE 9,208 14,371
Proceeds from disposal of dairy cows HEZFFTSRIE 575,156 609,246
Net cash outflow from disposal of HENBRRAERE R
subsidiaries FER 38 = (91,560)
Government grants received B U B AT 47 B 24,019 11,899
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZHMARES FHE
ACTIVITIES (1,025,867) (1,061,588)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

)

IE%/)ILE%
~AETZA=T-BILFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF = — \F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
M EE AR¥ET T AREFIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEEE
Interest paid ERFE (357,054) (364,778)
New bank borrowings raised MEBIRITER 3,838,876 2,679,840
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (2,822,695) (1,470,974)
Proceeds from other borrowings HE b fERAT5 508 2,121,250 1,500,000
Repayment of other borrowings BEREMER (2,071,250) (1,510,273)
Proceeds from discounting JE W R HR AL BR P45 RRIE
bills receivable = 81,845
Payment of transaction cost for XHRITE R H B
bank borrowings (24,187) =
Repayment of corporate bonds BERQRIMES (1,050,000) =
Repayment of medium-term notes BEPHEE (600,000) (1,200,000)
Repayment of amounts due to BREENRYHIA
Mengniu (150,000) -
Repayments of leases liabilities BEHEAR (15,137) -
Payment for repurchase of BB TmART R
ordinary shares (31,127) (23,583)
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRR 55108 329,264 -
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING METHTARSFHE
ACTIVITIES (832,060) (307,923)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND REeERREEEWIGMNFHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 191,165 36,520
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FURERRLEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 703,039 666,519
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRASRREZEEY -
AT END OF YEAR,
Represented by bank balances NERITAER RIRE 25
and cash 894,204 703,039
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in & M BAKA KR RIS &
the consolidated statement of HeZEY
financial position 893,441 703,039
Cash and cash equivalents attributable DA ARFIEHERN T EE5!
to the disposal group classified as ELRBReREEEEY
held for sale 27 763 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS #HRERESHRERFATESR
STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED ReZEY
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 894,204 703,039

.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR WK

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Its shares have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 26 November
2010. The registered office of the Company is Maples
Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KYI-1104, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located in Economic
and Technological Development Zone, Maanshan City, Anhui
Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

As at 31 December 2019, China Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd.
("Mengniu”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary together owned
58.15% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in production
and sales of milk. The Company and its subsidiaries are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the principal subsidiaries of the Group
operate (the “functional currency”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In preparation of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the
Group's current liabilities exceeded its total current assets
by RMB3,537,886,000 (2018: RMB3,883,813,000). Taking into
account, (i) the available credit facilities of approximately
RMB3,753,402,000 which remain unutilised as at 31
December 2019 (These credit facilities included an amount
of RMB300,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy
(Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”),
a subsidiary of Mengniu, expiring in December 2021 (Note
46(d)), and the remaining credit facilities of RMB3,453,402,000
are from banks.); (ii) save as the credit facilities disclosed
above, the Group acquired additional credit facilities of
RMB2,650,000,000 from banks subsequent to the balance
sheet date until the reporting date; and (i) the expected net
cash inflows generated from the Group's operations for the
next twelve months, the Directors are satisfied that the Group
will be able to meet in full its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs")

(a)

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") for the first time
in the current year:

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to

IFRSs 2015=2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied IFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. IFRS 16 superseded IAS 17 Leases (“IAS
17"), and the related interpretations.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FEIRRHMEZRER D

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr e B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

(a)

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
IFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not previously identified
as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not
reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the
date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a
lease in accordance with the requirements set out in
IFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied IFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at
the carrying amounts as if IFRS 16 had been applied
since commencement dates, but discounted using
the incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group
entities at the date of initial application by applying
IFRS 16.C8(b)(i) transition. Any difference at the date of
initial application is recognised in the opening retained
earnings and comparative information has not been
restated.
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Annual Report 2019 Z=Z—AFFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

(a)

When applying the modified retrospective approach

under IFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the

following practical expedients to leases previously

classified as operating leases under IAS 17, on lease-

by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective

lease contracts:

relied on the assessment of whether leases are
onerous by applying IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as an alternative
of impairment review;

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends
within 12 months of the date of initial application;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the
right-of-use assets at the date of initial application;
and

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with a similar remaining terms for similar
class of underlying assets in similar economic
environment. Specifically, discount rate for certain
leases of machinery and equipment in the PRC
was determined on a portfolio basis.

There is no practical expedient used for extension and

termination options.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FEIRRHMEZRER D

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(MIFRSS") (continued)

(@) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the Group has
applied incremental borrowing rates of the relevant
group entities at the date of initial application. The
weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
by the relevant group entities range from 5.13% to

PE AT E] I AR 1E 5T Bl B B 7 3Rk 75
B (BRI EHREER ] @

RAFEEEIE MR R &S
a1 B B B 75 3R 5 2 Bll am)

B B B S 3R o ZE B 581655 (40
EABEFN @)
RERLA P BEACEHENTHESR
&R ASBEERVISERBHER
HEEEERAESERFE - HEH
EEEEATE R I F S S 5 R F
K& E N F5.13%%5.20% °

5.20%.

At 1 January
2019
R=-B—NEF
—HA—H
RMB'000
ARETT
Lease liabilities HEBARE 209,125

Analysed as DT
Current RE 18,421
Non-current IERED 190,704

Note: The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 have included
the operating lease commitments disclosed as at
31 December 2018; included the leases for lands
at variable lease payments that depend on index,
measured using the index at the commencement date;
and excluded short-term leases. They are discounted
at relevant incremental borrowing rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(MIFRSS") (continued)

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1

(a)

January 2019 comprises the following:

PE R #7E] R RIS 5T Bl B B 7 3Rk 75
2B ([EEFR | E 2R ) @

A E R E £ M FeT R & 1E
AT B PR B 75 3R 5 22 Bl ()
B PR Bt 65 3R 55 25 Bl 58 1 65 ()

TEAEATNA ()
R-ZE—NF—A—BNERAEEE
BREEWT

NOTES RMB'000

B ARETT

B BRI IS E A RIF 16
SRR R ETHE RN

Right-of-use assets relating to operating
leases recognised upon application of

IFRS 16 EREEE 187,695
Reclassified from land use rights BRSSO E i 121,222
Reclassified from trade and other receivables B B E 5 B8R 3% K H b & WX

and advance payments BARTENFIEERDE i 193

309,110

By class: =ER
Leasehold lands HELH 265,178
Machinery and equipment A N 3% A 43,932
309,110

BiEE -

Notes:

Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC were
classified as land use rights as at 31 December 2018.
Upon application of IFRS 16, the current and non-current
portion of land use rights amounting to RMB4,002,000
and RMB117,220,000 respectively were reclassified to
right-of-use assets.

Advance lease payments for leased lands in the PRC
were classified as trade and other receivables and
advance payments as at 31 December 2018. Upon
application of IFRS 16, advance lease payments
amounting to RMB193,000 was reclassified to right-of-
use assets.

.
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China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FEIRRHMEZRER D

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr e B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

(a)

PE AT E] I AR 1E 5T Bl B B 7 3Rk 75
B (BRI EHREER ] @

New and Amendments to IFRSs that are (a) MAFEREIEMPWHF T REME
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued) 71 BB B 7 3R 5 2E Bl )
IFRS 16 Leases (continued) I R ot 5 3 5 2 R 58 1 6555 ()
As a lessee (continued) TERATN ()
The following table summarises the impact of transition TRBMBEEEREREERNE
to IFRS 16 on retained earnings at 1 January 2019. 165N _E—NF—-—HA—BREBR
M & -
Impact of
adopting IFRS 16
at 1 January 2019
R-ZB-NF
— A — BRAHEIR
B 75 o5 22 B
E16HNTE
RMB’000
AREFT
Retained earnings: REEF
Impact under modified retrospective RZE—-NF—A—B&ETERE
approach at 1 January 2019 -7 21,039

Note: The amounts represent the portion attributable
to owners of the Company regarding the amount
of RMB21,430,000, being the difference between
RMB187,695,000, the right-of-use assets recognised
relating to operating leases upon application of IFRS 16,
and RMB209,125,000, lease liabilities recognised relating
to operating leases upon application of IFRS 16.

Wit ZEBEADABEEABRGLI D
AR #21,430,0007T * BN AR
187,695,0007T (5t & F BB B 7% 3R
ERF16BECEHERREAE
KE)E A RE209,125,0007T (5 & B
B A R B 165 R & e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M BRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND S
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(MIFRSS") (continued)
(@) New and Amendments to IFRSs that are (a)

FE 7R 37 5] B R ASET Bl BR B A5 3R 5
ZR (R BEREERLD @

A7 £F B2 5 1) 4 R A9 7 BT I A4S

mandatorily effective for the current year (continued) a1 B PR Bt 75 3 5 2 Bl a

IFRS 16 Leases (continued) B R 7 4 5 2R R S8 1 65 ()

As a lessee (continued) TEREATEA )

The following adjustments were made to the amounts NTAERZZE-—NF—-—A—-BYHESE

BBERARKRERNCREL ZFHE -
TREHTEZRATBEEAN

recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not

affected by the changes have not been included.

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at IFRS 16 at
31 December 1 January
2018  Adjustments 2019
R=B-n&F
BE —A—BRE
R=B-N\§ BIRR B 148 &
+=A=+-AH ERIE165
BENREE HE HERE E
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(3 ARETT AREKTR ARETT
Non-current Assets FRBEE
Land use rights T FE [ 117,220 (117,220) =
Right-of-use assets FREEE = 309,110 309,110
Current Assets RBEE
Land use rights e A i 4,002 (4,002) =
Trade and other receivables Y E 5 BT R
and advance payments Hfth FEMUTR I A
S ii 781,173 (193) 780,980
Capital and Reserves ﬁZF&FﬁH%
Retained earnings RERM (378,607) 21,039 (357,568)
Non-controlling interests RS (108,838) 391 (108,447)
Current Liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities HERE - (18,421) (18,421)
Non-current Liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE - (190,704) (190,704)
Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating BT -

LEBESEBERU EARER
—ET-hF-A-RZHVEE
MBI RAE - UE2REE
“E-NAFFTZA=+—HIF

activities under indirect method for the year ended
31 December 2019, movements in working capital
have been computed based on opening consolidated

statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019 as EURBEFE KL EHRE
disclosed above. MEZH -

A Y

.
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TEBRRBEZRAERDAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr e B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3.
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(MIFRSS") (continued)

(b)

New and Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not (b)
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture’®

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®

Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material*

and IAS 8

Amendments to IFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark

IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Reform*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

S5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022.

In addition to the above new and amendments to IFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments,
the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in IFRS Standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The Directors anticipate that the application of new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for: (i) biological assets,
which are measured at fair value less costs to sell; (ii)
equity instruments at FVTOCI; and (iii) derivative financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS
16 (since 1 January 2019) or IAS 17 (before application of IFRS
16), and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS
2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
("IAS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

ma SRR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 BZE=F— A&+ = A=+—AILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

(i) has power over the investee;

(i) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

(i)  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specially, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
controls until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All'amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units ("CGUs")
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for financial
assets within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS
9"), which continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies as set out in respective sections.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.
A performance obligation represents a good or service (or

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of IFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 3)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at
inception modification date or acquisition date. Such contract
will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of IFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 3)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of motor vehicles, machinery and
equipment and buildings that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of IFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 3) (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate; and
o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the

lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of IFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 3) (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as
at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and
are recognised as expense in the period on which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of IFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 3) (continued)

Lease modiifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring

land held under operating lease, are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Land use rights (prior to 1 January 2019)

Land use rights represent the Group's prepaid lease
payments for leasehold interest in land. The Group assesses
the classification of the leased land as a finance lease or
an operating lease based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the leased land have been transferred to the Group.
Based on such assessment, the Group's land use rights are
accounted for as operating lease. Land use rights are stated
at cost and released on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Land use rights which are to be released in the next
twelve months or less are classified as current assets.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributed to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing cost eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological
asset measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised
in profit or loss when, and only when, the government grant
becomes receivable.

Other grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit under
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes in the PRC
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contribution.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees

(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 BZE=F— A&+ = A=+—AILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options and award shares granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration of all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve or share award reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve or share award
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to retained earnings.

When the award shares are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share award reserve and the amount of the
relevant treasury shares included in equity under the heading
of shares held under the share award schemes is reversed
and the differences arising from the reversal is adjusted to
retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)
Share options and award shares granted to employees
(continued)

If a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled during
the vesting period (other than a grant cancelled by forfeiture
when the vesting conditions are not satisfied):

o the entity shall account for the cancellation or
settlement as an acceleration of vesting, and shall
therefore recognise immediately the amount that
otherwise would have been recognised for services
received over the remainder of the vesting period.

o any payment made to the employee on the cancellation
or settlement of the grant shall be accounted for as the
repurchase of an equity interest, ie as a deduction from
equity, except to the extent that the payment exceeds
the fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess shall
be recognised as an expense.

Taxation
Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) including buildings held for use in the production
or supply of goods, or for administrative purposes, are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes (classified as construction in
progress) are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets other than
gOOdWi” (continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs,
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the assets is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets other than
gOOdWI“ (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Biological assets

The Group's biological assets comprise dairy cows. Dairy
cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves, are
measured on initial recognition and at the end of the
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any
resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or loss for the year
in which it arises.

The feeding costs and other related costs including staff
costs, depreciation charge, utility costs and consumables
incurred for raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until
such time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Raw milk is
recognised at the point of harvest at its fair value less costs
to sell. A gain or loss arising from agricultural produce at the
point of harvest measuring at fair value less costs to sell is
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("IFRS
15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of IFRS
9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained
earnings.

.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (continued)

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income” line item in profit or loss.

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables, pledged bank balances, non-
pledged bank deposits and bank balances) which are subject
to impairment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since

initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade

receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed

individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss

allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the

Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether

lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant

increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instruments as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increase
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

0]

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & —Z —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii)

(i)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial assets.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognised the financial assets and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI upon application of IFRS 9, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) held for trading, (ii) contingent
consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a
business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, medium-term notes and corporate
bonds are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements of biological assets

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the end of each reporting period. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on market observable data to estimate the fair value
of biological assets. For heifers and calves, the fair value is
determined based on the 14 months old heifers’ local market
selling prices and adjusted by estimated feeding costs for
heifers and calves older or younger than 14 months. For
milkable cows, the fair value is determined by using the multi-
period excess earning method with key inputs including the
discount rate, the estimated feed costs per kilogram (“kg") of
raw milk, estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated local future market price of raw milk.
Any changes in the inputs may affect the fair value of the
Group's biological assets significantly. The carrying amount
of the Group's biological assets as at 31 December 2019 was
RMB7,459,359,000 (2018: RMB7,717,113,000). Further details
are given in Notes 23 and 42.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of its value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable
pre-tax discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected or
when there is a downward revision to the estimated future
cash flows due to changes in facts and circumstances, further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of goodwill
was RMB1,371,266,000 (2018: RMB1,398,589,000), net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB164,620,000 (2018:
RMB137,297,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in Note 19.

Lo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(i)

(iii)

6. WARDHER

Disaggregation of revenue (i) WA#D
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFIT
Types of goods & AR A
Raw milk R 5,514,210 4,715,942
Liquid milk products &R REHTE = 240,869
Total HBEr 5,514,210 4,956,811
Timing of revenue recognition O S
A point in time FR5 ) B4 5,514,210 4,956,811
Performance obligations for contracts with (il BFEANBEHEK

customers

The Group sells raw milk directly to dairy product
manufactures. For sales of raw milk to its customers,
revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
been transferred, being at the point the customer
received the goods and accepted the quality. Payment
of the transaction price is determined based on market
price. The normal credit term is 30 days upon invoice
date.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Sales of raw milk are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted by IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

(iii)

AEEEEZRAIMBEDHEERN
PoAETFPHEHERMNME - K
ARE BB AT R ERER(AE
FREBRIERRER) - RHER
FRBEDEMEEE - —REEMR/HE
KRB HIKI0K °

TREFFENRTEARKH
R E%E

FERIPOEERRS—FHER - &£
BBR B 5 ¥R 5 RIS 1558 2 FFHO B0
T ABEBEIREZFREREALN
M2 5 (B H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRNE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #E—F—NF+-A=+—HItFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(iv)

(v)

Segment information

IFRS 8 Operating Segments ("IFRS 8") requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM"), in order to allocate resources
and to assess performance. During the two years ended
31 December 2019, the CODM assesses the operating
performance and allocates resources of the Group as
a whole, as all of the Group's activities are considered
to be primarily the provision of raw milk in the PRC.
Accordingly, the Directors consider there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of IFRS 8. In
addition, all revenue from external customers is derived
from the customers located in Mainland China and
all of the non-current assets are located in Mainland
China and the Group is managed on a nationwide
basis because of the similarity of the type or class
of the customers and the similarity of the regulatory
environment in the whole region. In this regard, no
segment information is presented.

Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from sales of raw milk to
external customers of approximately RMB4,702,150,000
(2018:RMB4,222,146,000) arose from sales to a single
customer (“Customer A”). During the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group also sold liquid milk
products of RMB239,995,000 to Customer A. No
other single customer contributed 10% or more to the
Group's revenue for each of the two years ended 31
December 2019.

6. WARDHER @

(iv)

BB 75 3R 5 R E 85k L D # ([ E
BUBREERNESR D RERETE
BERRE(EEEERREDEH
EHNBBASE AR D8RR
TRBEEDE - U EER K
KR -BE_FT-NF+-_A=1—
BIEMEFE  ETR22ERKEN G
ARENBEEEXEAT HEELER
BR > DHRAKRENABERSHER
WRSETBREHROERERY - Bt -
EER5  REBERMEHRSERES
SRBE—EKLEDED o I AR
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EFAMBFRBEEDURTEA
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SFANHBREEBDEERADAR
#4,702,150,000C(ZFE—\F : AR
#54,222,146,0007T) BRI E—EFP (&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES 7. HWAREMBEX

Other income HAtslr A
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMET T AREFTT
Bank interest income RITHBUA 11,169 11,034
Government grants related to AT B IR H BT REE
- Assets (Note 35) - BE (FIEE35) 19,030 19,067
— Others (Note) - H b (P 5E) 13,593 24,606
32,623 43,673
Others ) 7,276 11,424
51,068 66,131
Note: These government grants are unconditional government Mizr: ZREBUSMHEEAAEEEHE BB
subsidies received by the Group from relevant government WH A ARG BB B ERAEE
bodies for the purpose of giving immediate financial support ) B TR L BRSBTS 5 ©

to the Group's operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr e B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES 7. HMWARHEMBE X w
(continued)
Other expenses H i pA
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Donation expenses BRERX 545 225
Loss from sales of milk powders (Note i) & W s 18 (B =T = 321
Compensation for termination of a contract 4% 1E& 49 E (I 5Eii)
(Note ii) = 12,000
Others HAfth 8,516 10,545
9,061 23,091
Notes: MI5E

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
dehydrated some of its raw milk into milk powders which were
intended for feeding calves. The Group sold the milk powders
to third parties, resulting in a loss of RMB321,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2018, being the excess of the carrying
value of the milk powders over the proceeds received.

In June 2016, Modern Farming (Saibei) Co., Ltd. (“Saibei”),
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a consigned
processing contract with Bengbu Heping Dairy Co., Ltd
("Heping"”) to consign Heping to process liquid milk
product. As the Directors predicted the process of liquid
milk production would not be resumed in the foreseeable
future, Saibei terminated the contract with a compensation of
RMB12,000,000 to Heping in December 2018.

BHE_Z—N\F+_-_A=+—HILEFE -
AEE IS REHDE KK BT - #
REEN - AEBEBBELETE =
ho BYEHE-_Z-\F+-A=1+—8H
IFEEE B A R#321,0007T © BNEH) 80 BR
AESRERABRENIS °

RZZE—XNENA - ARATNHMBEARE
REEE) AR AR (TEL]) EEBF
FHEERAR(TMEDFETREMIE
4 BRTERENITRETNESR - ARE
BHEFRA AR SIRIE I TR E
@ BN T N\F+-FHEFFLRIE
A% - WEE A R12,000,0007T °
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PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE FINANCE COSTS 8.

AND TAX

Profit (loss) before finance costs and tax is arrived at after

charging (crediting):

BREVE R AR HIR

AN TIBRRFERFL

DL a3

Al it

hEJr H T—RALFE

A (&18)

B BRE A A R B TR A A (85 18) T5 308k (Rt

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMEF T ARETTT
Cost of sales before raw milk fair value REH A T EFERTH
adjustments: HENA :
Breeding costs to produce raw milk A E REHD SR 3,412,330 3,243,770
Production costs for liquid milk products TR REHTEE Y A EE R AR = 166,900
3,412,330 3,410,670
Raw milk fair value adjustments included in & ASH & A& R B
cost of sales NEFRE 1,938,360 1,371,468
5,350,690 4,782,138
Other gains and losses, net: Hb e KRB HRFER
Net foreign exchange loss SNIE B 183 58 82,952 126,957
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERREBRE
plant and equipment 16,879 4,768
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries REEWB QR EENKE
(Note 38) (M45E£38) - (18,193)
Impairment loss on property, ME - BERREREESER
plant and equipment (Note 16) (FH3E16) 45,287 36,444
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 19) R EEE (M5E19) 27,323 25,950
Fair value (gain) loss on financial assets BATEFABSZSBHEERN
at FVTPL AREEIC 6] 75
Foreign currency forward contracts HNE R BRE #) (Fi 5222)
(Note 22) (17,971) (35,394)
Foreign currency option contracts SINEE BRRE S 49 (Bt 52 22)
(Note 22) (32,585) 872
Bills receivable (Note 25) JE =4 (B 5E25) = (1,427)
(50,556) (35,949)
Gains on derecognition of financial liabilities EUE#ER < # & EH IS (839) (1,352)
121,046 138,625
Y

.

A Y

.



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FEIRRHMEZRER D
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

8. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE FINANCE COSTS 8. BREERARBIEAEF (EE)

AND TAX (continued) (&)
2019 2018
—g-nE —FN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WERERERE

equipment (Note 16) (BF5E16) 516,954 535,685
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEENMLeRE (208,171) (220,651)
Depreciation charged to profit or loss MR EEENITE 308,783 315,034
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE (MH:E17)

(Note 17) 16,266 -
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMBEEEN LR (5,703) =
Depreciation charged to profit or loss Mk EEENITE 10,563 -
Short-term lease expense RHHEERY 13,180 =
Less: capitalised in biological assets o EMEEENMEERR (5,934) -
Short-term lease expense charged MR BEEENEHHEER

to profit or loss 7,246 -
Equity-settled share award expense VARR #E 45 5 69 AR 1 22 B0 B 2

(Note 37(b)) (F4E37(b)) 25,553 8,646
Other employee benefits costs H A 8 12 M B < 490,961 435,722
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMBEEER LR (122,538) (112,143)
Employee benefits charged to profit or loss 1k B Bz H)E 8 1287 393,976 332,225
Auditors’ remuneration 1% A 2 B 2,950 2,800
Release of land use rights *+ {5 A R AR BR - 4,012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BERA
2019 2018
—B-nE —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Interest expenses on: FERZ :
Bank borrowings RITERK 248,407 187,625
Medium-term notes rhHREE IR 6,620 41,485
Corporate bonds NEESH 14,645 59,871
Other borrowings from Mengniu KB R E AR fE R
(Note 46(d)) (P 5 46(d)) 47,842 44,306
Other borrowings from financial KB RN E MR
institutions 2,337 -
Mengniu Bill (as defined in Note 25) SHZEB(EERMEE25) 6,952 1,804
Lease liabilities HER®E 11,010 =
Total borrowing cost EEND Nk 337,813 335,091
Fair value loss on interest rates swaps =18 BN B R 38,982 3,531

376,795 338,622
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 10. HHIEEEERE NRERFE -

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL HIBREE[E
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Impairment losses recognised on: BB IR A THER
— Trade receivables — liquid milk product - FEE SRR - RREE M
(the Distributors) (as defined in (9 8878) (€& RHI5E25)
Note 25) - 358,891
— Trade receivables — liquid milk product - BN E F R - REPEM
(other customers) (EtEP) - 5,365
— Other receivables — E fth fE W R IE 953 3,569
Impairment losses reversed on: EBERA TR
— Trade receivables — liquid milk product - EE SRR - RREINE M
(the Distributors) (DsEm) (160,451) -
— Trade receivables — liquid milk product - fEIE F R - REE M
(other customers) (EtEP) (1,837) (163)
(161,335) 367,662
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 40. BB S IE SR M40
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FIEHAX
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFTT
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: RIB R AR PTSH
Current tax: BUEAR 1A -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Bl TSR 556 513
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax charge represents income tax in the PRC which is
calculated at the prevailing tax rate on the taxable income of
the subsidiaries established in the PRC.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax (the "EIT Law") at 25% for both years. Taxation
arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. According to the
prevailing tax rules and regulation of the PRC, 16 subsidiaries
(2018: 16 subsidiaries) of the Group are exempted from
enterprise income tax for taxable profit from the operation
of agricultural business in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2019.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from Hong
Kong.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies
to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting RMB1,863,415,000 (31 December
2018: RMB1,372,185,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

11. FIEHE @

T8 TR 7 ST HE A I AP BB S A B B 8 R A B RR
B AR IRITI R G E 0P BT

o B /,\?JEEZﬁﬂlir?;zZS%E’ﬁRT
BMPBECEMSHR(REREHED -
fﬂﬂii%lﬁ%iﬁ’ﬁﬁlﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁgT/XT%EE
BITMEREE - RIBFBERITHRBGRRNIOE
BOBE_T-NFT-_A=1+—HLLHF
B AEEWIHMBEAR(ZT—/\F :
16EMBARRHBREE REXBELEN
FERTm MR BB A ERFR

WERBEBHRFELEE  RESAKER
FEEVBELZWATERE BB WA -

RIBRBEMERMERE - RPBIKZHINE
ERIINGREE SRR B BHN10%KTE
N - ZHEB ST NFEF—A—HEE
W WEAR-_ZEEZ+F+-_A=1+—H#
KR H) o WA B BN IR B 3K PR Rl A R
RIS T BUIEAGAD - R FEME BRI B K o
AN E A AR A5%810% o I K AP
B f B A F) Retim A A R1,863,415,000
T(ZE—NEF+ZA=+—8: AR®
1,372,185,00070) A 4R & B 75 R 2k ph iR JE X
HELEE - AR AEEEMITH BRI
R EREMBE A M2 S E R Z RN A A gk
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e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax expense for the current year can be reconciled to
profit (loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

11.

FriSBim X m
ST RAFERERL BEABSREME
U R OB BB Y (B 18) O R -

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Profit (loss) before tax B F R & A (E538) 350,413 (505,660)
Tax at applicable income tax rate at 25% LB MRS R 25%THE

(2018: 25%) HE(CEZE—NFE . 25%) 87,603 (126,415)
Effect of tax exemption granted to REEREVFENTE

agricultural entities (150,311) (90,023)
Effect of non-utilised losses incurred from  2¥EELERBHEIR &

agricultural business and other Hith NI B A 2

non-deductible expenses 57,486 204,376
Effect of tax losses not recognised RERHIABRNTE 6,104 12,575
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FRABERERTIEEE

recognised (326) =
Income tax expense Frig i 556 513

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's PRC subsidiaries had
unused tax losses of RMB179,043,000 (2018: RMB200,019,000)
incurred by non-agricultural business in the PRC. These
unused tax losses as at 31 December 2019 will expire in year
2020 to year 2024 if not utilised. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in relation to such tax losses as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

—NFE+ZA=+—H  TEEHH
BB R AP ENIEREEBELENRD
BHEEEAARE 179,043,000 (=ZF—
NE © AR#200,019,0007T) ° MR -—F—
NEFE+ZA=+—BZERBDARBEER
EERA - HHﬁﬁ\—z_gfﬁ§ T ZNFfE
o BRI BE 15 FE R B 7 i =] 2h AR
TRERE -ﬁtlﬁﬁdﬁﬁﬁamlﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁw &
JERITHBEE ©
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 12. EERFTETHRAEMNE
EMOLUMENTS
Details of the directors’ and the chief executives’ emoluments EERTBITHAEMEFBOT ¢

are as follows:

2019
—E-NEF

Salaries, Equity- Retirement

allowances settled benefits

Directors’ and benefits- share award scheme
fees in-kind expense contributions Total

e ZHR RRELE BIRER
EsHE BYEN RORBFX sHEIHRR wat

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR AR®TR AR®TxR

Executive directors HITES
Ms. Gao Lina SEMLZL - 3,902 2,947 - 6,849
Mr. Han Chunlin BEMEE - 2,060 1,643 141 3,844
Non-executive directors ~ JFHITE SR
Mr. Lu Minfang EEREAE - - - - -
Mr. Wolhardt Wolhardt Julian
Julian Juul Juulft & = - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping RIFFEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiejun HEE L4
(Note i) (i) - - - - -
Mr. Wen Yongping BRI E
(Note ii) (P &ED) - - - - -
Independent BERITES
non-executive directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai FHEEE
Conway 215 - - - 215
Mr. Li Shengli FEALE 200 = = = 200
Mr. Kang Yan REEX 4 200 - - - 200
615 5,962 4,590 141 11,308
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

12. EERFETBRAEM S w

2018
—T-N\F
Salaries, Equity-  Retirement
allowances settled benefits
Directors’ and benefits-  share award scheme
fees in-kind expense contributions Total
e =Mk RERESE RIREF
vk EWREA RiHEEHRX FHEIfR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETFT AR¥BTR
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Gao Lina =Bzt = 2,467 1,318 - 3,785
Mr. Han Chunlin BEMLE - 1,635 651 65 2,351
Non-executive directors ~ JE#TTEE
Mr. Lu Minfang E&mEE - - - - -
Mr. Wolhardt Wolhardt Julian
Julian Juul Juulft & = - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping RTEE - - - - -
Mr. Wen Yongping BT E
(Note ii) (P& - - - - -
Independent BAURTES
non-executive directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai TRERE
Conway 204 - - - 204
Mr. Li Shengli FEHAEE 200 = = = 200
Mr. Kang Yan FREESE A 200 = = = 200
604 4,102 1,969 65 6,740
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Ms. Gao Lina and Mr. Han Chunlin are also the chief
executives of the Company. The emoluments disclosed
above for executive directors were for the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The executive
directors were also granted share options and share awards
under the share option schemes and the share award scheme
of the Company. Details of the share option schemes and
share award scheme are set out in Note 37.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Notes:

No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

ii. Mr. Wen Yongping, a non-executive director, resigned from
his office with effect from 15 January 2019. Mr. Zhao Jiejun
was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 15
January 2019.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included two (2018: two) directors of the Company, details
of whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in

A M BRRNE

—hE+ZA=+t—RLFE

12. EERFETHAEMEw®

%%@ﬁﬂﬁﬁti&ﬁé‘%%i‘ﬁiﬁ%$’&ﬂﬂ’]$x
TRAR - EXFIBBEHITEETHERE?
ARRRAEEEBENME - %ﬂﬂﬁ%?ﬁfﬁé
BN BB AR ST 8 K A () SRR At B X B
Pl B B A7) 22 R o R RscvE T &) K Ak E2 BT
IR IEE M EE37

EXFRIELIFATESTOME AREER
ARARESWRBME -

GEE
BE-T—AF+-A=+—HILFE
B SRR R AR (=T —
NG ) o

i EMATEERKTAEE-T-AE—A

+HARBE - BEELREA-T—NE
—ATHEREEEAENTES -

13. EEBREHMAL

AEEFALBRRTMALEBEARFM
ZH(ZE-N\F:MRBESE E#M\%’Iﬁ&
BREXHFI12 FREHBK=R(ZF

Note 12 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining F 2 )BESHMATHEHIES ;zuT
three (2018: three) highest paid individuals for the year are as
follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind e ERREYET 4,147 3,653
Retirement benefits scheme contributions  iRIKTEFFHEI L3k 242 134
Equity-settled share award expense LR E R BN 2 4,197 1,301
8,586 5,088

.
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 13. EBEEFMATw
No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the HE_Z-NFT+_A=1+—HILFE K
Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement SEMEREEX LI ERSTFMATNE
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss Al - 1E /00 B8R AN &= [ 5 N BR 12 &Y 22 Bh =k
of office for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil). ERBEARECE-—N\F: &) -
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the AT (R FHERFHE A T8 E 6 3E
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands EERATMEEAZLT
in Hong Kong Dollar ("HK$") is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £ 2,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T £ 4,000,000/ 7T 2 -
5 3
Certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid RIBAR R R0 B AR AE ST B & iR {n 22T &
employees were granted share options and share awards, in ETHEERIFETRABNZRFE
respect of their services to the Group under the share option B HL 3 A 5= B A PRS2 A B RSO % £ 82
schemes and share award scheme of the Company. Details B o BEARERT B KA SR ET B IB S MY
of the share option schemes and share award scheme are set FF37 °
out in Note 37.
14. DIVIDEND 14. B2

No dividend (2018: nil) was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during 2019, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

MER_—FT - NFHHERAR R EBEK
RSB RNEARE(CE-N\F
&) - NVEB RS B R 2R HE A AR

B o

N
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15. SREBA (FBR)
ARAHE A GRER R R (5

B) IIREA T BURRTE

15. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

2019 2018
—E-NF —EF-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBTT
Profit (loss) A (B 18)
Profit (loss) for the purposes of basic and ARt ESRER L #ERF
diluted earnings (loss) per share (BB 80 N (B518) 341,270 (496,088)
2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-N\F
Shares Shares
B &
Number of shares ighar 24z
Weighted average number of AR ESREREMN (EE)
ordinary shares for the purpose of B AR N 9 B
basic earnings (loss) per share 6,165,192,978 6,083,399,210
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: #EE B LR E -
Share options RE AR 11,637,831 =
Share awards & 1 228D 4,765,434 -
6,181,596,243  6,083,399,210

A EEREREF (EBE) AN B
RIB AR R REF IR T HANAR
BAABEBRNDREL - FAEBE_T—/\F
ToA=+—HALFENEREEERYL T
stRARBEBERER D REBNFE - THH
RBRRITEREBSERTREERRD

The number of shares adopted in the calculation of the basic
earnings (loss) per share has been arrived at after eliminating
the unvested shares of the Company held under the
Company'’s share award scheme. The calculation of diluted
loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2018 has not
taken into account the effect of the share options and share
awards of the Company since the assumed exercise and
vesting would result in decrease in loss per share.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% - BERRHE

Motor Plant and  Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment in progress Total
EF RE  BERAE EEIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR
Cost A
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZ-\E-A-ANEH 5,230,080 2867 209,137 51310 739845
Additions NE - 494 67,012 187273 254,779
Transfer it 113,804 = 82,081 (195,885) =
Disposals L& (16,136) (1,939 (60,817) - (78,892)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) M8 2 A3 (P ££38) (170,883) (379 (416,032) (31,230) (618,524)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+-A=T-HBLH 5,156,865 21,043 1,766,381 11,528 6,955,817
Additions NE - 689 81,113 113,443 195,245
Transfer it 53,250 = 54215 (107,465) =
Disposals L& (15,639) (1,156) (124,394) = (141,189)
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 27) ENARARBLEE) (154,659) = (46,615) - (201,274)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NET-A=T-RiLEH 5,039,817 20,576 1,730,700 17,506 6,808,599
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-\F-F—HaEs (1,618,958) (8,386) (966,828) - (25%172)
Charge for the year FRFEY (323.998) (1,366) (210,321) = (535,685)
Eliminated on disposals LEMH 6,462 1,304 48,637 = 56,403
Eliminated on disposal of subsidliaries (Note 38) & ME 2 Al &4 (15£38) 3382 26 144,53 - 178,642
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+-A=+-BHEH (1,902,674) (8,162) (983,976) - (2894812
Charge for the year ERFEY (326,773) (989) (189,192 = (516,954)
Eliminated on disposals & 13713 1,066 96,597 = 111,376
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 27) ENARARELE) 104,537 = 26,537 - 131,074
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZEB-NETZA=t-HEEH (2,111,197) (8,085  (1,050,034) - (3,169,316)
Impairment A
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZ-\E-A-BN&R (100,017) (82 (5,447) = (105,546)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss EREERTAESR (11499 = (24.945) = (36,444)
Eliminated on disposals HER 1,274 19 377 - 1,670
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+-A=T-RMLEH (110,242) (63) (30019 - (140,320)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss ERERRARESR (4,328) - (40,959) - (45,287)
Eliminated on disposal k=4 162 1111 - 281 - 1,392
Balance at 31 December 2019 RIE-NE+ZA=T-ANEH (113,459) (63) (70,693) - (184,215
Carrying amounts REE
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZZB-NET-A=+—-HiEH 2,815,161 12,428 609,973 17,506 3,455,068
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+ZA=T-RREH 3,143.949 12818 752,390 11,528 3,920,685

g
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Depreciation is charged using straight-line method over the
expected useful life, after taking into account its estimated
residual value, at the following rates per annum:

4.75%-9.50%
19.00%
9.50%-19.00%

Buildings
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

Impairment assessment

During the current year, the Directors determined that
the operation of Saibei would not be resumed in the
foreseeable future. The Group engaged an independent
valuer, Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal Limited to
assist it in assessing the recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment of Saibei. The recoverable amount of
RMB24,278,000 in respect of the buildings was determined
under market method. The Group recognised an impairment
loss of RMB45,287,000 (2018: RMB36,444,000) in profit or loss
for the property, plant and equipment of Saibei.

16.

M BERZE®

FERBHA £ RAFHAL R E R FIER
BERERERER NIFFRTE

BF 4.75%9.50%
2! 19.00%
= RS 9.50%-19.00%
P AR

RAFE  EERENI LB RELT SR
BEE - AEBEEBBE Y GEMDE AN
BRAERAB BT HEELDE - BE R
BEHOAKESE BEFUKESEAR
#24,278,0007C JHIE I AEE T - NEE Y
EIME  BEMERERBSERBRERS
BARMA5,287,000c(ZE—N\F | ARK
36,444,0007T) °
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EAREE
Leased
machinery
Leasehold Leased and
lands properties  equipment Total
HEHM
HELTH# HEWHE &3 et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETRE ARBTT AREBTET

Cost 2%
Balance at 1 January 2019 HRZ=ZF—AF

—H—B®&er 288,640 - 43,932 332,572
Additions (Note i) WE (BT 21,526 730 5,061 27,317

Balance at 31 December RZE—NF
2019 +-A=+—HH
FEf 310,166 730 48,993 359,889

Accumulated depreciation RiFHTE
Balance at 1 January 2019  R=ZT—NF

—A—BmEsR (23,462) - - (23,462)
Charge for the year FARE (10,797) (243) (5,226) (16,266)

Balance at 31 December R-ZE—NF
2019 TZA=1+—A/
4 en (34,259) (243) (5,226) (39,728)
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 17. ﬁﬁﬁ Eﬁg(ﬁ)
Leased
machinery
Leasehold Leased and
lands properties  equipment Total
THEHW
HE it HEWME R®E et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTIT AR¥ETT AR¥TE

Carrying amounts IREE
Balance at 1 January 2019  RZ=Z—NF
—HA— B 265,178 = 43,932 309,110
Balance at 31 December RZZE—NF
2019 +=—B=+—H&
KR 275,907 487 43,767 320,161
Expense relating to ERAREEE AR
short-term leases and W2 & A B PR B
other leases with lease TEEZERIE 1655
terms end within HEREEH12(8 AR
12 months of the date EROHMAER
of initial application of =53
IFRS 16 13,180

Expense relating to leases B HEKEEEEHRE

of low- value assets, (TBEREEE
excluding short-term EREAE) W
leases of low value assets 3 30

Variable lease payments W AEE B ER

not included in the SR EBEER K
measurement of lease
liabilities 355

Total cash outflow for leases THEIR &7 L 4258
(Note ii) (Bt EEii) 31,665
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

i Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases
commenced in 2019.

ii. Amount includes payments of principal and interest portion
of lease liabilities, variable lease payments, short-term leases,
low value assets and payments of lease payments on or before
lease commencement date. These amounts are presented in
operating, investing and financing cash flows.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

The Group leases lands, properties, machineries and
equipments to operate its business. These leases are
typically made for fixed terms of 2 to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
payment terms and conditions. The lease liabilities are
measured at the present value of the lease payments that are
not yet paid. The incremental borrowing rates applied by the
relevant group entities range from 5.13% to 5.20% per annum
for lease liabilities as at 31 December 2019.

For some of the leased machineries, the Group is required
to make fixed monthly payments and additional variable
payments depending on the usage of the asset during the
contract period.

The Group's lease agreements do not contain any contingent
rent nor any extension, early termination option or purchase

option for lessee.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
machineries, motor vehicles and office equipment. As at 31
December 2019, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar
to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term

lease expense disclosed in Note 8.

17. FRAEEEw®

GEX

i CEAERRFMEEN - NAFREME
EHEREEE -

i. SHEEFEHAEEENASRMNEBESN
oo REEENK EHEE  EEEE
ENEEERMABHR 2 MHEEN
R RECRELE RERBERSR
EBFRIIR -

EREEERERABRENE -

AEBEETH - W B EREUE
EBEER - ZEFHERTETEHRAB2E50
F o MEKRRIIRGEDEEER - 85170
NRERRGEY - HEAGRAZNNAE
NEZBREfE R hF+_A=1+—
H HASEEEREAEEEMERIZEE
HHENFEFF5.13%E5.20% °

SRS RE MY, - AREEELSARE
3R BART-A G HP1E F B E R AE L 485
AR -

AEBNEE WA S EASAEE K
BMANEMLER - RERIEELBERE -

REETEHREM - TE R ARERI R
HHE - R=—T-NAF+_A=+—H" &
HATH E4E A B8 BATE S R SO SR8 P B R
MEHHEHEARE -
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18. LAND USE RIGHTS 18. T ibEFARE
RMB’000
ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE—-N\F—-H-Ba&EH 129,908
Eliminated on disposals of subsidiaries (Note 38) & [f & 2 &)l #5 (F17E38) (4,674)
Released to profit or loss = Fy (4,012)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F+ZA=+—HBHE% 121,222
Analysed for reporting purpose as: 2®OWTAOT :
- Current assets -mBEE 4,002
- Non-current assets -ERBEE 117,220
121,222
The amount represents the prepaid lease payments for land ZFAERE L AR A ERIE - 1
use rights situated in the PRC. The leasehold interests in land E LR eV 7E A EARR 1 F- 202 504F -

have lease terms ranging from 20 to 50 years.
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19. GOODWILL 19. &
2019 2018
—E-hIEF —E-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Cost 2%
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—Bkt+=-A=+—8 1,535,886 1,535,886
Impairment E
At 1 January R—H—H (137,297) (111,347)
Impairment loss recognised in the year FRE R EEE (27,323) (25,950)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H (164,620) (137,297)
Carrying values IREE
At 31 December W+ZA=+—8 1,371,266 1,398,589
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been EITRENRE  HERAMREERREE
allocated to two individual CGUs. The carrying amounts of HEN c BENREEGIR 2 EEEE)
goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) allocated to BAZSHREELEEMNOT ¢

these CGUs are as follows:

2019 2018
—e-hE —ET)N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Modern Farming (Note i) WA (EE) (FFED 310,426 310,426
ADH Companies (Note ii) ADHZ &] (Fff 5Eii) 1,060,840 1,088,163
1,371,266 1,398,589
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

Notes:

The Group's goodwill of RMB310,426,000 arose from
acquisition of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern
Farming”) in 2009 (the “2009 Goodwill"). Accordingly, for the
purpose of impairment testing, the 2009 Goodwill has been
allocated to the dairy farming business of Modern Farming
and its subsidiaries at the point of acquisition, being the group
of CGUs engaged in dairy farming operations (the “Modern
Farming CGU") and represent the lowest level within
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the Modern Farming CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets of five years approved by the management and a pre-
tax discount rate of 12.3% (2018: 11.8%). Cash flows beyond
the budgeted period are extrapolated using a 2.5% (2018:
2.5%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation included the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk. Such
assumptions are based on the unit's past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the Modern Farming CGU to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of the Modern Farming CGU.

The Group's goodwill of RMB1,225,460,000 arose from
acquisition of the Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings
Il (the “ADH Companies”) in 2015 (the “2015 Goodwill").
For the purpose of impairment testing, the 2015 Goodwill has
been allocated to the ADH Companies, being the group of
CGUs engaged in dairy farming operations (the “ADH CGU")
and represent the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the ADH CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets of five years approved by the management and a pre-
tax discount rate of 12.3% (2018: 11.8%). Cash flows beyond
the budgeted period are extrapolated using a 2.5% (2018:
2.5%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation included the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk. Such
assumptions are based on the unit's past performance and
management's expectations for the market development.

Due to certain decline of the quantity of dairy cows, an
impairment loss of RMB27,323,000 (2018: RMB25,950,000)
was recognised in 2019, being the excess of the carrying
amount of the ADH CGU over the recoverable amount of
RMB2,514,830,000 determined based on the above value in

use calculation.

A M BRRNE
—NFE+ZAS+—RILFE

19. B8 w

fias -

Zliﬁlﬁﬁﬁéﬁé%é?%/\&%mo,ué,ooo
T ARZZEZAFREBRAKEER)
BRA 7(&%&%@%@%:3
ZAEHE]D - Bt - #ETRERHE
—ZTATHERARRKEER KE
R ER ACENEEBEERNRSES
BUARNMB AR ((RREE(EER
SELBN)NNFEEER  WALSE
ERAGRANEEENELEENREK

BRBEGEE ReELSEMHITKES
BERBEABENEET  WUKERE
HENTEHMBRERKE - RARER
STEAEL - BATARE B123% (=T —
JVE ©11.8%) - BEHRMUINIRESRE
Tf?ﬁZS%(:g I\ 1 2.5%) BYIE R K HE
cHEFAEBENHMEZBRRBIER
JF?EXEHWJFHT EHIL A MmE TS
BRENERSTRREBNMEERAER
Ao ZEBRIDERZEMIATRER
EREEHMBERNESR ERERA
ZEBRJIAREENENEGEEHISE
BRAMEGERREeELEEUMNERE
BEfEAE R E S REREE -

REBENEE B/ ARE,225460,000
T AR ZFE-hFWEAsia Dairy
Holdings & Asia Dairy Holdings II([#&%
ADH"\ﬁJ)ﬁﬁFE(r_$ AEHED -
ETRERHE - —HFEAEBAZ
ZADHRAR] E%Z“‘%ﬁ)}ql%@%fkﬁ’]fﬁ
TEALBMANADHREEL BN -
WRAEEARABER B NEZEHEN
BRIEAKF -

ADHIR & E4A BN M AT K E £ FIZBE
FEETEET  YUKLEREHENT
FHBBEAKE RAREREEA
B BATBRIR R 512 3% (ZF— \4&F :

11.8%) - BEHRUINNIER & REE A
25%(ZF— )\ : 25% HIERERHEL -

AEEAEENEMEIERRBEMER
KEHMHHE  SWILBNEEFEER
EPNERSTRERHAPEFEBEKAE - Z
SMRBEDENZEMWAERRELEER
HHEROTR

HRILFBEE T B MR=ZF—HN
FEEHER—EAARE27,323,0007TH R E
BiE(CZE—/\F : AR¥25,950,0007T)
BIADHIR € EE 4 B R AR R E 6 B
FREEFEEIMETNAIRKSEAR
#2,514,830,0007T ©

A Y
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

20. REE R AN ER

2019 2018
—g-hE  —TN\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR  ARBTL
Cost of investments in associates i El/NCIE G-I N 156,040 156,040
Share of post-acquisition profits and Da R & A R E A 2 E WA
other comprehensive income 59,352 24,873
215,392 180,913
Details of the Group's interests in associates are as follows: NEBRBANTEXNEBNT
Place of Proportion of
Name of company establishment ownership interest Voting rights Principal activities
NEER R RAELA RER IERH
31/12/2019 31122018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
8- —F/\F ZE-AE BN\
t=A=t-8 tZA=1-8 t=A=t-A tZA=1-H
% % % %
Modern Farming (Feidong) Co., Ltd. The PRC 50 50 49 49 Liquid milk
("Feidong"”) (Note 38) HE producing
RREE(ER)ERAF EERED
(TR 1) (W3£38)
Moder Farming (Bengbu) Co., Ltd. The PRC 50 50 49 49 Liquid milk
("Bengbu") (Note 38) HE producing
RRSE (BB BRAF EERED
(T2)) (H3£38)
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

In March 2018, Modern Farming sold its 50% equity interest
in Feidong and Bengbu, the then subsidiaries of the
Company, to Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Under the articles
of association, Inner Mongolia Mengniu has 51% of voting
power at shareholder meetings and is entitled to appoint
three out of a total of five directors of Feidong and Bengbu,
and accordingly has control over Feidong and Bengbu. The
Group lost control of Feidong and Bengbu but has significant
influence over Feidong and Bengbu, therefore classified them
as associates of the Group. More details of the transaction
are set out in Note 38.

In October 2018 and December 2018, each of Modern
Farming and Inner Mongolia Mengniu proportionally injected
capital of RMB35,000,000 and RMB65,000,000 to Feidong and
Bengbu, respectively. After that, the ownership percentage
of Modern Farming and Inner Mongolia Mengniu in Bengbu
and Feidong remained unchanged.

Summarised financial information of material
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's material associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

20. REBE NN REREw®

R-ZZE-NF=F  BRAHEEBLER
N EVE B 2 AAE IR N S 1R 50% 0 HE a1
FTRARERT - RERARER  ARART
FEIERAMEROBIRAE EBS1%RZHRE
NRERREERMERRAZEEHN =5 "

kel T AR EIE - REBKREHIER
KR ZESIE - BHERREEAFEXN
TEN AUBESBEARKEEMNEEQ
A > B HHEZFBHNMIEESS

RZBE-NF+ARZE-N\F+=A -
Mﬂz%(%l)&W%E%ﬁFﬂ”E\J&tWUJﬁA
BB & &R F & A R¥35,000,000T X AR
#65,000,0007T © E1& - BARME(EE) R
NELHRFREEREROMEEE DI
mE o

EXRBEQATNNBERMRE
TXHINAEEEERBERBANHHER

B2 - UTHBENRERB LR RIRES
RS R REOM B RRITEE
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. E/\‘\%%i\\ﬁl E’g*gﬁ;é(ﬁ)
Feidong BE R
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
—s-nE - N\&
+=B=+-8 t-A=+—R
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

Current assets BB E 82,680 56,239
Non-current assets JERENEE 161,360 178,127
Current liabilities mBEE 68,875 84,943
Non-current liabilities FRBRE 11,954 9,073

Period from

Year ended 31/03/2018
31/12/2019  to 31/12/2018
B=F—N\F

8% =A=+-8
—g-nE EF-B-N\F
t=A=+-8 t=A=t+-~
123 Sy
RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTE  ARETR

Revenue W= 286,457 100,524

Profit and total comprehensive income F /BN REEmR AL

for the year/period 22,861 16,735
Adjustments due to the difference RHEEBBRASERERAT

between the carrying value and fair ERNEmERATEZE

value of the Group's remaining interests ~ Z=F8E BT

in Feidong on the date of disposal (2,018) (711)

Profit and total comprehensive income F /R k2 ER AL
for the year/period 20,843 16,024

g

|

Jyl
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. %Hﬁ%’/}ﬁ E’g*gﬁ;é(ﬁ)
Feidong (continued) e E )
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information FAtBA RS E R RN R S B RS SRR R R
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate RERE R RIS REERER

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
—Z-hF —E-)N\F
+=HA=+—-H +=A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Net assets of Feidong ERFEE 163,211 140,350

Proportion of the Group's ownership REERIERNEGEER
interest in Feidong e 1 50% 50%

The Group's share of net assets of REEDEIERFEE
Feidong 81,606 70,175
Gooduwill mE 251 251
Fair value adjustments N EFE 1,377 2,386
83,234 72,812
Bengbu iR

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
+=B=t+—H +=ZA=+—8H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Current assets MENEE 265,424 163,661
Non-current assets IERBNEE 167,302 247,868
Current liabilities RBAE 164,304 189,574
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 13,488 16,160
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

20.

REEQATNER®

Bengbu (continued) e 32 )
Period from
Year ended 31/03/2018
31/12/2019 to 31/12/2018
B N\F
B#Z =A=+—~H
—E-hE EZZT-)N\F
+=BA=+—-H +=—A=+—8H
IEFE HA
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Revenue Weas 748,188 355,926
Profit and total comprehensive income F/BNRF R 2mBR AL
for the year/period 49,139 35,523
Adjustments due to the difference R E BEAREEREIRRT
between the carrying value and fair RERMREEEN TE 2 E
value of the Group's remaining interests ~ Z= A& BT
in Bengbu on the date of disposal (1,024) (1,801)
Profit and total comprehensive income F /BN R2EmR AL
for the year/period 48,115 33,722
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information iR E R B AR A B TS TR R R A

to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

PRBE X R e RO BR 1 (B B

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

—E-NF —ZT-N\F

+=A=+—H +=ZA=+—H

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFTT

Net assets of Bengbu BB SR B 254,934 205,795
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REERE RN ESEER

interest in Bengbu Lt 51 50% 50%

The Group's share of net asset of Bengbu A& B 5 {h I8/ F & E 127,467 102,898

Goodwill EES 33 33

Fair value adjustments N EFEE 4,658 5,170

132,158 108,101

(N



Annual Report 2019 Z=Z—AFFRH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & —Z — 7‘L¢+ )El T—HILEFE

21. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI 21. BAFESTAHMBEZEB AR
EHETH
2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Unquoted equity investments RERERKRE 3,959 2,508
The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's FaliIE FERIEEEAEER TR BT
equity interest in private entities established in the PRC. ABEBERNEDIEE AR ESHEEZERE
The Directors have elected to designate these investments BremXSEmEE  BREBZSER
in equity instruments at FVTOCI as they believe that the TEREBEEAEAFTETAEMMETER I
investments will not be sold for trading purpose. A °

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2. TTE€®MI A
Current assets Current liabilities
REEE REEE

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NEF —ZE-hEF —E-N\F
+=A=+-R +=A=+—B +=ZA=+-8 +-A=+-~
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT ARBTR ARETT

Interest rate swaps 2= 4m B (B D)

(Note i) 4,325 40,774 (15,134) (12,601)
Foreign currency HSNERHAA XY
forward contracts (B &)
(Note ii) 53,505 39,025 (140) (3,631)
Foreign currency HNE BRRE & 4Y
option contracts GEEaD)
(Note ii) 31,713 625 - (1,497)
89,543 80,424 (15,274) (17,729)
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

22. fTEE€RM I Emw

(continued)
Notes: B3E
Major terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows: PRI EE E KT -
Nominal amount Swaps
£ERTH =
United States Dollars (“US$") 300,000,000 From LIBOR* to 1.53%—1.54%
300,000,0005 7T ([ 7)) B RBIRITR T B E1.53%E1.54%
HK$1,500,000,000 From HIBOR* to 2.59%-2.62%
1,500,000,0007% 7T B&EBRITRZER S E2.59%E2.62%
* London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR")
* RBERTRERE(RBBITREFE])
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR")
ERBRTAEFS(ERBRITEEFE )
The Group entered into several interest rate swap contracts AEBEEEFTRITTLETHNEERS
with certain banks to hedge the risk of interest rate fluctuation 2 AR THRF BN ERITERE
arising from certain bank loans at floating interest rate. The fair ERMFEREER - RN R T EZ SR
value changes of the swaps were recognised as a deduction of RATIBREE AR ©
finance costs.
ii. Major items of the foreign currency forward contracts and the i. SNERHAEARIINEHESHETEZEE N
foreign currency option contracts are as follows: TS 8
Nominal amount Forward exchange rates
ERSH EHEXR
USs$187,700,000 RMB6.4800 to RMB7.0000: US$1
187,700,0003 7T AR #6.48007C 2 AR #7.00007T K, 13E 7T
Euro (“EUR") 20,000,000 RMB7.6858 to RMB7.8480: EUR1
20,000,000 7T ([& 7T ) ARE7.6858TTE AR H7.84807T H1ETT
US$4,000,000 HK$7.8453: US$1
4,000,000 7T 784538 7L 3,16 7T
HK$1,230,390,000 US$0.1274 to US$0.1280: HK$1
1,230,390,0007% 7T 0.1274% 7L ZE0.1280X T A BT



22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

22. fTEEMIAmw

fisE - ()

Major items of the foreign currency forward contracts and the ii.

foreign currency option contracts are as follows: (continued)

SNEEHIAHRINERESHETRAAM
G ))

Nominal amount Type Position Prices
ZEEH pgid BE KR B
US$217,000,000% Call Long RMB6.7000 to RMB6.8900: US$1
217,000,0003= 7* RAE e AR#6.70007E A R#6.89007T 5,13 7T
Put Short RMB6.7000 to RMB6.8900: US$1
O V9] AREE6.70007T 2 A R#6.89007T 7, 1570
Call Short RMB7.1000 to RMB7.3000: US$1
RE e A7 10007T E A R#7.30007T 7135 7T
US$26,300,000* Call Long RMB6.8820: US$1
26,300,0003= T* RAE e AR6.88207T 71T
Put Short RMB6.8800: US$1
O b9} AR#6.8800TT R 1ETT
US$26,000,000 Call Long RMB5.8000: US$1
26,000,0003= 7T RE He ABRE5.80007T % 1ETT

*

These are currency call put option portfolios.

The Group entered into several foreign currency forward
contracts and foreign currency option contracts with certain
banks to hedge the currency risk arising from certain of its
bank loans denominated in US$, HK$ and EUR. The fair value
changes of the foreign currency forward contracts and the
foreign currency option contracts were recognised in other

gains and losses.

The valuation techniques used in determination of fair values of iii.

the interest rate swaps, foreign currency forwards and foreign

currency options are disclosed in Note 42.

* ZEREBRBRAEHEAS -

AEEREFRITTIEFHERRE G
BONESRAL - LEREFUET - B
TR BT A (8 0 4B 1T B R A 0 B
R - SNERMA D RINEBRAONAT
TR R 28 2 B HED AR o

ERERxEE - SMNEE B RIMNERELT
EMERMGBERINSRERIE42 o
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23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

A — Nature of activities
The biological assets of the Group are dairy cows held to
produce raw milk.

The quantity of dairy cows owned by the Group at end of the
reporting period is shown below. The Group’s milkable cows
are dairy cows held for milk production. Heifers and calves
are those dairy cows that have not reached the age that can
produce milk.

23. EYEE

A-RBEME
AEENEMEERTBAIFEERMPHT
BE o

UTRAEENREMREFOIATHE -
AEBENDFREREDNIG - NFFR
INEEEARRE P FEROFLA o

2019 2018

—E-NF —EF-N\F

heads heads

| 58

Milkable cows e 135,185 134,315
Heifers and calves IR RN 98,433 97,215
Total dairy cows FLAME 233,618 231,530

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes
in price of raw milk. The Group does not anticipate that
the price of the raw milk will decline significantly in the
foreseeable future and the Directors are of the view that there
is no available derivative or other contracts which the Group
can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in the price of
the raw milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After an
approximately nine months’ pregnancy term, a calf is born
and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and the
lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically milked
for approximately 340 days before approximately 60 days dry
period.

When a heifer begins to produce raw milk, it is transferred
to the category of milkable cows based on the estimated fair
value on the date of transfer.

AEBZAZRHHEREBHERNAFE
R - BAKEEG - £ R A R R A
PERTERE K - EFRR AREY
EAIHAOOTE TAKEMAIART M E 4
REEFRMPHER THRORER -

—RIEAT - NEFEREENTOEA KK
ETRE - WNEANZHRB®E - N
B AR E R R ELEIRA A o 4
FBEGEDNAZM0K - 2 1BEAKIOKRE
I -

INEEERRRE REHNE - ThiREE R R e
FAREELE S ES YRS Ch
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23. B|OLOG|CAL ASSETS (continued)
A — Nature of activities (continued)
The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its

biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following

operating risks:

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates plantation and breeding.
The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local
environmental and other laws. Management performs
regular reviews to identify environmental risks and
to ensure that the systems in place are adequate to
manage these risks.

Climate, disease and other natural risks

The Group's biological assets are exposed to the risk
of damage from climatic changes, diseases and other
natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in
place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular inspections and disease controls and
surveys and insurance.

B — Quantity of the agricultural produce of the
Group's biological assets

A M BRRNE

—hE+ZA=+t—RLFE

23. £EYEBEwW
A-EBHE@®
AEEABHEEMEESBENZERR -
AREBEmBATESZRE

ERRRERR
AEEAETHERRESRERER
BB EERMER - ARER

HIEEEETEHRRREMERD
iﬁf‘*‘lﬁlw&%%ff’%ﬁﬁﬁﬁiiﬁﬁ
BUHBIERIRE R M EREA RGR
NEEZFER -

RAR - KRR EM B R
AEBENENEERNREZRIXE
£t AREkEMEARREBETNE
o AKREEERERLBREZER
SRR - BREESRE MKEES
BRE KRR o

B-AREAENEENRELENHE

2019 2018

—E-NF —ET-N\F

kg kg

Fr T

Volume of milk sold s E 1,365,739,000 1,251,332,000
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23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 23. M EEmw
C - Value of dairy cows C-I4MEE
The fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows at end of the o E B Y FL A N B R E S B AN 51 a0
reporting period is set out below: ™
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Milkable cows e 5,543,159 5,636,013

Heifers and calves IR RN 1,916,200 2,081,100

Total dairy cows FLA4aET 7,459,359 7,717,113
Heifers and Milkable

calves cows Total

NEERNF 4 et

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBET T AR®T T ARBETT

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\F—HA—HBHH
R 2,414,500 5,336,570 7,751,070

Feeding cost and other related &% A 728 J2 H 46 B8 A 4<
costs 1,400,557 - 1,400,557
Transfer B (2,024,581) 2,024,581 -
Decrease due to disposal & EHUR (90,739) (473,676) (564,415)

Gain (loss) arising from changes FLAAFEZ BRFLEF
in fair value less costs to sell HE AN E £
of dairy cows (E18) 381,363 (1,251,462) (870,099)

Balance at 31 December 2018 R-ZT—N\F+_-A8

=t+—HrEH 2,081,100 5,636,013 7,717,113

Feeding cost and other related  &&% A 78 & H A AR
costs AR 1,388,057 = 1,388,057
Transfer R (1,665,379) 1,665,379 -
Decrease due to disposal HE B (93,387) (513,203) (606,590)

Gain (loss) arising from changes FLAAFEZ BRI
in fair value less costs to sell SHERNKAE £
of dairy cows (E518) 205,809 (1,245,030) (1,039,221)

Balance at 31 December 2019 RZ-ZZ—NF

TZA=T—H&&ER 1,916,200 5,543,159 7,459,359
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23. B|OLOG|CAL ASSETS (continued)

C — Value of dairy cows (continued)

The Group has engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal And Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuer, to assist it in assessing the fair values
of the Group’s dairy cows. The independent valuer and
the management of the Group held meetings periodically
to discuss the valuation techniques and changes in market
information to ensure the valuations have been performed
properly. The valuation techniques used in the determination
of fair values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation
models are disclosed in Note 42.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s dairy cows in the
amount of RMB838,666,000 (2018: RMB875,471,000) have
been pledged to banks to secure certain bank borrowings
granted to the Group (Note 29).

The aggregate gain or loss arising on initial recognition of
raw milk and from the changes in fair value less costs to sell of
dairy cows is analysed as follows:

A M BRRNE

—hE+ZA=+t—RLFE

23. £EYEBEwW

C-IAFMEE®™

$’EIE§%1¢§H TEEFHRZRABR
DR BN EEGEAR) BB HAEAERN

ENRAFE - BUEMENEREIEE

FHIRITEE - FwmbERITHiEE R

) URREEZEET BT AVEMA

EERM R EEER T E 2 A SRR

RHI5E42 -

R-ZZE—NAFE+-_A=+—8 KEBA
R #838,666,000it(ZF—/\F | AR
875,471,00070) M4 B M T IR1T « 1E
BEFAEENE TRITETOER(HE

29) °
AT 20 R REHN I A FEEE)
WIHE K AEERN G TR EE

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw R Ry 12 A (B R 8 & AR
milk at fair value less costs to sell at the TEER RN EE NS
point of harvest 1,938,360 1,371,468
Loss arising from changes in fair value less A EZENFHILFHEXNNEE
costs to sell of dairy cows A5 18 (1,039,221) (870,099)
899,139 501,369
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24. INVENTORIES 24. FE
2019 2018
—E-NE —ZET-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Feeds ks 1,032,634 929,260
Others Efb 45,857 49,248
1,078,491 978,508

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

25. B E 5 MR H fl F8 W R IE B

ADVANCE PAYMENTS RENRE

2019 2018
—EB-NF —ZE-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
Trade receivables (Note i) LT AC D) 550,205 1,555,495
Less: allowance for credit losses (Note i)  J& © {5 B B8R (M 5ED) (8,635) (857,739)
Bills receivable (Note ii) FEAS 2245 (BT 5T - -
541,570 697,756
Advance payments for feeds and materials £7#+ K& MR 64,819 74,876
Input value added tax recoverable AU B A TE R (A A 2,591 2,032

Receivables from disposal of property, HEMZE - BRE RERERER
plant and equipment FIE 4,015 1,681
Advance lease payments MENFRERK - 193
Others Hit 5,293 4,635
618,288 781,173
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 25. EWE SRR H b fE W zRE L

ADVANCE PAYMENTS (continued) &fﬁﬁ'%ﬁlﬁ(ﬁ)
Notes: MIaE -

In June 2017, the Group entered into a framework supply and
processing agreement with Mengniu Group, pursuant to which
the Group agreed to sell its liquid milk products to Mengniu
Group in order to enlarge its market share by leveraging the
established distribution channel of Mengniu Group. In the
meantime, the Group discontinued its direct cooperation with
other major distributors (the “Distributors”). Following the
above changes in distribution channel, the Distributors were
engaged by Mengniu Group as its secondary distributors
for distribution of the liquid milk products of the Group.
In view of the termination of the direct distributorship with
these Distributors and the delay of repayments, the Group
anticipated the trade receivables due from the Distributors
may not be fully recovered. After taking into account the
present value of expected future collection and the security of
318,697,354 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Collaterals”)
provided by five third-party companies incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “"Pledgers”) who used to be non-
controlling equity holders of Modern Farming (Anhui) Dairy
Product Sales Co., Ltd. ("Modern Farming Anhui”) and
were responsible for selecting distributors, an accumulated
impairment loss of RMB847,069,000 had been recognised
in respect of the Group's trade receivables due from the
Distributors as at 31 December 2018.

On 18 July 2019, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the "Subscription Agreement”) with New
Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. (“New Hope"), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and New
Hope or its designated subsidiary has conditionally agreed
to subscribe, for 276,228,409 shares of the Company (the
"Subscription Shares”) at a price of RMB1.1920 per share (total
consideration of RMB329,264,000). Included in the Subscription
Agreement, one of the condition precedent was to sign a
tripartite agreement between New Hope, the Company and
the Pledgers (the "Tripartite Agreement”), pursuant to
which New Hope or its designated subsidiary would agree to
purchase the Collaterals at a price of RMB1.1920 per share
(total consideration of RMB379,887,000). On 6 August 2019,
the Tripartite Agreement has been entered into among New
Hope, the Company and the Pledgers.

RZZE—tFRA AEEEIFEEG]
VIEREERINTHE B AEER
EONRFEEHEHLRENER  BBE
NEFEBEEANDIHEE  BRAEWS
HEE - BRI AEFERIFEHEME
ZHoHEP(28#EEDNEEAE RO H
REHB Lg% ZEHHEBEHER
GFEBREEAENBOERE  UHEAE
EENREBNER ZEREZEDHEEN
HELCHEEDRIENREER  NEEBEH
ZEDHBBERNERE BERKTRES
HUE o L5t RIBEAR R B R IBHIRE
EETEABERBMEZRIAREERR
AR ((BREE (B DR EERERREE
A B B % 5 8 P A TR K B A B
EEMATME=ZF AR TERADES
318,697,354 /% AN A 7 & 38 Ik O HE 4 ([4E 17
@) BRRESHENR =T —N\F+=
A=t+—B&#XAEEMERE S KRRHE
REFTREEE AR 847,069,0007T °

RZZE—AFLtA+N\B  AREEFH
BAEBRGERAR(HFHFEDILRE
B ((RBHE]) - Bt - AQFEGKH
EERERET MTHEEREETHE
REVE G R B REE276,228, 4008 AR 7
B ((REBRA]) - ERARE1.19207T
(AR EA AREE329,264,0007T) © % RHE
BEP o ER—HLREHARIAE - K
AREIRERARIE = (E=H1%
B Bl FAZEZREECHBARG
EEEATRARE 1920 E KRR
(AR EA ARHE379,887,0007T) - R -
—NENARB FHFL ARRREH
ANFIME=F1E -
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 25. EWE ZRA KR HE b EWRFRIE L
ADVANCE PAYMENTS (continued) &%E‘H;‘-fklﬁ(ﬁ)

Notes: (continued) Mozt : ()

(continued)

The total cash consideration of RMB329,264,000 for
the Subscription Shares and total cash consideration of
RMB379,887,000 for the Collaterals were settled on 17
September 2019. Impairment allowance for the Distributors in
the amount of RMB160,451,000 was reversed in 2019, being
the excess of the above cash consideration of RMB378,261,000,
net of costs of selling Collaterals of RMB1,626,000, over the
carrying amount of trade receivables from the Distributors of
RMB217,810,000 as at 31 December 2018 as disclosed below.

On 20 September 2019, all the conditions precedent for the
Subscription Agreement had been fulfilled or waived and
the issue of the Subscription Shares to the subsidiary of New
Hope has been completed. The total cash consideration of
RMB329,264,000 for the Subscription Shares was recorded in
share capital and share premium as disclosed in Note 36.

Due to the above transactions, New Hope and its subsidiary
together acquired a total of 9.28% equity interests in the
Company.

The movements of the gross amount of trade receivables from
the Distributors and relevant impairment allowance are set out
below.

(&)

I EREBARY329,264,0007T & 1K
HRAREARK379,887,000ER-F
—NWEANATEREE - DHEERERE
AR#160,451,00070A =T — LE#MD -
=R b3 & R E AR378,261,0007T (31
R S KA AR AN A R #51,626,0007T) +
HR-_ZE-NE+-_A=+—BHHHH
FEU R 5 ER R BREE A R #6217,810,0007¢
(FEER T -

RZZB-AFAA=-TH  REHROHM
BRRGHCEERRER L MBETR
BRRG THAHLMBAR D TK - RIB
i fn 4R IR & R B A R ¥ 329,264,00007T 2
FLERPA B AR e i) 8 1B (R BR BABI R 36)

HRERRS  FHREREMBEAR R
W B AN R ££9.28 % p% 42 -

5 54720 U 55 55 4400 9 AR AL £ 1
SHUTIT -
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
ADVANCE PAYMENTS (continued)

25. EWE S RM K
EEMRE®

L it & UL R I8 BA

Notes: (continued)

Mg ()

(continued) i (B
Gross Impairment Carrying
amount allowance amount
L% BERE BREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT AR®BTT
At 1 January 2018 RZZT—N\F—A—H 1,069,543 (488,489) 581,054
Settlement during FNHEH
the current year (4,353) = (4,353)
Amounts written off as s A E LR BN S8
uncollectible (311) 311 =
Impairment losses recognised BRERRERSE - (358,891) (358,891)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F
+=—A=+—8H 1,064,879 (847,069) 217,810
Impairment losses reversed B BRI EEE - 160,451 160,451
Amounts received B U E IR (378,261) = (378,261)
Amounts written off as W B EEKR M S5
uncollectible (686,618) 686,618 =
At 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—NF
+-A=+— - - -
ii In October 2018, Inner Mongolia Mengniu issued an one i R-ZT—NE+A RAEFSHRAADT

year commercial bill of RMB150,000,000 (the “Mengniu
Bill”) to Modern Farming, a subsidiary of the Company. The
Mengniu Bill was classified as financial asset at FVTPL because
the Mengniu Bill was considered as neither held to collect
contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual
cash flows and to sell business model. Modern Farming
subsequently endorsed RMB64,452,000 of the Mengniu
Bill to its suppliers to settle trade payables and discounted
the remaining RMB85,548,000 of the Mengniu Bill. As the
endorsements and the discount were without recourse,
Modern Farming derecognised the Mengniu Bill and has
recognised a fair value gain of RMB1,427,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Advance lease payment were adjusted upon the initial
application of IFRS 16. Details of the adjustments are set out
in Note 3.

As at 1 January 2018, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB897,880,000.

Trade receivables at the end of the reporting period

principally represent receivables from sales of raw milk. The
Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its customers.

.

M AR (RE) BT —FHm
;‘Tﬁ%}%/\ﬁﬁé}wopooooo%((g*mﬁj)

SEZEBESEARAFESABENER
BE S DPHRSFZEWE B IEFHIER
BEHNBRESRERBERDENESRE
MEEmEEX - BRAEGEE)EER
HEEEmEF 2B ARK64,452,000%
E2 UAEERKESRD  BBERFZER
ﬁ%TAEMssszlsoooE RN ENELE
WHEBRE  BABEEEREE=F
—NFE+-A=+—BHLEERIBRAR
FEEIWERA FEKE ARE,427,000

b
MER BN BRE R BT HRE 2R
165018 T AR - FEFIBRNMEES

RZE-—NF—HA—H RERFAHNNE
M&%%EEEA%AEMW,SSQOOOE °

HERRNEWE SRREBRHE R

MY IR - AEBETHEEPIORNEE
Hj o
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25.

26.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 25. BN E 5 R R H fth FE U R IE L
ADVANCE PAYMENTS (continued) &fﬁﬁ';‘;ﬁlﬁ(ﬁ)

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables, net of RBEARZERR (EREHARE B
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the invoice HREHEE) 2HNEKRE SR GORE
dates at the end of the reporting period, which approximated EEERE NERRONOT

the respective revenue recognition dates at the end of the
reporting period:

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

Trade receivables FEWE F R
— within 30 days - 30KAN 541,570 473,449
- beyond 30 days but within 60 days - 30RIA_E1E6OKR AR - 5,996
—beyond 1 year but within 2 years - 1F A HB2F AR - 75,132
—beyond 2 years but within 3 years - 2% LA E1E3FAA = 143,179
541,570 697,756
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other JE U E 5 BRI B At R UK IEORUE RHA = 15
receivables are set out in Note 40. IR FE40 ©
PLEDGED BANK BALANCES AND NON- 26. CEARTHER - REHRITHE
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK MURBRITESRRRS
BALANCES AND CASH
Pledged bank balances and non-pledged bank EERRITERRARERRITER
deposits
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT
Pledged bank balances BEHIR T4 80,122 61,355
Non-pledged bank deposits with original R EI 8 H i35 = [ A 89 K E #
maturity over three months RITIF X 67,653 -

147,775 61,355
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26. PLEDGED BANK BALANCES AND NON-

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK

BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

Pledged bank balances and non-pledged bank
deposits (continued)

The pledged bank balances represent deposits pledged for
letter of credit and bills payable. The pledged bank balances
carry interest at prevailing market rates ranging from 0.30%
to 1.95% (2018: 0.35% to 1.30%) per annum at 31 December
2019.

Non-pledged bank deposits with original maturity over three
months were held with banks and carry interest at prevailing
market rate of 1.7% to 1.79% per annum at 31 December
2019.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less
which are held with banks and carry interest at prevailing
market rate of 0.30% to 2.64% (2018: 0.30% to 1.61%) per
annum at 31 December 2019.

Pledged bank balances, non-pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash at 31 December 2018 and 2019 are
denominated in US$, EUR, HK$ and RMB. RMB is not freely
convertible in the international market. The exchange rate
of RMB is determined by the government of the PRC and
the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the government of the
PRC.

6. CEMRITHER - RERBTHE

BURBITEBRES®

EERRTERERERRITER@

EERRITEREAUERERERENRE
BOER -R-_E-hF+-_A=+—8"
EEMBITHERIREFN F0.30%£1.95%
(ZZ—)\F : 0.35%%1.30%) BT 55
TR -

RZZB-NF+ZA=+—H8  FARITH
REHABE=EANKRERRTERRE
F1TBENVTO%NIRITHIZ ARG R o

RITEREES
RZB-NE+-A=+—08 RITEHL
RePERE MFARTIZBITH S X
HFE030%E2.64%(ZF—N\F : 0.30% %=
1.61%) 5 BREZIH A A =18 A AR E
HATF 3K -

RZE—NFR_FE-—NF+-_A=+—H
WEERBITES - REIFRITEZAKE
THRBRIBETIAET BT » BThAR
MAE  A\REEBEBEMS ETREERAE
o AREHERTIHFABRBTEE @ i
ZEEeRPEERERAZFRBAE RNE
HE TR
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26. PLEDGED BANK BALANCES AND NON-

27.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

Bank balances and cash (continued)

Certain pledged bank balances, non-pledged bank deposits
and bank balances that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant entities are set

26. CEHRITEE  REWRTHE
BURBITESRER €@
RITESREREw
RITERERE®W
NEBEEMNNEEB I EETENS
FEERIRITES  RERBIIERTALIRE
ITRESBES T

out below:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ET-)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
US$ - bank balances FET - IRITHEER 13,451 99,466
EUR - bank balances BATT — SRITAEER 909 458
HK$ — bank balances FBTT — IRITAEER 16,221 2,912
US$ — non-pledged bank deposits Er-REAEB=MEAK
with original maturity over three months ~ RE #IRIT1F 4 45,442 -
HK$ — non-pledged bank deposits BT - RIHBEA=EA®
with original maturity over three months K& IRITFH 22,211 =

A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE

On 23 August 2019, Modern Farming and Jiangsu Agriculture
Environment Energy Technology Co., Ltd., an entity
designated by CITIC Environment Investment Group Co.,
Ltd., entered into an agreement in relation to the formation
of Jiangyin Dairy Energy Environment Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Jiangyin Dairy Energy”), pursuant to which Modern
Farming holds 30% equity interest of Jiangyin Dairy Energy.

27. 7 RA/FFELEENLEAR

RIZE-NAENA+T=R BRBEE
B)EPERERESEERABEENE
BIIHEZRERREZBRABGAILITE
HERFER AR QA (DIRMEED R
& B BREE(RE)BAIIRKE
30%H%HE -
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27. A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FO R SALE (continued)

On 31 December 2019, Modern Farming entered into two
share transfer agreements with Jiangyin Dairy Energy,
pursuant to which Modern Farming agrees to sell, and
the Jiangyin Dairy Energy conditionally agrees to acquire,
the entire equity interests in Modern Energy (Wuhe) Co.,
Ltd. (“Wuhe Energy”) and Modern Energy (Hefei) Co.,
Ltd. (“Hefei Energy”), the then wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Modern Farming, which were spun off in July 2019 as
disclosed in Note 47 (iii). The assets and liabilities attributable
to Wuhe Energy and Hefei Energy, which are expected to
be sold within twelve months, have been classified as a
disposal group held for sale and are presented separately
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The net
proceeds from disposal are expected to exceed the net
carrying amount of the relevant assets and liabilities and,
accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised. The
transactions (the “Disposal Transactions”) were completed
in February 2020.

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for
sale are as follows:

27. 7 EAFFEHENHEAR @

R-Z-—NE+-_A=+—H8 HREKXE
(SR 18) BT R 4R RE AT 2 M9 1 AR I S SR 10 o
Fit - AAKRE(EBRBHE @ IRK

fRFREWBERABE (BRI
BB RRHE(FA)BR AR (T EAHER])
LIRREER(GIR)BERAR (&R H
2R (G RIRARKE (R E) E RO B
NE ER-ZZE-NAFLADHFERERH
iE47(ii) - AR R A ERERELEER
BEGEHNT = 1.5??'%5)5%’\*57%?%{?
HEMHEERE RS T BEARRRADF
25 - HEMBRFRFEANBIBHEREE
LB ENREFE - Bt &g EE
B-ZXH(HERXRBNER-_T_TF—
AR °

NEABIELRENEERAGBEEEFN
T

Wuhe Energy  Hefei Energy Total
HIAREIR EIERER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment 1% - = K& & 49,723 20,477 70,200
Inventories FE 21 74 95
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 BRI
HoAth & W FRIR 324 68 392
Bank balances and cash RITHBR RS 365 398 763
50,433 21,017 71,450
Trade and other payables JENTE SRR KR
HoAth F& - 500R (1,007) (1,189) (2,196)

.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. ENEZRAREMENRE
The credit period granted by suppliers for trade purchases is HEARTRBERERNEESHR -—MKAR120
generally 120 days. The following is an aged analysis of trade Ko U T ARMERAENE Z RN IE
and bills payable at the end of the reporting period: RNEERNRE DT -

2019 2018
—E-NF —F-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade payables FERTE SRR
— within 60 days - 60K AN 905,457 1,177,301
— beyond 60 days but within 120 days — HBBO0RIER 120K AR 213,925 230,043
—beyond 120 days but within 360 days — HB 8120 KB P 360K LA 18,536 27,912
—beyond 360 days but within 720 days ~ HBiB360K B 720K AR 16,747 19,117
Bills payable (Note) AT =5 (M) 2,841 550
1,157,506 1,454,923
Payable for acquisition of property, BEWE  WFEMREERMKIE
plant and equipment 140,350 224,437
Accrued staff costs J&FT B TR 113,503 84,582
Advance payments from disposal of SIS R EAM A TR RIE
dairy cows and others 27,067 56,869
Amounts due to Mengniu (Note 46) JES AR FRE (BT 5E46) = 143,048
Other payable to Mengniu (Note 46) Hoh e~ SR A 30A (i 7E46) - 18,000
Others HAb 83,262 90,504
1,521,688 2,072,363
Note: Bills payable are mature within twelve months from the MEE . ENERBEXNZSEBTRESE+TZEA
respective issuance dates. NEIE -
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29. BANK BORROWINGS 29. BITHEX
2019 2018
—B-nE —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Bank borrowings: RITHBK !
Unsecured Eag il 5,320,114 3,972,022
Secured (Note) B HEH (M) 218,360 465,480
5,538,474 4,437,502
Carrying amount repayable: FEEIZBRME(E
Within one year —FR 3,822,643 1,691,109
Between one to two years —FERFNRN 1,525,831 2,316,393
Between two to five years MEEZRFNRN 190,000 430,000
5,538,474 4,437,502
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : RiREIBEIE TNIIR—F KA
under current liabilities B AF0R 3,822,643 1,691,109
1,715,831 2,746,393
Note: Certain bank borrowings as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 izt RZB-AFR-Z-N\F+ZA=+
were secured by biological assets owned by the Group as set —HWETRITERAEAREEENE
out in Note 23. Y& EE (BT E23) (IR ©
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29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

29. IRITER®w

The bank borrowings comprise: RITIERELE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFTT
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMBN 1,449,411 1,218,401
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 4,089,063 3,219,101
5,538,474 4,437,502

In September 2017, the Company entered into a bank loan
arrangement with several banks, and under such arrangement
the Group was allowed to borrow US$300,000,000 loan from
the banks at floating interest rate determined as LIBOR + 1.9%
per annum and the upfront fee amounted to US$5,400,000
(equivalent to RMB35,839,000). The Group withdrew
US$170,000,000 (equivalent to RMB1,127,603,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2017 and withdrew US$130,000,000
(equivalent to RMB824,668,000) during the year ended 31
December 2018, and the effective interest rate was 4.18% per

annum.

In September 2018, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with several banks, and under such arrangement
the Group was allowed to borrow HK$1,500,000,000 loan
from the banks at floating interest rate determined as
HIBOR + 1.7% per annum and the upfront fee amounted to
HK$27,000,000 (equivalent to RMB24,187,000). The Group
withdrew HK$1,500,000,000 (equivalent to RMB1,284,780,000)
and partially repaid HK$270,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB243,000,000) in 2019, and the effective interest rate is
5.17% per annum.

RZZF—tFNA » RARIEEFIRITEIL
IRITERLH  REBELH  ~NEBEHK
B R 17E A B 3300,000,000% 7T © FEEK
WBURITRIEIR B +1 9% F BRI K Kk A
5,400,000% T (#8E 7 A R #35,839,0007T)
RRTE G E - REBEREBEE=-FT—+t
F+ZA=+—HEFEHRE170,000,000
ETHEERAR1,127,603,0007T) » WH
BE_Z—N\F+-_A=+—HILFEIRE
130,000,000% 7t (48 & 1A A R #824,668,000
7L  BERFEFIEE4.18% °

RZETE—NFNA ARAIHEFTIRTA
VRtEWE  REBHETH  AKEEE
B R1TE A B 1,500,000,000 ¢ © &4
BREBRITREREH1.IBZIHHR LA
227,000,000/ 7T (A8 & A A R # 24,187,000
TR BB RETE - ZREBRZZ—N
42 H1,500,000,000/8 T (HHE R ARE
1,284,780,0007T) & &B 5 €3 270,000,0007%
T(HEE R ARE243,000,0007T) @ BEFF)
RB517% °



29.

30.

Annual Report 2019 Z=Z—AFFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & %

BAN K BORROW' NGS (continued)

Save as set out above, the effective interest rates of the

29.

Group's bank borrowings equal to contracted interest rates.
The effective interest rates per annum are as follows:

A M BRRNE

—hE+ZA=+t—RLFE

BITER@®
B EatEoh - REBSRITERNERA XS
BREHFIE - L NABERERX

2019
—E-AF

2018
NEF

==

Fixed-rate borrowings EBER
Variable-rate borrowings FRER

Interest rate of variable-rate borrowings are determined
based on the borrowing rates announced by the People’s
Bank of China, the LIBOR and the HIBOR.

As at 31 December 2019, bank borrowings denominated
in RMB, US$, HK$ and EUR amounted to approximately
RMB2,359,507,000 (2018: RMB2,161,137,000),
RMB2,083,136,000 (2018: RMB2,118,837,000),
RMB1,095,831,000 (2018: nil) and nil (2018: RMB157,528,000),
respectively.

3.20%-5.00%
4.28%-5.17%

0.45%-5.00%
2.65%4.80%

FREFNAETREFBEARRITAME
EFRAE - RBRITREFEREERITRH
EREETE -

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H ' UAR¥E .

E5T - AL ERBUTAHEMRITERD BN A
AR #2,359,507,0000 (=T —)\F : AR
#2,161,137,0007T) + AR #2,083,136,000
T(ZZE—N\%F : AR#2,118,837,0007T)
AR®1,095,831,000t (ZE—N\F : )&
T(ZZ—N\F : AR®157,528,0007T) °

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES 30. FHIEE

2019 2018

—E-hF — N\

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETT

Medium-term notes FhEREE - 621,880
On 23 March 2016, Modern Farming issued medium-term RZE—REF=ZA=-+=H BRKZE
notes with an aggregate principal amount of RMB400,000,000 (EENETHHRE A2 RBER/ARYK

which would mature in three years. The medium-term notes
bear a fixed interest rate of 4.75% per annum. Related
transaction costs amounted to RMB1,800,000. The effective
interest rate is 4.86% per annum. The medium-term notes
were repaid on 23 March 2019.

.

600,000,0007C * BN =F&EIH - RHFE
BOEENERTF475% - HARHK
A ARK1,800,0007T © B

PR AETF
4.86% - FEAZEBER _ZE—AhE=A=-+
=HXfo
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31. CORPORATE BONDS

1. AEEH

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E—)\F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T R AREFTT

Corporate bonds NSIIEESS = 1,087,568

In June 2016, Modern Farming obtained approval from
China Securities Regulatory Commission to issue corporate
bonds in the PRC of an aggregate principal amount up to
RMB2,000,000,000 within 24 months from the approval. On
12 August 2016, Modern Farming issued the first tranche
of the corporate bonds of an aggregate principal amount
of RMB250,000,000 which would mature in three years (the
“2016 Corporate Bond"). The corporate bonds bear a fixed
interest rate of 5.30% per annum. Related transaction costs
amounted to RMB1,125,000. The effective interest rate is
5.47% per annum.

On 28 March 2017, Modern Farming issued the second
tranche of corporate bonds of an aggregate principal amount
of RMBB800,000,000 which would mature in three years (the
"2017 Corporate Bond"). The corporate bonds bear a fixed
interest rate of 5.49% per annum. Related transaction costs
amounted to RMB3,600,000. The effective interest rate is
5.66% per annum.

The 2016 Corporate Bond and 2017 Corporate Bond were
early repaid on 25 March 2019.

RZE—RNERA BRBEGEE)KH
BEsFEEERZEeENLEZ B
AR NEFEBETASBERLARE
2,000,000,0007TCHY A AEIES - RZE—RF
NATZH  BRBEGEE) BITEHR AR
&% - A& 4% 5 AR 250,000,0007T °
BR=FRINPIZB—REAREH)) -
REfEFETFEAETF530% - AER
SRR B ANRE1,1250007T - EREFR AT
F547% °

RZZE—tF=A=+NH BRBEEE
B)ETEMRRES  F2RBHEAR
#£800,000,0007C * R =FEFNH(=F—
tEQRESR]) - AREFNETCHEAES
F5.49% ° AR S KA B AR 3,600,000
T ° BRFE BT F5.66% °

TE-RFRAEFE T EFRRESF
ERZZE-NF=ZA-THRIRAEE -
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32. OTHER BORROWINGS 32. HMfER
2019 2018
—E-NF —EF-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTFR ARBET T

Carrying amounts payable: JEERm S
Within one year —FA
- Mengniu Entrusted Loan (Note 46(d)) - R4ZFEER(ME46(d) 1,001,330 1,001,111
— Borrowing from a financial institution - TR EE R (D)
(Note) 50,083 -
1,051,413 1,001,111
Less: Amounts due within one year Vo EP\]@JHﬁ*
shown under current liabilities NVTEUR=N IET?'J 1,051,413 1,001,111
Amounts due after one year — 1B HAFRIE - -
Note: On 26 February 2019, the Group entered into a loan e : RZZE—NAFE-_A=-+"B A&£EHRE
agreement with a financial institution, pursuant to which the —EERMEBIT—DERDZE &
Group borrowed RMB50,000,000 from the financial institution I AEBRAZESAHEBEEAARE
which will mature on 28 February 2020. The loan is unsecured 50,000,00077: H%E/‘_ T_TF_F=
and bears a fixed interest rate of 5.00% per annum. The +/\BEIH - ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂlilm
borrowing was repaid upon expiry subsequent to the balance gl \357,%5.00% fﬁﬁﬁ:;ﬁﬁ_ﬁ &7 B &
sheet date. & E| B (I8 -
33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HE&E
2019
—g-n%
RMB’000
ARBTT
Lease liabilities payable: ERNHEAE
Within one year —FR 23,238
Within a period of more than one year but not —FLA FBTBERFEBA
more than two years 9,676
Within a period of more than two years but not ~ LA _ LB TR A FHER R
more than five years 31,458
Within a period of more than five years epRaRe e Sl 164,975
229,347
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RRBBEE TR 2ME A NS
12 months shown under current liabilities FIE (23,238)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months JJ'A?F/ALQJET I8 NHIRI2E R B EE
shown under non-current liabilities A 206,109

m\ -



China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. FEIRRHMEZRER D

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 B2 - — NG+ -A=+—HILFE

34. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

34. ENERE

2019 2018

—ZE-NF —E-N\F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Sales of raw milk HERB D 189 232

As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to

RMB348,000.

35. DEFERRED INCOME

R-Z-N\F—A—H aHAEEAARK
348,0007T °

35. EEWA

Arising from

government

grants

EBBFHE

RMB'000

AREFIT

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE—-N\F—-A—Hr&EH 184,487
Addition = 11,899
Decrease due to disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) & K& A &) BUR 4 (B 5£38) (24,630)
Released to income BEIA (19,067)
Balance at 31 December 2018 R-ZE—NF+-A=+—BW&E&H% 152,689
Addition NE 24,019
Released to income B A (19,030)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE-hE+-_A=+—B8&E% 157,678

Deferred income represents government grants obtained
in relation to the construction and acquisition of property,
plant and equipment. Government grants are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as deferred

ELEWAEEZRMBEYR - BE LR EE
BHBAMEEE - B ER S M BRAR
ATIERIERA - AR B BEEERAIERF
HIRRE SORRT AR ©

income and credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line

basis over the useful lives of the related assets.



Annual Report 2019 Z=Z—AFFRH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B 55 ¥R R B AT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

36. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 36. RAUR KRB =B HE
AND RESERVES

Share capital B2
Number of Share
shares capital
BHEE &S
‘000 HK$'000
T FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BROAETH B
Authorised ETER
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 R-_ZE—N\F—H—A8 -
and 2019 B NFRZE-NF
+=-—A=+—H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid EEITREE
At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 R=_E—N\F—H—HXK
—E-N\F+=ZA=+—H 6,131,407 613,141
Issue of ordinary shares (Note) BT E (R 276,228 27,623
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NAF+-A=+—H 6,407,635 640,764
2019 2018
—E-hF —ET-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Presented as =y 551,007 526,058
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36. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
AND RESERVES (continued)

36. BAUR KR RERGHE®

Share premium IR a8
Share
premium
R RE
RMB'000
AREFIT
Balance at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 RZ=ZZE—N\F—AF—BxXK
—E-NFt+-A=t+—HWER 4,641,066
Issue of ordinary shares (Note) BT E B (I aE) 304,315
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NhF+=—_A=+—H 4,945,381
Note: As disclosed in Note 25, on 20 September 2019, pursuant Wk © BOKE25FEE  RZE—NLFNA

to the Subscription Agreement, a subsidiary of New Hope
subscribed for the Subscription Shares of HK$0.1 each of
the Company at a price of RMB1.1920 per ordinary share.
An amount of RMB304,315,000, being the excess of the
cash consideration of RMB329,264,000 over the par value
of the ordinary shares of HK$27,623,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB24,949,000), was credited to share
premium. The proceeds were intended to be used for the
business operations and repayment of borrowings of the
Group. These new shares rank pari passu with other shares in
issue in all respects.

“+B RERBRE - HHENKHE
NEVAFIEBRARE1.1920TRE
ARRGRONBTITHRERA - BUWH
REREARE329,264,0007T#8 H % 8
& TE (B 27,623,000/ 7T (HERHARKE
24,949,0007T) H Z= 8 A R #304,315,000
ToAT ABUDE(E - FISFIRERARAS
EmEBLERBEEBR  ZFHKRN
RAAE T EEEMARDZERFHAL -
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36. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 36. BRARUR KRG wER#E®=
AND RESERVES (continued)

Other reserve Hih A
Other reserve
H it &
RMB’000
ARETTT
Balance at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 HRZ-ZE—N\F—AF—BK
—E-N\F+A=1+—HoER 979,953
Equity transactions related to interest free loans BEHAREERNERR S ()
(Note) (9,124)
At 31 December 2019 R-E-NF+-HA=+—H 970,829
Note: The movement in other reserve for this year represented Msr : ANEEEMEEHENEZSHIERAQARKR TR
the portion of the difference between nominal value and NAEREWB AR RRKEE(RE) W
amortised cost of interest-free loans granted by the Company CEERmMEEABEHEKXAZEEZEI
to Modern Farming, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the D EHRRER ANBRABCE(REH)
Company, which was recognised as owners’ contribution to BB - RIFERERRILEOIDHE
Modern Farming, and proportionally attributable to non-
controlling interests.
Shares held under the Share Award Scheme REROEBEEENRG
Shares held
under the
Share Award
Scheme
RER 5
2Rt 8
BENRSG
RMB’000
ARETTT
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—HA—Br&e 62,137
Purchase of ordinary shares for the share award T LB R 28 E X @ IR (B 3237 (b))
scheme (Note 37(b)) 23,583
Balance at 31 December 2018 KRB NF+-_A=+—HHEH 85,720
Purchase of ordinary shares for the share award TR B2 EDET 2188 B L B A (537 (b))
scheme (Note 37(b)) 31,127
Reversal due to vesting of award shares A 2B A% 15 57 8 T B [0 (B9 5E37 (b))
(Note 37(b)) (59,835)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZEBE-NFTZA=T—HBWHEH 57,012

. = e
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(@) Modern Farming Option Scheme
On 31 October 2010, the Company granted to two
directors and one senior management member of

Modern Farming a total of 87,412,507 share options
of the Company for nil consideration and with an
exercise price of HK$0.86 (RMBO0.74) per share (the
“Management Options”) which will expire on 29
October 2020. The following table discloses movements

(a)

37. MR X NHNNRRZ

WA (RE) B R ET S

R-_E—ZTFE+A=+—H0  KQF
NERERNRAKEEBRNEES
k—HmRERER N A 87,412,507
MAREEERE - 1TFEEAREIR0.86
BILTARE074L) (EEEBR

) BR=ZZT=FT

F+A=Z+NH

FE e TRIEEEEEBRENESF

of the Management Options during the current year. ErEE o
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised as at
1 January during during 31 December
Category 2019 the year the year 2019
R-B-1% RZB-N%
—-R—H +=A=t-H
<Yl I RATHE FRERH FRTHRE fef RATEE
Management Options EEERRE 50,930,832 = = 50,930,832
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised as at
1 January during during 31 December
Category 2018 the year the year 2018
RIZ-\% RZZ-N\¥
—A-A +ZA=+—-A
bl HAITHRE FREMH FRITE MATTEE
Management Options EREHRE 50,930,832 = = 50,930,832
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme

()

Share Award Scheme |

On 9 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date 1”),
the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme |”) to motivate
and award the contribution of certain members
of management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme | is valid and effective for a period of
5 years commencing from the Adoption Date
I. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme | will be acquired by the Company
through Dairy Fortune Limited (“Dairy Fortune”)
which is 100% owned by Dairy Fortune (PTC)
Limited (the “"Trustee”) from the open market
by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held in
trust for the relevant selected participants until
such shares are vested. The maximum number
of Shares which may be purchased by the Dairy
Fortune is 55,000,000 Shares. The total contributed
amount shall be not more than HK$70,000,000.
During the year ended 31 December 2016, based
on the Company’s instructions, Dairy Fortune
purchased a total of 35,519,000 ordinary shares
of the Company from open market at a total
consideration of approximately HK$68,966,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB61,424,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2017,
Dairy Fortune purchased another 450,000
ordinary shares from the open market at a total
consideration of approximately HK$803,000
(equivalent to RMB713,000) and the number
of ordinary shares purchased by Dairy Fortune
increased to 35,969,000 shares (the “Award
Shares |").

A M BRRNE
—NFE+ZAS+—RILFE

37. RO NHNRRS

(b) RERR#ESTE

()

% 17 5 Bh 5t 2l
RZZE—R"FALANB(HEHA
1)) - RAFRMA—IBR N 42
Bhar &) ([ B 10 28 B st 811)) LA B
LERAEEETEEENE R
GEREENER - RESEH
BEEE E IR BRI - IR
REGTEBERBRF - BEHEMN
BEAIR AR - BIER D B
S EERNDEBARRRIER
Dairy Fortune (PTC) Limited([ 3%
£ A1) 100%#% B H)Dairy Fortune
Limited([Dairy Fortune])#Zf&
AATHERUAAEEFEMNE
HAR™mS EUEE - WSS
FRABEEREL2EERE
BEERBEKRMDER ° Dairy
Fortune Tl ABIAR (D 8L B LR
#%55,000,0008% I fn - T EE
RN EB3E70,000,000/8 7T © # 2
—E-XRE+-_A=+—HI
FE - BBARFHER © Dairy
FortuneB It AR ™ME LIEES
5135,519,0000% & A 7] & @ AR -
AR AB %) 568,966,0007% 7T (48
ERHAR61,424,0007T) °
BHE_ZT—+tF+_HA=+—
HIESE - Dairy Fortuneft AR
m iatuﬁzﬁﬁjﬁ\wso OO00R% & &
 #8 R {B %) A803,0007 7T (17
%E@AE%N?},OOO%) * M Dairy
Fortunef® B &) i % £ B 12 41
Z£35,969,0000% ([ 52 B AR 431])




China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.

TEBRRBEZRAERDAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr e B A% R M AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & —F

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

()

Share Award Scheme | (continued)

Based on the trust arrangements among the
Company, the sole shareholder of the Trustee and
the Trustee, the Company is able to control the
Trustee and its subsidiary, Dairy Fortune, pursuant
to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Therefore, the Group accounts for the Trustee
and Dairy Fortune as consolidated structured
entities. The ordinary shares of the Company held
by Dairy Fortune are accounted for as a debit
to the Group's reserve and are presented under
the account of “Shares held under the Share
Award Schemes” in the consolidated financial
statements.

On 21 April 2017 (the “Grant Date 1"), a total
of 35,969,000 Award Shares were granted to the
selected participants. Out of the total shares
granted, 6,637,000 Award Shares were granted
to certain members of management (the “Award
Shares A"), which would vest in the third
anniversary of the Grant Date | (i.e. 21 April 2020)
provided that certain performance and service
conditions are met. The remaining 29,332,000
Award Shares were granted to certain members of
management and eligible employees (the “Award
Shares B"”), which would vest in the second
anniversary of the Grant Date | (i.e. 21 April 2019)
provided they are still employed by the Group.

—NFEFZA=+—RHILFE

37. UROXNHNNRRZ

(b) MBREE B @
) ROEREI@®

BEBEAREF] - XFEANE—KRR
MEFEAZEOETELEE - AR
AIREBEBEERMBEREENZE0
SRAR & BT 5 #R 2 e SR I X 5
AR E KB 2 F]Dairy Fortune °
Eit - REEE XA KDairy
Fortune)\ﬁﬁﬂﬁ@é?ﬁ%?
Bg © Dairy FortunePT# AR
HRART A leﬁlfﬁﬁfééa
WHIRRERE M BHRERNRIE
Bip BT EIRFAENRG 1B
To

R_ZT—+FMA=-+—A(F
H B H) - A ££35,969,0000% 82
BN ETETEREE - NE
RHERAD R+ 6,637,0000% 22 E) A%
HIEBEOAADETFTETER
B8  REHBHINE=E
BEM_ZT-_ZTFMA_+—
BRE  HAFEETRER
BRAS 1614 » #2 729,332,0000% 52
B ([ @R DB AR T&
FTEBERERGERER R
REBHINE —_@ARFEI-Z
fnimﬂ*+fa> wB K
HEBNZENAEE -
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

37. MR XA RREZ @

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued) (b) HEEREE @
() Share Award Scheme | (continued) () REEBEEIG@E
The following table discloses movements of the TR ER SRR AR 1 1 20 e B A
Award Shares | during the reporting period: ok
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Forfeited due as at
1January  to resignation Vested 31 December
Category 2019  during the year  during the year 2019
RZB-N% RZZB-N%
-A—-8 +ZA=+-H
o) HRITE  ERERERK EREE i RATE
Award Shares A #RBRHA 5,325,000 - - 5,325,000
Award Shares B REIRMB 22,423,000 (1,412,000) (21,011,000) -
27,748,000 (1,412,000) (21,011,000) 5,325,000
Outstanding QOutstanding
as at Forfeited due asat
1 January to resignation Vested 31 December
Category 2018 duringtheyear  during the year 2018
RIZ-N\%F RIZ-N\E
—A-H TZA=1+-H
Bl AT FREEHERK FREB HATTE
Award Shares A #BBRHA 5,687,000 (362,000) - 5,325,000
Award Shares B RER17B 25,601,000 (3,178,000 - 22,423,000
31,288,000 (3,540,000) - 27,748,000
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

0

Share Award Scheme | (continued)

The fair values of Award Shares A and Award
Shares B determined at the date of grant
using Black-Scholes Model were HK$7,731,000
(equivalent to RMB6,843,000) and HK$36,265,000
(equivalent to RMB32,102,000) respectively.

The Group recognised a share award expense of
RMB4,810,000 (2018: RMB8,646,000) accordingly
during the current year. A total number of
21,011,000 shares of Award Shares B was vested
to certain members of management and the
eligible employees during the current year, and
the difference of RMB13,234,000 between the
amounts of RMB23,063,000 and RMB36,297,000
reversed in Share Award reserve and Shares held
under the Share Award Scheme respectively, for
the shares vested was recognised in retained
earnings.

Share Award Scheme Il

On 26 March 2018 (the “"Adoption Date I1”),
the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme I1") to motivate
and award the contribution of certain members
of management and eligible employees of the
Group. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme Il is valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing from the Adoption Date
II. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme Il will be acquired by the Company
through Dairy Fortune from the open market
by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held in
trust for the relevant selected participants until
such shares are vested. The maximum number of
shares which may be purchased by the Trustee is
set at no more than 1% of the number of issued
ordinary shares of the Company at the preceding
annual general meeting. During the year ended
31 December 2018, based on the Company’s
instructions, Dairy Fortune purchased a total
of 20,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
from open market at a total consideration of
approximately HK$28,835,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB23,583,000).

Lo

37. UB B RRZ @
BT 8l

(b)

()

)

% 17 5 Bh =t 2l )

HENR DA EB IR G BRIT
BHFERAMHKR - eFTRRER
ETMAFEDRAT,731,000
BT (FHE R AR 6,843,0007T)
12.36,265,0007% 7T (FEE AR
32,102,0007T) °

RAFE - NEBERERERKRG
EENH S A ARY4,810,0005T
ZE—)\F . ARM8,646,000
7T) ° A $£21,011,0000% 22 E) I 1D
BRAFERBENETEEEK
BENAERES R REBFEE
B E A R #23,063,0007T 82 5t AT
SFBRMIBIER G REFERE
7 A R #36,297,0007CR% 19 2 [
HZE &8 AR 13,234,0007T
MRE BFITER o

PR 17 58 B &+ E
MN-ZE-NE=A-+~B&H
MBI ARQBRMA—IE
RBRp B2 ([RAEBE 8
) LUSB R EEAEEE T
EEENEBRAEREENE
Bi o REB G A B T MR
BARIESN - BR1D B AT E111 &K
B+ - GEMHEBIEE -
R IR % 15 BB 30115 528 /9 iR
71 AN A &)4E #Dairy Fortune
BRIBAR R RAREBTER
WM RFANS EUREE - WAL
ER AR ABEEEELEER
5 HEBBEERMDERE - X5
ARBANBRNDEE EREEA
TEBBARANR E—EREE
FRELEHTEAREEN
1% HE_ZT—NEFE+=ZA=
+—BIEFE  BRRBRARAE
I+ Dairy FortuneE #t A ™%
U BE A 5120,000,0000% & A &)
LB - BREXA28,835,000
BT (RE R AR 23,583,000
JT) °
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

37. RO NHNRRS

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued) (b) HEEREE @
(1) Share Award Scheme Il (continued) (I KEBEEEI@
During the year, Dairy Fortune purchased RAEE - Dairy Fortuneftt A
another 19,962,000 ordinary shares from the open ‘ﬁi%iuﬂzﬁ%%%?l\w 962,000%
market at a total consideration of approximately AR - BREXR22,924,000%
HK$22,924,000 (equivalent to approximately ﬁ(*ﬁ%éﬁ@ﬁ/\ﬁﬁgZOAOS,OOO
RMB20,405,000) and the number of ordinary 7T) » Dairy FortuneiR iK% 17 58
shares purchased by Dairy Fortune under Share et Sl E R EmAR B E 1
Award Scheme Il increased to 39,962,000 shares £39,962,0008% ([ =B AR 4211)) o
(the "Award Shares I1").
On 29 March 2019, a total of 19,962,000 Award RZZE—AF=A=+NAB &
Shares Il were granted to the selected participants. $£19,962,0000% BZENIR 17 114 T3
Out of the total shares granted, 9,981,000 Award ELHEE - RETARERG
Shares Il vested on 21 April 2019 unconditionally 9,981,000/% HEEN AR (7 11178 —
(the “Award Shares C"). The remaining Award NEOMA-_+—BEGHRB
Shares of 9,981,000 were vested on 21 April 2019 (@B MC)) - 8 TRER SN
with one year lock-up period beginning from the 9,981,000k = FE— N FMA =
vesting date (the “Award Shares D). +—H5E BFBEBHE—F
ZEH ([ RBRHBD)) -
The following table discloses movements of the T 2R 5R SRR |17 ¥ 5 HA T
Award Shares Il during the reporting period: & B
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted as at
1 January during  Vested during 31 December
Category 2019 the year the year 2019
RZB-N% RZB-N%
-A-H tZA=t+-H
5l tef R AT FREM ERGE e R AT
Award Shares C SBEIRR(AC = 9,981,000 (9,981,000) =
Award Shares D RERMHD = 9,981,000 (9,981,000) =
- 19962000 (19962000) -

The fair values of Award Shares C and Award
Shares D determined at the date of grant
using Asian Option Model were HK$12,484,000
(equivalent to RMB10,709,000) and HK$11,698,000
(equivalent to RMB10,034,000), respectively.

.

BRI D C R BRI (KD DR H
BHiFEATNABERENEE
HAFED B A12,484,0005 7T
(HHE R AR#10,709,0007T) &
11,698,000/8 7T (FHE K AR
10,034,0007T) °

A Y
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)

(I

Share Award Scheme Il (continued)
The following assumptions were used to calculate

—NFEFZA=+—RHILFE

the fair values of the Award Shares II:

37. UROXNHNNRRZ

(b) EEMREFTE @

() REEBEI@
TR RS

Tmﬂ%%‘l’fﬁi%&
NHE :

Award Award

Shares C Shares D

RERHGC RERMGD

Grant date share price KB AR E HK$1.30 HK$1.30
1.30/87T 1.30/7T

Strike Price 1188 HK$1.30 HK$1.30
1.30/%8 7T 1.30/%8 7T

Risk-free interest rate o B 1 = 1.38% 1.44%
Remaining restrict period I EABR HP 0.06 1.06
Expected volatility TEHERR 1R 65.87% 43.20%
Dividend yield % 8 Y 25 0.00% 0.00%
Option value BAEEE HK$0.05 HK$0.13
0.05%8 7T 01387t

Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price.

The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair values of the award shares are based on
the best estimates of the Directors. Changes in
variables and assumptions may result in changes
in the fair value of the Award Shares.

EHPR IR T AR BB/ E
SR IEESE °

RRHEERRHAFENEE
RBRREREFOREHT AL
£ 2ERARHEO (LS
HEMRA DT ERRE
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Share Award Scheme (continued)

()

Share Award Scheme Il (continued)

The Group recognised a share award expense
of RMB20,743,000 accordingly during the
current year (2018: Nil). All of the Award Shares
C and Award Shares D were vested to selected
participants during the current year, and the
difference of RMB2,795,000 between the amounts
of RMB20,743,000 and RMB23,538,000 reversed in
Share Award reserve and Shares held under the
Share Award Scheme respectively, for the shares
vested was recognised in retained earnings.

The Group retained a total number of 10,592,774
vesting shares as a consideration of approximately
HK$12,499,000 (equivalent to RMB10,722,000)
for paying the individual income tax on behalf of
those selected participants under Share Award
Scheme | and Il.

As described above, the ordinary shares of the
Company held by Dairy Fortune are accounted
for as a debit to the Group's reserve and
are presented under the account of “Shares
held under the Share Award Schemes” in the
consolidated financial statements.

37. MR XAHNNRRZ @

(b) HERREEFE @

(I

% 17 5 Bh 5T 211 ()

RAEE - NEBEERERRMN
HRER = & AR ¥ 20,743,0007T
ZE-NF I E) cRAFE -
Fra RN CREE R MDDER
B[l A R #20,743,0007T £2 3t B
SFBERMIBERRMD EREF IS
B A R #23,538,0007T %15 2 [
MZFE e ARE2,795,0007TH
REBFFER o

REBARBRR D BB R 2 IR
ZERTL2HEEIMEARSEH
B - REB A 10,592, 7740557 18
B 1 B R B #912,499,0007% 7T
(FEER AR 10,722,0005T) °

40 EXCAfat - Dairy Fortuneffi#%
RAREBRARYAZREE
HWfEae - WHIRRERE BBk
[MRIEA {7 B2 B At 8145 A B A A7
B
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

38. HEME AR

On 22 January 2018, Modern Farming and Inner Mongolia RZZE-NF-AZ+=H  BRERE
Mengniu entered into two share transfer agreements, B)EARGRFITLMO RO EEHS -
pursuant to which Modern Farming agreed to sell, and Inner Bl RAKEEERELERATLER
Mongolia Mengniu agreed to acquire 50% equity interest HRE D Bl AR R & HR #)50% A% - 3]
of Feidong and Bengbu respectively at an aggregate SREA LA ARMS6,040,0007T © ZTE
cash consideration of RMB56,040,000. The disposals were FESIR - E—\F=A-_FTHLBE_-Z
completed on 29 March 2018 and 26 March 2018, respectively —N\F=ZAZ+NABEEBERZABLE
on which date the Group lost control of Feidong and Bengbu. PP IR I SR B P2 ) ST ©
RMB’000
Consideration received: 2WRE : ARETTT
Cash received BEEe 56,040
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which KREEHENEERAGD RMB’000
control was lost: ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment ME - R KERE 439,882
Land use rights 3 {6 PR A 4,674
Inventories FE 17,915
Trade and other receivables JEUE 5 BR 7k Ko Eth g W R IE 137,341
Bank balances and cash SRITEHRNIES 147,600
Bank borrowings RITER (394,213)
Other borrowings HAbERK (93,526)
Trade and other payables FETE 5 BR 51 I H M R A 3KRI8 (141,156)
Deferred income FEIEUTA (24,630)
Net assets disposed of HEMEEFE 93,887
RMB’000
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEHB QT : ARETTT
Consideration received AR E 56,040
Interest in associates KRBt E R RIRE R 56,040
Net assets disposed of HEMNEEFE (93,887)
Gain on disposal & e 18,193
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

38. HEKWEB AR @™

RMB'000

Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESHEEERNR ML FE : ARBTT
Cash consideration HeRE 56,040
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B EHERIRITESRARS (147,600)
(91,560)

39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings, medium-term notes, corporate
bonds and other borrowings as disclosed in Notes 29, 30, 31
and 32 respectively, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, share premium and reserves.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of the review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the issues of new shares and the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

39. EXEREE

AEENESEESERRAKEE TERE
MR LR - AREBBILERMERA
Ziﬁ%%ﬂmﬁ?%%‘%?k:a—j(@i& REEH
ERRBREFRHTE -

LKEIE’J;%% T§$1,\%5$§E(@T§fiﬁ1%
CHREIEE - QRIESFREME KD R
TBZE;'EJ‘E/\\\WE‘ZQ © 30~ 31%32) - HIBRERTTHE
BRIBS)RARTHEARGEZ(BIEE
BATRRA - IR IRE R B -

AEENEEETHRIEARARE - EAR
AH—R BEEEEZREANARERE
AR ER - NEEEBBITHD R
THEBREBERREEHE T AR RE?
RIRIEH 1
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

—NFEFZA=+—RHILFE

40. €T A

Categories of financial instruments SRITAER
2019 2018
—E—AE —E-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBT T
Financial assets: SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEER AT ENEREE 1,592,094 1,468,146
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATEFAEMEER AR

BmIA 3,959 2,508

Derivative financial instruments MESBIA
— Interest rate swaps — US$ - FEtEH - 0T 4,325 40,774
~ Foreign currency forward contracts - INEIRERE A 53,505 39,025
— Foreign currency option contracts - INEEERRE S A 31,713 625

Financial liabilities: SRIEME

Amortised cost B SHR A 7,970,190 9,060,972

Derivative financial instruments TESHBIA
— Interest rate swaps — HK$ —- MR 5 - BT 15,134 12,601
- Foreign currency forward contracts - INEIRERE A 140 3,631
~ Foreign currency option contracts - HNEHARE A XY - 1,497

Financial risk management objectives and policies SREREENBERBER

AEENTIESMITABRRATEFAR

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables,
pledged bank balances, non-pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, medium-term notes, corporate bonds and
derivative financial instruments. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

WEEWAREXTE  EWZSESNE
fEW RIS - BERIRITES  REIHRTT
TR RITEKRERE BHESERARE

R IR - |RITREAMER - PR
ARAEEFETEESRTA - ZFERT AN

HERNSAMEPRE -

ZETBRT AP MNEAR Fjém%ﬂ 2 (B

#}ﬂ &*UEHEA) ;ff //lb@Jéi
[\ TK%HMﬂMﬁﬁ@H RH)BR ©

ERESREARER - HERLRA SR
R FERE i ©
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group collects the sales of milk produced in RMB
and incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital
expenditures in RMB.

As at 31 December 2019, the major assets denominated
in foreign currency are bank balances disclosed in Note
26. The major liabilities denominated in foreign currency
are bank borrowings disclosed in Note 29.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into foreign
currency forward contracts or foreign currency option
contracts, when necessary, to manage its foreign
exchange exposure.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

2% (2018: 2%) is the sensitivity rate represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates.

The Group was primarily subject to foreign currency
risk from the movement of the exchange rates between
RMB against US$, HK$ and EUR. The sensitivity analysis
below includes US$, HK$ and EUR denominated
monetary items that are not associated to a foreign
currency forward contract or a foreign currency option
contract. At the end of each reporting period, if the
exchange rate had been strengthen in RMB against
US$, HK$ or EUR by 2% and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit (loss) for each
reporting period would decrease/increase as follow:

A M BRRNE
—NFE+ZAS+—RILFE

40. €M T Ew
tREREENEERBER®

35 & B

(i)

SR
AREOMESHEEMAELN
REBD X HEEARFATHAARE I
¢

RZZE-NAF+-A=+—8 " HAH
BEHENTEEERME26/T I EMN
RITHEERR - ONEFHENEZZRER
B S 29 P B BR HOSRTT 3K

Z’SE.LﬂEHqugyhl:ﬂ AA/?%/E\ ’
FIBERT M INE EHIA MO Bl 42
A m’j(ﬁuﬁﬁzz C AERHIMNER

GNEE G B AT

2% (ZF—)\4F : 2%) B RRER K
EIEEBHINERE RSB A[EE BT
(=

AEETZEBREARELSET
7 7T R BRTTEE R BRSNS R © DA
THEREAMEREEIIEEHAH
‘WI\%E@% WEBMLAZIT BT

BOTRHEMERIER - RE®mEH
EE CMARBHET  BITEB T
2% MABEMBAZERRERST
g AAEEREREHEORKRREK
EA (B8 BB TR A, :
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)

£®MI B
tREREENEERBER®

15 B B (®)
() SMNEEER @
GNEE SRR 0 AT ()

(Decrease) (Increase)
increase decrease

in post-tax in post-tax
profit loss

FRBE 12 % Al R TREY Eis
(R 4>) #& n (42 )R 4>
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

US$ denominated assets and ENFEEERABHARE

liabilities against RMB

- bank balances - IRTTHERR (1,178) (1,989)

— bank borrowings —RITER 1,179 1,649
HK$ denominated assets and BILTEEERBELARE

liabilities against RMB

- bank balances - iRITEE R (769) =

- bank borrowings - RITER - -
EUR denominated assets and BUTrHEEERBELARKE

liabilities against RMB

—bank balances - IR174ER (18) )

- bank borrowings - IRITHERK - 12
Total Rt (786) (337)

For a 2% weakening of the RMB against US$, HK$ or
EUR, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax profit (loss).

MARBRET BLTEIKTRE
2% - QI SRR RN (BB ELR

SHRHTE -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to fluctuations in the prevailing market interest rates on
bank balances, pledged bank balances, non-pledged
bank deposits and bank borrowings which carry interest
at variable interest rates.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, medium-term
notes, corporate bonds and lease liabilities.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net interest rate
exposures and may enter into interest rate swap
contracts, when necessary, to manage its interest rate
exposure. During the current year, seven interest rate
swap contracts had been entered by the Group to
mitigate its cash flow interest rate risk (2018: three).

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest rates
for variable interest rate bank borrowings that are not
associated to an interest rate swap contract. Bank
balances, pledged bank balances and non-pledged
bank deposits are excluded from the sensitivity analyses
since they are not considered sensitive to fluctuation
in interest rate. The analysis is prepared assuming the
variable interest rate bank borrowings were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 (2018: 50) basis points increase
or decrease represents management's assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

A M BRRNE
—NFE+ZAS+—RILFE

40. €M T Ew
tREREENEERBER®

T 15 BB (®)
(i) FEE Bz

AREBERRITEER  CDERRITE
R RERBITFERRRFB A XGT
BERTTIE SREY IR 1T T 35 F| 2K B i 7«
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
At the end of reporting period, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 (2018: 50) basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
profit for the current year would have decreased/
increased by RMB4,545,000 (loss for the year ended 31
December 2018 would have increased/decreased by
RMBS5,906,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets, except that the credit risks associated
with trade receivables from the Distributors is mitigated
because they are secured over ordinary shares of the
Company held by five third-party companies incorporated in
British Virgin Islands as at 31 December 2018.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to
customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon
application of IFRS 9 on trade balances individually. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

—NFEFZA=+—RHILFE

40. €@ T Ew

TREABEENEERBER®

T 35 2 B ()

(i) FEE @
FIRGRRE D
REREHR - WF R8G5 4501
EB(ZZT—)\F : 50EHE2) - MmAT
EEMAISRARERTE  AAKE
RAF E /s R iR, 8 mA R
4,545,000t (BEZZE—N\F+=A=
+—HIEFEEEEN R ARKE
5,906,0007T) °

EERB R BT
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as approximately
82% of total trade receivables as at 31 December 2019
(2018: 60%) was receivable due from the Mengniu Group,
the Group's largest customer and a related party of the
Company.

Pledged bank balances/non-pledged bank deposits/bank
balances

The credit risks on pledged bank balances, non-pledged
bank deposits, bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies and/or authorised
banks in the PRC.

All of the non-pledged bank deposits were deposited in Rabo
Bank as at 31 December 2019 (2018: nil) and approximately
27% of total bank balances was deposited in Agricultural
Development Bank of China as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
25%).

Other than the concentration of credit risks of trade
receivables, pledged bank balances and bank balances
mentioned above, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

40. €M T Ew

TREABEENEERBE@®

EE Rk &R BT @
EFEARELENE S5 &)

AEEFEEERRETHNERL  REASR
—E-AFt A=t HNEKE SRR
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HROEERRAR  RERXZHFHAE
REERBETREREFRNEERINR
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

40. €M T Ew

tREAREENEERBEE®

1= B LB KRk (B 5T 5 (a0
AEBANBEEFRREATER

Internal
credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AEEE R #E BWE 5 R HttomEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts ~ not credit-impaired
KRR RHHFANBRORRBEE  BYSER 2HBHEEBE- 12EAREREEER
BRI EEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through ~ not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
&2+ FRANBREUNERRINBRRBRER 2HEREEBE- 2HRHBEEEHE-
[\ e B ) 90 FE R LA 2R 8 2 46 A EEERE BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
PN BRERTNAREECDEERE EHEMEEEE- 2HEHEEEE-
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
ki BEBRNEBABABRENVBRZER MESR MHT R

AEBETR B BRI OIS BFIE
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €M T Aw

Financial risk management objectives and policies SREAREENEBERBEK®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE &b &R BT @)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Ti'«zzﬁiﬁll$%@T§T)§ﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁfﬂ§ﬁ§ﬁﬁmi
Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: MEEEER

Internal 12m or Gross carrying Gross carrying

NOTES credit rating  lifetime ECL amount 2019 amount 2018
w 28R 528
Wz REIR REGEER REZE-Z-NF FHAE-_Z-N\F

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMBOOO
ARBTR ARBTR ARETL ARETR

Financial assets at amortised costs

REHAATENCRER
Pledged bank balances and 26 N/A 12m ECL 147,775 61,355
non-pledged bank deposits
BERRTERRAERRITER TEf 12MERBHEERE
Bank balances 26 N/A 12m ECL 893,421 703,005
BT TiEfA 12EABREERE
Other receivables
Hhofedisom
- amount due from Mengniu 25 Low risk 12m ECL = 1,681
- EREEFE &Rk EREHEEEE
- others Low risk 12m ECL 9,308 4,315
- Hfth &Rk ERBHEESS
Loss Lifetime ECL 4,514 13,822 3,569 9,565
(credit-impaired)
Bx SHRHEERE
(EERB)
Trade receivables
W E 5850
- raw milk (Note) 25 Low risk Lifetime ECL (not 541,570 479,445
credit-impaired)
- REh(3D) iR PHEHREERE
(BEERE)
= liquid milk product 25 Loss Lifetime ECL - 1,064,879
(Distributors) (Note) (credit-impaired)
- REER (D #EE) () Bx SHEHREERE
(EERB)
- liquid milk product 25 Loss Lifetime ECL 8,635 550,205 11171 1,555,495
(others) (Note) (credit-impaired)
- e ER () (1) Bx PHRBEEER
(FERE)
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Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses for all
items individually since there are few numbers of customers for

trade receivables.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

40.

£®MI B
tREREENEERBE®

EER KR ETE@®
GEE

HRERESERME - AEECERAR

BB s £ R BRI % -
RERNEMEEBRFEEREREE - K
SEENETMERENEREES
B DHRERESRRNETFP#E

Do

TRIRRIEEETT A R EWE 5 RK

that has been recognised for trade receivables under the REBREHREEHRENES -
simplified approach.
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHRES ZHRS
FEBR FEBE
(BEERE) (&R E) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETR
As at 1 January 2018 R-Z-N\§—-HA-H 1,660 495,167 496,827
Changes due to financial instruments R—A—BhREERTRIA
recognised as at 1 January: SIBMEE -
- Transfer to credit-impaired -ERZERE (1,660) 1,660 -
- Impairment losses recognised -BRAREER(H#HE)
(Distributors) = 358,891 358,891
— Impairment losses recognised - BRI EERE (E)
(others) = 5,365 5,365
- Impairment losses reversed (others) - BEREREBE (EAt) - (163) (163)
- Write-offs (Distributors) - #3E (9 $578) - (311) (3M)
- Write-offs (others) - HisH (K ) - (2,870) (2,870)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZF-NE+-A=+-H - 857,739 857,739
Changes due to financial instruments R—A—HhRERASHIA
recognised as at 1 January: SIBMEE :
- Impairment losses reversed -BRERESR(D#HE)
(Distributors) - (160,451) (160,451)
~ Impairment losses reversed (others) -BRRRERE(EMD) = (1,837) (1,837)
- Write-offs (Distributors) - i () 367 - (686,618) (686,618)
- Write-offs (others) - s () = (198) (198)
As at 31 December 2019 R=-ZB-A%+t=A=t-H - 8,635 8,635

Lo



Annual Report 2019 Z=Z—AFFRH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #i &2 =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly

due to:

40. €M T Ew

SREREEN B ZRBUER@®

1= B B KR (B T 5 )
EWE ZEAERBEFEHTER

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Decrease Increase/(decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
“E-Af+tZA=1-H “E-\F+ZA=1—H
2R EEFRRYD HBEHEEHBEM/ (RD)
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
BEEHE EERE BEEE EERME
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT
Trade debtors with a gross BORBZEERED
carrying amount of RMB7,526,000 EFEBA  RELER
defaulted and transferred to AR#7 5260007
credit-impaired = = (1,660) 7,025
Additional recognition of ECL R0 HEENE 5 RHHER
for trade receivables of BINEHEEER
the Distributors = = = 358,891
Settlement in full of the Distributors D #E 2 B EREMLE
with a gross carrying amount of AR 378,261,000
RMB378,261,000 - (160,451) - -
Settlement in full of trade debtors BOBBAZYEERRAE
with a gross carrying amount AR ¥1,837,0007C (Eft)
of RMB1,837,000 (Others) (Z2-N\F . AR¥298,0007)
(2018: RMB298,000) - (1,837) - (163)
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

40. €M T Ew

Financial risk management objectives and policies SREAREENEERBE®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) = B E &R B @
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is WMEERNBEREBABYREVKEZ A K
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial [ FRIA Y R AR (MBS A BB R SR E
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. WERF  URPEERE)  NEBEHME
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has JEWE ZBRK -
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
earlier.
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TRIIRE R R T IR R R Ea
that has been recognised for other receivables. R e
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
RS
FEBR
(FERME)
RMB’000
AREFT
As at 1 January 2018 R=2-N\F—-HF—H 110
Changes due to financial instruments R—A—BHERE#EReHIA
recognised as at 1 January: SIBHEE -
- Write-offs — i35 (110)
- New financial assets originated - REMFERMEE 3,569
As at 31 December 2018 R=B-N\F+=A=+—H 3,569
Changes due to financial instruments R—A—HBREREHEReHIA
recognised as at 1 January: SIHHES :
— Write-offs — Hf 88 (8)
— New financial assets originated - RENFEMEE 953
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZB-NE+=-A=+—H 4,514
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables are mainly
due to:

40. €M T Ew

TREABEENEERBER@®

EEE &R E T @
Ef RIS BRGNS T EHN ¢

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Increase in Increase in
lifetime ECL lifetime ECL
credit-impaired  credit-impaired
—E—hE —E-N\F
+=—A=+—H +=ZH=+—H
2HBAHEER 2HEHREE
81N E5HE 3% N
FERE EERE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
One debtor of other receivables —IEEMEWRERARIEELD
defaulted 953 3,569
Liquidity risk REBELEKE

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB3,537,886,000 as
at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: RMB3,883,813,000).
The Directors closely monitor the cash flows of the Group and,
upon maturity, would arrange the renewal and refinancing
of the borrowing facilities, when necessary, to ensure the
Group has sufficient funds to enable the Group to meet its
financial obligations. In addition, taking into account, (i) the
available credit facilities of approximately RMB3,753,402,000
which remain unutilised as at 31 December 2019. These
credit facilities included an amount of RMB300,000,000 from
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu, expiring
in December 2021 (Note 46(d)), and the remaining credit
facilities of RMB3,453,402,000 are from banks; (ii) save as
the credit facilities disclosed above, the Group acquired
additional credit facilities of RMB2,650,000,000 from banks
subsequent to the balance sheet date until the reporting
date; (iii) the expected net cash inflows generated from
the Group's operations for the next twelve months. The
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in
full its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

.

AEER-_ZT—NF+_A=+—HHRH
BEFE A ARK3,537,886,000 (= —
NFE+=—A=+—H : AR¥3,883,813,000
L) c EREFYEMAEENE S REMN

M WK BIEES S & 2 HE S IRTT R BT
BHRBREWFR)  UERASEHE

ERRHERESFEAEERMEMNEY
BEAE - W BERHRZ=_Z—NET
ZA=ZT—HMAEHSAEERENAR
#3,753,402,000t KB - ZEEE R
ERRREBREEEF(REHNEBERR)
AR #300,000,000c(Z=E=—F+=A
&) (fizE46(d) - FpEEREARKE
3,453,402,0007C 3 5 817 (ii)ﬁfﬁi?&ﬁ?ﬁ??
MEEEREN  REEEREXRABPRESR
SR AEEERTERESEIMEE “ﬂé%

R#2 650,000,0007T : (i) &+ — @& B A
CEEEELENERRSRAATFE 215
AN B RE S TE A] AE R B BARS FE D B T
HEBKEMR GEVBEHRRCEKBELCER
ERE -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group finances their operations by using a combination
of borrowings and equity. Adequate lines of credit, including
a facility of RMB300,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu
are maintained to ensure necessary funds are available when
required. The Directors monitor the liquidity position of
the Group on a periodical basis to ensure the availability of
sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations. With reference
to the existing unutilised facilities, the Directors consider
the liquidity and source of funds for the daily operation and
capital expenditure are sufficient.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net
cash (inflows) and outflows on derivative financial liabilities
that settle on a net basis, and the undiscounted gross
(inflows) and outflows on those derivatives that require
gross settlement. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference
to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield
curves existing at the end of the reporting period. The
liquidity analysis for the Group's derivative financial liabilities
are prepared based on the contractual maturities as the
management consider that the contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows
of derivatives.

40. €@ T Ew

TREABEENEERBER®

REBESER@®
TEBEEEERIREAESEREES -
AERNEFERITNBUENES  BfF
ERAMNEEE(BERERNTERSNM
& AR #300,000,0007T) ° B HEHERA
SENREESKTE - UERTEE 5
REBESRBITMEEMT - K2ERBEARDHA
BE EERA BELEREARIANS
HRBESRESHKRERTE °

TRHAIAEERTHTESREBEENAL
BIHIBER - ZERBRBEAKE AR BRI
MRFERNERBERMERASRENR
@ o

RELEOEABRALRSRE - WS
FEATANE - BIRAER S Hh RS R
FIEGH -

BESN - TREFIARERETESBAER
BESOMN - ARNRREERIFEEE
FRETLESRBENARMBEANEZORA)
Kot FRARZERERBEENITET
AMARMBAORAN) B - MEEESHE
WARHETE - FIESEI2ENREHRE
BBEESHARIITNRRMEMEE - A&
BiTEERABERDES N IREAOZ
HERGER  AREEEBRAANIEER
HEBITETARSRENKHEHESR -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €T Bw
Financial risk management objectives and policies SREAREENBEERBE®
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TENE & Ek
Total
Interest Within 181 days Over  undiscounted Carrying
rates  180days to365days  1-2years 2 years cash flows amount
181%% RERRS

iz 180K 365K/ 1525 BigoE HEAE BEE
%  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETTE AR%TR AR%Tn AR%TR  ARETn ARETx

As at 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+ZB=1-A

Non-derivative financial FEERER

liabilities
Non-interest bearing T8 - 1,210,784 169,519 - - 1,380,303 1,380,303
Fixed interest rate bank TRRAER

borrowings 320-500 589,116 838,221 60,641 - 1487978 1,449,411
Variable interest rate bank FERAER

borrowings 428517 206431 2315532 1504325 190998 4217286 4,089,063
Other borrowings Hipfast 479-480 1,059,803 = = - 1,059,803 1,051,413
Lease liabilties HERE 5.13-5.20 17,762 16,523 20208 312,357 366,850 229,347

3083896 3339795 1,585,174 503,355 8512220 8,199,537

Derivatives-net settlement {7418 - N FHEE
Interest rate swap contracts B f(Ri)
(outflow) 2,042 4,077 9,414 - 15,933 15,134

Derivatives-gross settlement {7418 - NEHHE

Foreign currency forward Pt

contracts
= inflow -iA - - (139,380) = (139,380)  (135,048)
- outflow - it - - 139,524 - 139,524 135,188
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

40. €M T Ew
SREREENEERBE®

Liquidity risk (continued) RENE & EE @
Total
Interest Within 181 days Over  undiscounted Carrying
rates 180days  to 365 days 1-2 years 2 years cash flows amount
1B1KE Nk
i 1807 365K 182% BB MERE HEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETRT ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZA=1-H
Non-derivative financial FiETHER
liabilties
Non-interest bearing T8 - 1560182 352729 = = 1912911 1912911
Fived interest rate bank TERTEH
borrowings 045-5.00 745,862 234,339 206,890 60,641 1,241,732 1.218401
Variable interest rate bank FERTER
borrowings 265-4.80 539,073 298,858 2,187,125 383,159 3,408,215 3,219,101
Medium-term notes hEZE 475 628,500 - - - 628,500 621,880
Other borrowings Hpfesn 0SB M3 - - 10876 1001410
Corporate bonds AAfH 547-566 843920 263,250 = = 1007170 1,087,568
4,892,914 1,592,566 2,394,015 43,800 9,323,295 9,060,972
Derivatives-net settlement #7418 - W/ FHEE
Interest rate swap contracts ~ FIEEHAL(TL)
(outflow) 1,540 3181 4,588 3630 12939 12,601
Derivatives-gross settlement ~ f7£ 18 - NEB£E
Foreign currency forward HEEBN
contracts
=inflow -MA - - (345,805) - (345,805) (330.826)
- outflow - it - - 349,600 - 349,600 334,457
Foreign currency option HESED
contracts
=inflow -MA - - (819.910) - (819.910) (819.910)
-outflow - it - - 821,407 - 821,407 821,407
= = 5292 = 5292 5128
Note: The amounts included above for variable interest rate Mt fW)Z BV R A& L Bk B R & E A9 A

borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ from these estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

KEFAZER - B LY BERBEN

SHREEMTR -
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41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 41. Bt EZEfiELEENYHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRAMAEERETDMELEABNE

arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-

cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are

those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be

classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows

as cash flows from financing activities.

B ERRENIFRSE
EMBEBERRERECKARKATRER
RASEGERERERTORRRELD
FEANRERENZFRE -

- MEREE

Bank Medium-term  Corporate Other Amounts due Lease
borrowings notes bonds  borrowings  to Mengniu liabilities Total
RTER HEZ ARfEF  EftRR EAE4RE RERE @zt
RVB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
ARBTL  ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETr ARETR ARETR

(Note 29) (Note 30) (Note 31) (Note 32) (Note 28) (Note 33)

Mo 0 (W3 (W) (e (MER)
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E-A-R 341210 1866895 1084867 1,106,115 - - 7,539,087
Financing cash flows HERENE 1083269 (1,286,500 (57,170 (55,784) 81,845 - (264,340)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR (394213) = = 93,526) = = (487,739)
Receipt of Mengniu Bill YBRERE = = = = 59,399 = 59,399
Foreign exchange ShE 129611 = = = = = 129611
Interest expenses FlERX 187,625 41,485 59871 44,30 1,804 = 335,091
At31 December 2018 RIZ-NETZAZT-H 4437502 621880 108758 1,001,111 143,048 - 1910

Adjustment upon application of IFRS 16 TE B EIRA3 Fiif £ 28
F16HKGEER - - - - - 0915 209125
At 1 January 2019 RZE-hE-A-R 4,437,502 621,880 1,087,568 1,001,111 143,048 209125 7,500,234
Financing cash flows HERENE 768,398 (628,500) (1,102,213) 123 (150,000) (18,005  (1,130,197)
New leases entered HiIUEg - - - - - 7,217 7,217
Foreign exchange HE 84,167 = = = = = 84,167
Interest expenses HERT 248,407 6,620 14,645 50,179 6,952 11,010 337,813
At 31 December 2019 RF-NETZAZT-B 5538474 - - 1,051,413 - M 681923
Note: The cash flows from the interest rate swaps, bank borrowings, MiaE o FIERfEH]  SRITER - PHREE - Hi
medium-term notes, other borrowings, corporate bonds B RRIEFRERRFHRIENSR

and amounts due to Mengniu make up the net amount of

proceeds from borrowings, repayments of borrowings and
interest paid in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

.

SREBREERE

MER T E AT

BHIE - BERERRENFEHHE
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value of the Group'’s biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value or fair value less cost to sell on a recurring basis
The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell, financial assets at FVTPL, equity investment at
FVTOCI and derivative financial instruments are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The Directors
have set up a valuation team, which is headed up by the
chief financial officer of the Company, to determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation team works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The chief financial officer reports the
valuation team’s findings to the Directors semi-annually to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

42. AV ER &

BREEHEEUNFPERQFEEHEE
HAGENAEEEYNEE  SHEE
REMABEHNAFE
AEBNEYEER A FER LSRRG
B BATEFABSNSREE  BLAT
EFF AR E2ERARNERIRE MTESR
TARBEREMREATEFE - BFEEK
VEERE c BARARMBRESRS - UE
EHEENGHERMEAFEAENE AR
i

BETEERBBEN R FER - AREERA
RMZR BRI - {HE —REE_HNE
ABEBETAR  AEEQZBE=8581K
MERMETRE - AEEKESERIMNEHG
BEEZAE  /RIUETSENHETA
RBARE - AEMBEEELFREEER
HEEGMNERABEEERABERFER
HBHREA -
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42. XFEFEw
Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial REFMEEUAFES A FERHEE
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair RAFTENAEEBLEYEE  THEE
value or fair value less cost to sell on a recurring basis REMBEN AT E®W
(continued)
The following table gives information about how the fair TRIEHBBEARBEA T EFENEABELY
values of these assets and liabilities are determined (in AEEEENNEBEEZSEERBENAYF
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well B RI2 T B R EE F = M ASIE) -
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value RAFEFEMESHAFERRIKFE(E
measurements are categorised (levels 2 and 3) based on the —REFONER -
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.
Fair value hierarchy DFERE
Fair value as at  Fair value as at
31 December 31 December Fair value
Assets/(liabilities) 2019 2018 hierarchy
R-ZZE-h&F RZIZE-—N\F
t=A=+—-B t=—A=+—H
BE(86) AR E B FEE NEEHR
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Biological assets EYEE 7.459,359 7,717,113 level 3
F=M
Derivative financial TEERIA
instruments
— Interest rate swaps — F &5 Hf 4,325 40,774 level 2
ER
— Foreign currency forward - HNESRHRE A 53,505 39,025 level 2
contracts FHR
— Foreign currency option —SNEERES K 31,713 625 level 2
contracts FH
Equity instruments at FVTOCI & AFEFT AHMEE
WARERT A
- Unquoted equity - KRMEERIEE 3,959 2,508 level 3
investments FE=H
Derivative financial TEEmIA
instruments
— Interest rate swaps — R = Hf (15,134) (12,601) level 2
FER
— Foreign currency forward - SNEEIRHR A 4 (140) (3,631) level 2
contracts FMR
— Foreign currency option -~ SNEEERRES A - (1,497) level 2
contracts F_M

m\ -
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42. AT ETTEw
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements R EFEEANMGELE
The following table shows the valuation techniques used TRINTKAEE R RE=RATERFTA
in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair values, as well as the B E L - ARG EEE BT A ) &R A]
significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models: B g A BUR ¢

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs and fair value measurements
EXTUBERARBR
L<pid RER EXFUBRGARE RTEHEZENEERE
Foreign currency Discounted cash flow Future cash floware ~ N/A N/A
forward contracts estimated based on forward exchange M iEf TEm
HNEREEHN rates (from observable forward exchange

rates at the end of reporting period) and
contracted forward rates, discounted at
a rate that reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties.

FRRERERRRERERERS
EX(REREDIRNITBREAEE)R
ANEBEXM  RRBSEETFH
HE SRR =R -

Foreign currency Garman-Kohlhagen model N/A N/A
option contracts Garman-Kohlhagen &7 TR TEm

HNEHERD

Interest rate swaps Discounted cash flow Future cash flow are  N/A N/A

it estimated based on forward interest TEA MR

rates (from observable interest rate
at the end of reporting period) and
contracted interest rates, discounted at
arate that reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties.
FRRERERRRENENRERS
MEREBERRNATREHNE) RED
Mk BRESEHFHNER
BT ZAR -
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Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)
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42. AV EFEw
ATFEFEFERANBEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs and fair value measurements
EXFABRERAREA
fid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE AYEFECENAERE
Unquoted equity Market approach Fair value is estimated based on value An increase in the discounted for lack
investments [0 of comparable listed companies and of liquidity would result in a smaller
ABBERRE discounted for lack of liquidity. percentage decrease in the fair value

Heifers and calves

PRI

The fair value of 14 months old heifers
is determined by reference to the local
market selling price.
HEARNEHATENZE Em5
EEERE -

AFETEIALR LA AMERTE
fEEt RARBUER RS -

Average local market selling prices of the
heifers of 14 months old were estimated
at RMB21,100 per head at 31 December
2019 (2018: RMB22,700).

RZE-NF+-A=+—H 147
R E R TIREER A
BEARE20L(ZE-NE:
ARE2,7007)

measurement of the unquoted equity

investments.
nBMARERE M EHAREES

RENTEHENLIIRD -

An increase in the estimated local market
selling price used would result in a
smaller percentage increase in the fair
value measurement of the heifers and
calves, and vice versa.

FRmE e s EELMEER
NIRRT EENERML A
B RZA -
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42. AR EFEmw
AFEFEFANMES EZ@

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs and fair value measurements
EXTABERAREA
fid fhEN%E EXFUBRGARE AYEGEZENAERE

The fair values of heifers and calves at age-  Estimated average feeding costs per An increase in the estimated feeding costs

group less than 14 months are

determined by subtracting the estimated

feeding costs required to raise the cows
from their respective age at the end

of each reporting period to 14 months
plus the margins that would normally be
required by a raiser. Conversely, the fair
values of heifers at age group older than

14 months are determined by adding the
estimated feeding costs required to raise

the heifers from 14 months old to their
respective age at the end of each
reporting period plus the margins that
would normally be required. by a raiser
FNMAE A B SRR N RN
HATEDERERTERERARS
RESANFEHEEZUEARENR
SHERRAE - EEE-RAENEM
BF - R EXRI4EANFR
@%mJﬁ¢mﬂ$@EWMtHJﬁ
FhEAREEERENERERR
mmﬁﬁ@m%#ﬂﬁﬁ$ MEEAE
—RAENMENERE -

head plus margin that would normally be
required by a raiser for heifers and calves
younger than 14 months old are
RMB16,203 at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB16,240); average estimated feeding
costs per head plus margin that would
normally be required by a raiser for
heifers older than 14 months old are
RMB16,417 at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB16,620).

RIZB-AFETZA=1-H - fIR14

BRI RNEMT - BEFME
FHRERAER B —REEFE
RARB162BTL(ZE—NE | ARE
6mmw RZE-NE+ZAZ1—

CRARUEANNRETE - B8
¢¥ﬁﬁﬁﬁ§&$%ﬁ%ﬁ k%ﬁ
MEAARKI6MIT(ZE—NE !
ARE16,6207) ©

plus the margin that would normally
be required by a raiser used would result
in a much smaller percentage increase/
decrease in the fair value measurement
of the heifers and calves older/younger
than 14 months old, and vice versa.
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%$%ﬁ§ﬁ I
FIBEMBEEAR,/ 14 AL
IR ﬁgﬁ@d&%
Bi/RY  RZImR



Annual Report 2019 Z=Z—AFFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & —Z — HEJF ﬂ T—HILEFE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 42. A FEETTE@w
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements AV EFEEANGELT E@

(continued)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs and fair value measurements
EXFABRERAREA

fid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE AYEFECENAERE

Milkable cows The fair values of milkable cows are The estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk - An increase in the estimated feed costs

S determined by using the multi-period used in the valuation process are per kg of raw milk used would result in
excess earnings method, which is based ~ RMB1.77 for the year ended 31 a smaller percentage decrease in the fair
on the discounted future cash flowstobe ~ December 2019 (2018; RMB1.89), based value measurement of the milkable cows,
generated by such milkable cows. on the historical average feed costs and vice versa.

MEATFEBBFERSHRBEREEER  perkg of raw milk after taking into FRNGAT RN G ERRALN

BEAANFELNERARSTENE)  consideration of inflation. BN AT B ENTRNMLG)
EF - BE_T-NET-A=T-RILEE- TR RzH%-

fbEBRTERNER T RHTGT
HERABARKITIL(CB-N\E
ARB1897) - HERERT RHTH
B FamRmALt REEY KR
B

A milkable cow could have as many assix ~ An increase in the estimated daily milk yield
lactation cycles. Estimated average daily ~ per head used would result in a smaller
milk yield at each lactation cycleranges  percentage increase in the fair value
from 27.9 kg to 30.1 kg for the year measurement of the milkable cows, and
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 26.5 vice versa.
kg to 28.7 kg), depending on the number PTG EEF S AENEEMAEH
of the lactation cycles and the individual P4 ATFEFFENE LIRS
physical condition. RZ TR o

BERAERAS HE-T-NF
TZA=T-RLEFE “”ﬁitﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ
[ PHEHENEN T2 IATEN

DF(ZF-N\E: 6507 E8T
) BRABHEARERN 58
WRTE °
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

42. AR EFEmw
AFEFEFERANGES Z@m

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs and fair value measurements
EXTUHERAHER
il fHEAE EATTHERAYE AV EHEZENEERE
Estimated local future market price for raw  An increase in the estimated average
milk is RMBA.04 per kg at 31 December ~ selling price of raw milk used would
2019 (2018: RMB3.86 per kg). result in a much higher percentage
RZE-NF+ZA=1—8 {HiteE increase in the fair value measurement
KARERNTELSSLTARBIMUT of the milkable cows, and vice versa.
(Z2-NE: GATARES6T) . FANRRDBETTIEEENTERS
SATFEGENBALALEN - R 2T
% o
Discount rate for estimated future cash flow An increase in the estimated discount
used is 12.30% at 31 December 2019 rate used would result in a slightly
(2018: 11.80%). smaller percentage decrease in the fair
RZE-NE+-A=1-R " FAfk: value measurement of the milkable cows,
FRALRENHEERA1230%(ZF—/\  and vice versa.
F:11.80%) ° FAnfEE R E NSRS AT E
STERBNLAITE - R2TA
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements E=MATEFENHE
Equity
instruments
at FVTOCI
AT EHA
Hih2EUA
HERT A
RMB'000
ARETIT
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE-NF—A—BW&ER 12,934
Purchases BE 1,100
Total losses in OCI REMEEUR AR EIEEEE (11,526)
At 31 December 2018 RZEBE—NF+-_A=+—H 2,508
Total gains in OCI REMEER AWK ZTERE 1,451
At 31 December 2019 RZBE-NF+A=+—H 3,959

Lo
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

The reconciliations from the beginning balances to the
ending balances for fair value measurements of the biological
assets are disclosed in Note 23.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values. Such fair values have been determined in accordance
with general accepted pricing model based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised
during 2018 was RMB11,109,000.

At the end of 2018, the Group had commitment to making
future minimum lease payments in respect of property, plant
and equipment and leased land rented under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due are as follows:

42.

43.

NEEFE®
E=RMAFEFENEHER®

EMEEREFERBNESRENRES
B S AR B BR OB 523 o

YHREEEEUAFEFENERE
EREHEBENATE

EERRFEMBERERANRBHRAGTEN
TREENTRAGBNREERE QA FER
o BRARATEDNREEBREINEERN
YERBRREREDITETE -

REHEAE

AEBEERAEEA

—E- \FRELEHERZNKEAEN
FAEARE11,109,0007T °

R-T—N\FR  AEECAHRBRETA
BEERZHEERNYE - BERRENA K
HE 30X O RRRERE N TR BB
AT

2018
—B-N\f

RMB'000
ARBT T

—FURA

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive
iR A F

Over five years

F_FEFLF(BEERMF)

12,924
44,596
243

57,763

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for property, plant and equipment and leased land
which are negotiated for terms ranging from one to eight
years and the rentals are fixed.

.

REMENFIEARERYE - BFE &R
AREELHEMNNES - MBQNERE
ER—ZENF  MEAEE -
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44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 44. EXREE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Capital expenditure contracted but not ~ BLUWEEYIZ - RE RERBEDETL

provided for in respect of acquisition of 1B RFHEEEAE AR

property, plant and equipment 21,474 7,812

45. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In October 2018, Inner Mongolia Mengniu issued a
Mengniu Bill to Modern Farming. The fair value of the
Mengniu Bill was RMB141,244,000 when received and
the corresponding payable to Mengniu was recognised
in other payable. Modern Farming recognised interest
expense of RMB6,952,000 for the current year (2018:
RMB1,804,000) on the payable to Mengniu under
amortised cost method. In October 2019, the amounts
payable to Mengniu was settled at cash consideration
of RMB150,000,000.

During the year, the Group entered into new lease
agreements for the use of leased lands, leased
properties, leased machineries and equipments for
lease terms of 2 to 30 years. On the commencement
of leases, the Group recognised right-of-use asset of
RMB27,317,000 and lease liability of RMB27,217,000,
respectively.

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

45. ERFBERF

(a)

RZE—N\F+ A AEFEHEERFMH
RBRAHEEBERBETRFER -5
TEERBBREAFEARARE
141,244,0007C * MABEEN S4B
REMERKIBRER - RAFE - ]
REE(EE) BB HERAEZRENS
FFIEERF SR ARY6,952,000
T(ZZE—NF : AR%1,804,000
L) c RZZE—NF+ A EBREFXK
HB IR & KB AR 150,000,0007T 45

=4
/B °

RAFEE - AEBEFTZHHEERHZEA
FREELH HEYE HEEW
N - B A2E30F - NHEM
B NREEDRIRRFERAEEEA
R#27,317,000t X HEBEARK
27,217,0007T ©

46. BEER RS

Names and relationship with related parties are as (a)
follows:
Mengniu A shareholder who directly and indirectly

held 58.15% of the Company's issued
share capital

LT EBE A ERERE O
[ES
ELS BEEIHEEFEEARQAE
EEITRRAN58.15% 1 IR 5
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BB AR Z m
(b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the (b) MIEHR - NEE LS A T3
following balances with related parties: AEER
Amounts due from FE Wk E
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
Mengniu Group S45E
Trade receivable — raw milk FEWE 5 8RR - REHD
Within 30 days based on REZEHFB0RNUA
invoice date 446,239 418,464
Other receivable H b el kI8 243 1,681
Amounts due to EARIE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E2-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT
Mengniu Group S45E
Amounts due to Mengniu (Note 45) e+ SR A4 3k I8 (B 7E45) = 143,048
Other payable (Note) H b e A 3RE (B 5E) - 18,000
PiisE @ EfthFET5RIE A R #18,000,0007T

Note:

The other payable of RMB18,000,000 was advances
received with certain conditions from Mengniu to
stimulate the Group to steadily expand the raw
milk supply to Mengniu. The Group has fulfilled the
conditions and recognised revenue of RMB18,000,000
in 2019.

REETHRENERRSFE
VAR HE 7R 5 [ 3R 5E 3 M SR A HRK
RPN HER - REBEEK
G R NFERREA
R #18,000,0007T ©
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BB R X B @

(c) During the current year, the Group had the following (c) RAFEE ANEBEBEEHEINAT
transactions with related parties: R :

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Mengniu Group E45HE
Sales of raw milk & R 4,702,150 4,222,146
Sales of liquid milk THE R AEY) = 239,995
Others HAt 2,311 2,933
4,704,461 4,465,074
Mengniu Group ELRE L]
Disposal of equipment HE R 440 1,681
Cash consideration for the disposal HENRBARRENR S
of equity interests in subsidiaries RAE (H45E38)
(Note 38) - 56,040
440 57,721

The sales prices were based on mutually agreed terms. HEBRRENERMEEK -
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

A M BRRNE

—hE+ZA=+t—RLFE

46. BB HF R Z w

In May 2017, the Group entered into two entrusted loan
agreements with Mengniu Group and Agricultural Bank
of China ("ABC"), pursuant to which, Mengniu Group
agreed to offer borrowing facilities of RMB1,500,000,000
to the Group through ABC. The borrowing facilities
will mature in May 2020 and bear interest at fixed rates
determined with reference to the benchmark interest
rate of People’s Bank of China. In September 2017,
pursuant to the letter of comfort to the US$ Loan,
borrowing facilities of RMB1,000, 000,000 was extended
to September 2020, and then further extended to
September 2021 pursuant to the letter of comfort to
the HK$ Loan in September 2018. In December 2019,
borrowing facilities of RMB1,000, 000,000 was extended
to March 2023, borrowing facilities of RMB500, 000,000
was revised to RMB300,000,000 and extended to
December 2021. The outstanding borrowings at 31
December 2019 will mature within one year and bear
interest at fixed rates ranging from 4.002% to 4.785%
per annum. The Group recognised interest expense of
RMB42,364,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: RMB44,306,000).

.

Other borrowings (d) HMERK
During the current year, the Group entered into the MNAREFE  REBEBBTEIZIAT
following transactions with related parties: R :
Elimination on
Raised Payment disposal of As at
Asat during during subsidiaries 31 December
Category 1 January 2019 the year theyear  during the year 2019
R-E-NE RERLE  R-B-nE
-A-H FRES FRf%  WEATEE  toA=t-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N R ARETR AR®TT AR®TR AE®TR
Mengniu Entrusted Loan (Note | SR EH () 1,001,111 1,953,364 (1,953,145) = 1,001,330
Mengniu Advance (Note i Ees P AGRD) = 155,477 (155,477) = =
Elimination on
Raised Payment disposal of Asat
Asat during during subsidlaries 31 December
Category 1 January 2018 the year theyear  during the year 2018
& REALE  RIZ-NE
—-A-H EhEs Fafy WEAREH t-A=t-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N S NS ARBFT NS ARBTT
Mengniu Entrusted Loan (Note | FEEHER () 1,066,511 1,544,306 (1,544,306) (65,400) 1,001,111
B RE -

B
w > e B B
55 MM - MROE

CF%@&EP ;;%

&%\%
s
= 3 3% 5 B

| [85 )
i g
gmﬂﬁ

=0

1, soo 000, 00075 ° ;Z”I"f
CEoTER AN ﬁ%%ﬁP
ARBITHEEF RE FmE T F
ZitB - R-_TE—+FNA - BE
%ﬁ:%ﬁ\m%ﬂ_l fETJ\Pﬁ;ﬁ/\Em
1,000,000,0007CH B RIERE—F
—EENA YRBR=-ZT—N\E
NEMBTERER K FEBE#E
—SREE-_ZE-_—FhA - R
T-—NF+ZA BRBEARE
1,000,000,000iE RE T - =4 =
A B EEE A R #500,000,0007T
& 5T & A R #300,000,0007T I iE &
EFZF_—F+=ZA -RZF—h
F+-A=+—HHAREENER
BN —ERBE - WIRNF4.002%
B4.785%MEEFFI KRB - H
E-_E-HhE+-_A=+—HI=E
B ASEEBERAFNERAITARE
42,364,000t (ZZ—N\F : AR¥
44,306,0007T) ©

i
& iy
b

A Y

&
_]-
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d) Other borrowings (continued)

46. BB R R @
(d) EHfER@

Notes: (continued)

During the current year, the Group entered into several
advance payment agreements with Mengniu Group,
pursuant to which, Mengniu Group agreed to pay in
advance RMB150,000,000 to the Group and the advance
payment is limited to be used in the Group's dairy cow
raising business (the “Mengniu Advance”), which bear
interest at a fixed rate of 4.800% per annum. For the year
ended of 31 December 2019, the Mengniu Advance has
been settled. The Group recognised interest expense
of RMB5,478,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018:nil).

(e) Compensation of key management personnel
The emoluments of key management during the

reporting period are as follows:

iG]

i. RAFE AEEHEASFEEHGT
VETEMNRERZ Bt =
SEERBERAASEBNHARE
150,000,0007T + JEf FRIBZ R A A
EAEENFRAEXEE((R4AM
FIE ) » 124.800%8) [El T F F &5t
B oHE-ZT-NF+-_A=1+—
BIEFE  SEBARBEEEN -
HE-_Z-hAWEF+=-ZA=+—H1
FE ASEBRANEHIARE
5,478,0007T (=& — )\ 4 : &) o

(e) FEEEAENHM
ITEZEZEREAB RIS R
> ¢

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Salaries and other benefits Fre kEMmEF 16,490 12,190
Recognition of equity-settled share AR R AR A 4 L O S O I

option and share award payments B 15 2@ =+ B 5K 11,805 4,291

Retirement benefits scheme RN ET B ALK
contributions 926 292
29,221 16,773
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47. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

47. B A =)
R_E—NER-E—NE+-B=+—
A AAFMEEMEATSEBET -

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital  Equity interest attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
KEATER AMAL/RILY CHRRA/ERER ARARERE IERK
2019 18
ZE-AE “FN\E
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly
BE 3 BR Bk
% % % %
Advanced Dairy Company Luxemburg US$138,500,000  100.00 - 100.00 = Investment holding
(Luxemburg) Limited ERE 138,500,000% REER
Adquitair Republic of Ireland US§472,307,046 = 100.00 = 10000 Investment holding
EERAN 172,307 465 T BEER
Modern Farming (Note i) PRC RMB3,216,037,950 = 98.18 - 9818 Production of milk
BRuE (&) () el ABRH3.216037.9507C REL
Asia Dairy Holdings Cayman Islands Us§20  100.00 - 10000 = Investment holding
REHE NET REERK
Asia Dairy Holdings I Cayman Islands Us§20  100.00 - 100.00 = Investment holding
REHE WXL REEK
Asia Dairy Trading and Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong HKSS - 100.00 - 10000 Investment holding
&% SET RERR
Asia Dairy Trading and Holdings Il Ltd. Hong Kong HK$4 - 100.00 - 10000 Investment holding
B BT RERR
Strong Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$100000  100.00 - 10000 = Investment holding
ZBRAES 100,000%7C RERR
Well Alliance Investment Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.00 - 10000 Investment holding
B 10,0007 RERR
Maanshan Modern Farming Dairy Prodluct Sales ~ PRC RMB20,350,000 = 100.00 = 10000 Sales of milk
Co, Ltd. (Note ) i ARE20,3500007C BRI

FRUARMEA A ERRAA (i)

~ Om
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47. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. B A T w

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
HEARER HRAL/HIMY BHRRE/EMER RAAELRE IBER
2019 2018
ZE-NE E-0\E
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
B& ] BE 15
% % % %
Shanghe (Note i) PRC RMB850,000,000 = 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
2 (f i) hEl AR 850,000,007 production of mik
AENEREESD
Modern Farming (Helingeer) Co., Ltd. (Note i) PRC RMB93,670,400 = 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
MEERRHEAR R A (M) e ARH93,6704007C production of milk
RN REEL)
Modern Farming (Saibei) Co., Ltd. (Note ii PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRBR G AR AR (i) L AR 30,000,007 production of milk
AENFREEHD
Modern Farming (Zhangjiakou) Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ PRC RMBA440,000,000 = 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
REBE(RRO)BRAA K i AR 440,000,007 production of milk
RN REEL])
Modern Farming (Wenshang) Co,, Ltd. (Notei) ~ PRC RMB55,000,000 = 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RERRBABRAR () i AR 55,000,000 production of milk
RN REELY)
Modern Farming (Shangzhi) Co., Ltd. (Note ii) PRC RMB55,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
HEBRAAAR AR (M) il AR 550000007 production of milk
AENEREEHD
Hongya Modem Farming Co,, Ltd. (Note i) PRC RMB10,000,000 = 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
ERRRIEERAR () i AR10,000,0007C production of milk
RN REEL)
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47. B A T w

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
WEAREE HMAL/RItE CHRRE/HERER RAREERE ITEE
2019 2018
“E-0E “E-\E
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
B 3 E# 5
% % % %
Modern Farming (Chabei) Co, Ltd. (Note i) PRC RMB110,000,000 = 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRBR (B AR AR () i AR 110,000,007 production of mik
HENEREEF]
Modern Farming (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (Note i) PRC RMB10,000,000 > 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRHR (ER) AR AR (i) G AR10,000,0007C production of milk
HENEREEF
Moder Farming (Tongshan) Co., Ltd. (Note ii PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BRHE (L) AR AR (i) i AR 30,000,007 production of milk
WENFREEF]
Modern Farming (Tongliao) Co,, Ltd. (Note i) PRC RMB30,000,000 - 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRBERE) AR AR () # ARE30,000,0007% production of milk
HENEREEF]
Moder Farming (Chabei) Hengsheng Co, Ltd PRC RMB30,000,000 = 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
(Note i) HE AR #30,000,0007 production of milk
BRHE R EEARA () AR REEF
Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co,, Ltd. (Note ii PRC RMB10,000,000 = 98.18 = 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BRHE () BIR AR (i) H AR 100000007 production of mik
WEMFREEF])
Modern Farming Anhui (Note ii) PRC RMB45,000,000 > 99.00 = 9900 Sales of milk
BRUEZH(IE) G AR 45,000,000 HEL
Modern Farming (Shuangcheng) Co., Ltd. (Note i) - PRC RMB20,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
BRHE (B9 AR AR (i) i AR 20,000,007 production of milk

.

RERTREEFD

Lm
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47. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 47. B2 R @
Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
WEAFAR AMEL/RILY CHRRA/ERER ARARERE IRER
2019 2018
R-NE b3

Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
L7 G Bf G

% % % %
Modern Farming Shanghe Feeding Co,, Ltd. PRC RMB10,000,000 = 98.18 = 9818 Production of fodder
(Note ) i AR 10,000,007 FERH
RRUEATEHERAR ()
China Modern Dairy | Ltd. Cayman Islands US§1.00  100.00 - 100.00 = Investment holding
REHS 100%7 REER
China Modern Dairy Il Ltd. British Virgin Islands US§1.00 - 100.00 - 10000 Investment holding
ERRAEE 10057 RERR
China Leading Dairy Ltd. Hong Kong HK$1.00 - 100.00 - 10000 Investment holding
PRELARER AT B 10087 REfEK
Modern Farming (Bengbu) Dairy Product Sales PRC RMB5,000,000 = 99.00 = 900 Salesof milk
Co, Ltd. (Note i hEl ARH5,0000007T HESD
RRUEEE) IR EEaR Dm0
Modern Farming (Saibe) Dairy Product Sales PRC RMB5,000,000 = 99.00 = 9900 Sales of milk
Co,, Ltd. (Note i) hE AR 5,000,000 HEH
RRUE E) Lm g AR A0 )
Modern Farming (Hefei) Co., Ltd. (Note ii) PRC RMB40,000,000 - 98.18 - 98.18  Breeding dairy cows and
RRBK (G AR AR (i) ket AR 40,000,007 production of milk
HEMREEF
Nanchang Moder Farming Co., Ltd. (Note ii PRC RMB5,000,000 = 50.07 = 5007 Sales of milk
BERRMEAR AR HE ARH5,000,0007C HEL
Chengdu Modern Farming Dairy Products Sales ~ PRC RMB1,000,000 - N/A - 5891 Sales of milk
Co, Ltd. (Note ) i ARE1,0000007T TER HERD

RERRHE A ERR AR (k)
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47. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47. B A T w

Place of
incorporation/ Fully paid capital/
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
WEAAAR AMAL/ RS CHERA/ERER ARREGRE IEEH
2019 2018
ZB-nE _E0f
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
B# 3 BE &
% % % %
Wuhan Modern Farming Dairy Products Sales PRC RMB1,000,000 = 68.73 = 6873 Salesof milk
Co, Ltd. (Note1i i AR1,0000007C BESD
RERRRE mHERRAR ML)
Moder Farming (Shenzhen) Sales Company PRC RMB1,000,000 - N/A - 5891 Sales of milk
(Note iv) i AR 10000007 TEA HEH
RRBEHE (R BRARMEN)
Modern Farming (Jinan) Dairy Products Sales PRC RMB1,000,000 = 73.63 = 7363 Salesof milk
Co,, Ltd. (Note i) ke ARE1,000,0007T HELD
R (BB m S AR AR (ki)
Wuhe Energy (Note i) PRC RMB10,000,000 2 98.18 = N/A Production of energy
R seR (B3t i AR 10,000,007 NER  EERR
Hefei Energy (Note il PRC RMB10,000,000 - 98.18 - N/A Production of energy
AEaR (st il AR 10,000,007 NER  EERR

Notes: BT
The entity was established in the PRC and became a sino- i. ZEREREKYL  WERKBFIMNIEDR
foreign investment enterprise. ¥

ii. These entities were established in the PRC as domestic ii. ZEBREPEKY - EABEARAT - B
companies and owned by Modern Farming. BRBEEBEDHESR -

ii.  Wuhe Energy and Hefei Energy was established in July 2019 i. HERIABASFRABE(TNERAA
by injecting certain assets and liabilities spun off from Modern FEARBERE)BRARMSHNETE
Farming (Wuhe) Co., Ltd. and Modern Farming (Hefei) Co., Ltd. ERBE AUREERERAEERERR_Z—
(Note 27). NEE AR (PERE27) -

iv.  Modern Farming (Shenzhen) Sales Company was deregistered v. BREEHECCRINDERIANRZZ—N

in April 2019. Chengdu Modern Farming Dairy Products Sales
Co., Ltd was deregistered in August 2019.

.

FOAMBEEM - RERRREALMEE
BRARR-Z—NF/\ARGHEEMN -

A Y
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48. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED 48. MEE ARFEREZNIEZEM

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

e PGS

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned

TREIFEEERFERERNAREIE

subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling o EYNG RS
interests:
Place of
incorporation Proportion of
and principal ownership interests and
place of voting rights held by Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
LA B AL 3 B
REIEEX FEREBFIEHERRER IEREFERESNET
WELREH B RRERELLS (&#8) Rtk ERER
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
“BE-hE O ZE-\& ZB-hE ZE-\& ZEB-hE —E-)N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT AR%®TR ARETRT
Modern Farming PRC
RRHE (RHE) HE 1.82% 1.82% 8,074 (6849 126,111 108,907

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised financial information below

SEAFFEEHEAHESE

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

BERBEE BN AR EMNE AR
M ER BRI T - TXMBER B EE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE T ARETFIT

Current assets BB E 3,043,245 2,441,886

Non-current assets EMBNE E 12,514,778 13,030,924

Current liabilities mEAaE (5,508,174) (6,474,566)

Non-current liabilities FEREBEE (3,118,536) (3,011,237)
Equity attributable to owners of RRARIEE NEIEER

the Company 6,917,094 5,973,483

Non-controlling interests FEFERR = 14,219 13,524
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48. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED 48. BB ERFEEZEREZWIEZTEK
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL BATNFEE®
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
BZE HE
—E-hF —ET-N\F
+=A=+—-H8 +=ZA=+—H
IEFE LEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Revenue A 5,514,210 4,956,811
Expenses A Sz 5,070,686 5,335,868
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of NAREE ANEEER (E518)

the Company 442,830 (375,643)
Profit/(loss) attributable to the IR R S FE AR ] (B518)

non-controlling interests 694 (3,414)
Net cash inflow from operating activities & &/EENIR &R AFHE 1,652,017 1,408,421
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & /EENIR & 7 F 58 (961,247) (1,119,395)
Net cash outflow from financing activities B &/EEIR &7 F 58 (525,476) (296,796)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) ReERA/ (RH)FHE 165,294 (7,770)
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. XR BN BAR R R K #EE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Information about the financial position of the Company at REBERAREEARRFT B AHEE B
the end of the reporting period includes: FE
2019 2018
—E-NF =—\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries &ﬁﬁ/\fﬁ%@ﬂ 6,574,731 6,138,788
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE LT BT /B8 1 B RKIE 3,045,771 2,260,130
9,620,502 8,398,918
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE Ko E At JE W TR IE 583 772
Bank balances and cash SRITERNE S 172,917 79,622
Financial asset at fair value through BATEFAEGNEREE
profit or loss 85,207 76,413
258,707 156,807
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables H At T K18 2,142 570
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR ENGI B 24,251 24,462
Bank borrowings — within one year RITER - *EI*J 2,083,136 -
Derivative financial instruments TSR T A 15,274 16,691
2,124,803 41,723
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS RE(EE), BEBE (1,866,096) 115,084
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRDEE
LIABILITIES 7,754,406 8,514,002
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#EE
Share capital [N 551,007 526,058
Reserves fHiE 6,107,568 5,951,551
TOTAL EQUITY R 6,658,575 6,477,609
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FEREBEE
Bank borrowings HRITER 1,095,831 2,036,393
7,754,406 8,514,002
LU Minfang GAO Lina
E&K S E
Director Director
S S

e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 # & —F

—NFEFZA=+—RHILFE

Lo
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. ZAB MM BEMR AR K FEE®
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Movements in equity KRy
Share
Share Share Other options  Share award  Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total

Bx  RfRE  AtEE BRERE ROXRES  RIER £
RMBODO  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOD
ARRTR  ARRTT ARETR ARETR  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2018 R-F-\F-A-B&R 526058 4,641,066 1,382,199 5286 14517 (3728 6565398

Loss and total comprehensive EMFERZER S

expense for the year - - - - - (96,435) (96,435)
Recognition of equity-settled AR REEENRATHD

share-based payment BB

transactions - - - - 8,646 - 8,646

Balance at 31 December 2018 RoE-N\E+-A=+-BH
b 526,058 4 641,066 1,382,199 5,286 23163 (100,163) 6,477,609

Lossand total comprehensive ~ FREBRZARZEE

expense for the year = > = = > (114,016) (114,016)
Reversal due tovesting of award ~ RXREIRHSEMAE

shares - - - - (43,806) (16,029) (59,835)
Recognition of equity-settled ARREEENRN AN

share-based payment NECY

transactions - - - - 25,553 - 25,553
Ordinary shares issued BETLER 2949 304315 - - - - 309264

Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NET-A=t-HBf
e 551,007 4945381 1,382,199 5,286 4910 (230,208) 6,658,575
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50. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had the following significant events after the

reporting period:

(a)

As disclosed in Note 27, the Disposal Transactions
were completed in February 2020. In assessing whether
the Group has lost the control of Wuhe Energy and
Hefei Energy, two former wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Modern Farming, the Directors considered all facts
and circumstances, including but not limited to the
Group's voting rights and representation in the board
of directors of Jiangyin Dairy Energy (now holding
the entire equity interests of Wuhe Energy and Hefei
Energy). Taking into account the above factors, the
Directors considered that upon completion of the
Disposal Transactions, the Group lost control but
retained significant influence in Wuhe Energy and
Hefei Energy indirectly through its holding in Jiangyin
Dairy Energy. Jiangyin Dairy Energy will be accounted
for using equity method in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

The outbreak of a respiratory illness caused by
Novel Coronavirus, or known as the COVID-19 (the
“COVID-19"), in China including Hong Kong, has
affected many businesses to different extent. Up to
the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has maintained the normal level
of production and sales volume amid the outbreak
of the COVID-19 and the Directors considered that
the COVID-19 would not have significant impact to
the Group’s going concern and liquidity. However,
due to the inherent unpredictable nature and rapid
development relating to the COVID-19 and its pervasive
impact, the Group will closely monitor in this regard.

50. HEMREE
AEENRE AR EATEAES :

(a)

AN EE27PI R ER - HERXRZER =
ZTE_AREK - RIFEAEER
BREHIMER LA LR ERAK
EEENMERZEM B AR BE
HIHER  EEEEMBEEREBR
BREENRNAEENTRKEE RS
BRAEREAICEEIRN 2 B &
FEMRERIAR - Lt R LR
ZCEERR HEXRZERER A
SEREEBIEE BB ITRMEE
BERE TR NS IEERFRFEX
FEN IRBERRAKREGS M
BRREABERDEARR ©

EHB(REES) B EMRRES (5
8 ACOVID-19([COVID-19])) 5] #£ 49
WREKRERZCETRREE LFE
L E  EERSHRATBHREL
AEBE - AEBEECOVID-19/8 2% HifE
BIHREREEREEKT  EERA
COVID- 19T EH AEENFELE
MRBMEABATE - A AR
COVID-198[E A Al T8 R 1M E R H &
RERIREEZFE  AEBEY
PLHEFT R EEER o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHRE

The following is a summary of the published audited consolidated AT AR BEBRARKELRER AT KEWE A A
financial statement of China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited and its RIEBEFEMNED HIELEZLRE P B mEROHM

subsidiaries for the respective years. 2o
RESULTS ¥E
For the year ended 31 December AE+—H="1+—HIFFE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hE TN\ Tt ZE—RF —E-nF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETRT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
Revenue WA 5,514,210 4,956,811 4,783,801 4,862,311 4,826,301
Profit/(loss) before finance costs BRENE B A R B IR
and tax wfl/ (B8 727,208 (167,038) (666,479) (416,409) 670,459
Finance costs AERK A (376,795) (338,622) (328,395) (368,582) (315,078)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLATE R (B 350,413 (505660)  (994874)  (784,991) 355,381
Income tax expense GRS (556) (513) 27 (504) (11,663)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRRET/ (B8 349,857 (506,173) (994,847) (785,495) 343718
Profit/(loss) for the year ATEFEREN
attributable to: A,/ (E58) :
Owners of the Company AREHEBA 341,270 (496,088) (975,116) (742,103) 321,296
Non-controlling interests RS 8,587 (10,085) (19,731) (43,392) 22422
349,857 (506,173) (994,847) (785,495) 343,718
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) BEREF/ (FR)/(AR®)
Basic (cents) BER(%) 5.54 (8.15) (16.19) (13.99) 6.37
Diluted (cents) B5(%) 5.52 (8.15) (16.19) (13.99) 6.32
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As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hE —E-N\F —FT—+F —ZT-RF —ZT-1F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARET:R
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Property, plant and equipment WE - BENRE 3,455,068 3,920,685 4,698,736 5,075,030 5,376,897
Right-of-use assets ERESE 320,161 = = = =
Land use rights TifE R = 117,220 125,802 126,679 120,622
Goodwill HE 1,371,266 1,398,589 1,424,539 1,424,539 1,441,494
Interest in associates REE R RS 215,392 180,913 - 1,887 25,076
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRATEFAEMEZE
WA R T A 3,959 2,508 - - =
Available-for-sale equity investment  A[ & RIELE = = 12,934 24,955 -
Biological assets EMERE 7,459,359 7.717,113 7,751,070 7,602,959 7,590,878
Net current liabilities MEBEFE (3,537,886)  (3,883813)  (3,181,917)  (4,272,464)  (4,285,909)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDER 9,287,319 9453215 10,831,164 9983585 10,269,058
Non-current liabilities ERBarE (2,079,618)  (2899,082) (3742735  (2,860,689)  (2,319,026)
NET ASSETS EEFE 7,207,701 6,554,133 7,088,429 7,122,896 7,950,032
Capital and reserves EXRfkE
Share capital A 551,007 526,058 526,058 452,959 452,959
Share premium and reserves R (E R 6,530,510 5919237 6,443,064 6,568,554 7,328,938
Equity attributable to owners of KAREB AW
the Company % 7,081,517 6,445,295 6,969,122 7,021,513 7,781,897
Non-controlling interests IS 126,184 108,838 119,307 101,383 168,135
TOTAL EQUITY MER 7,207,701 6,554,133 7,088,429 7,122,896 7,950,032




MODERN FARMING

B
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
PERANEERERAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(REESREEMAL ZBRAT)

Stock Code B35 : 1117

www.moderndairyir.com
www.xiandaimuye.com

™

F§C

MIX

Paper from
responsible sources

s FSC™C017167

|




	封面
	公司簡介
	目錄
	摘要
	牧場位置圖
	總裁報告書
	集團及聯營公司產品
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層履歷
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告書
	公司資料
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	封底



